Diss. ETH Nr. 7097

FIELD STUDIES ON THE ECOLOGICAL ROLE OF THE SPIDERS AS INSECT PREDATORS IN AGROECOSYSTEMS (ABANDONED GRASSLAND, MEADOWS, AND CEREAL FIELDS)

THESIS

submitted to the SWISS FEDERAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY ZURICH

for the degree of Doctor of Natural Sciences

presented by MARTIN NYFFELER Dipl. Ing.-Agr. ETH born on March 25, 1950 citizen of Huttwil (Bern)

Accepted on the recommendation of

Prof. Dr. G. Benz, ETH Zürich, Referee

Prof. Dr. M. Schaefer, University of Göttingen, Co-referee

Prof. Dr. W. H. Whitcomb, University of Florida, Co-referee

aku-Fotodruck Zürich

1982

To my parents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Professor Dr. G. Benz, Head of the Dept. of Entomology, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, Zurich, proposed the interesting theme of this thesis and supervised it very critically and helpfully.

Professor Dr. M. Schaefer, Dept. of Zoology II, University of Göttingen, Federal Republic of Germany, served as a co-referee.

Professor Dr. W.H. Whitcomb, Dept. of Entomology and Nematology, University of Florida, Gainesville, also served as a co-referee.

Lecturer Dr. K. Thaler, Dept. of Zoology, University of Innsbruck, Austria, checked my spider identifications and determined a few "difficult species".

Professor Dr. W. Sauter, Dept. of Entomology, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, Zurich, gave me the permission to deposite specimens of all spider species, described in this thesis, in the Entomological Collection.

Professor Dr. H.U. Thiele, Dept. of Zoology, University of Köln, Federal Republic of Germany, determined Carabidae.

Professor Dr. H.J. Müller, Dept. of Biology, University of Jena, German Democratic Republic, identified cicadas.

Lecturer Dr. W. Dunger, State Museum of Natural Science, Görlitz, German Democratic Republic, carried out the determinations of Collembola.

Dr. W. Eglin, Natural History Museum Basel, Switzerland, identified Chrysopidae.

Dr. W. Meier, Swiss Federal Research Station for Agronomy Zurich-Reckenholz, determined aphids.

Dr. L. Gerig, Bee section, Swiss Federal Dairy Research Institute Liebefeld-Bern, identified bees.

Dr. A. Nadig, Chur, Switzerland, carried out determinations of grasshoppers.

Mr. A. Fraser, School of Biological Sciences, University of East Anglia, Great Britain, gave to me informations on the ecology of spiders in English cereal fields.

Professor Dr. F. Klötzli and Lecturer Dr. A. Gigon, Geobotanical Institute, The Rübel Foundation, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, Zurich, gave to me informations on grasslands near Zurich.

Dr. F. Weilenmann, Swiss Federal Research Station for Agronomy Zurich-Reckenholz, allowed me to undertake studies in cereal fields of the research station.

Miss C. Vernazza was very helpful in translating this thesis, and Mrs. H. Müller and Mrs. S. Lauber were typing it.

The author is very grateful to all these persons.

This research was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation, Grant 3.0020.76.

CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	2
2.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	12
2.1.	Study area	12
2.2.	Biotopes studied	12
2.3.	Methods of investigation	12
3.	RESULTS	28
3.1.	The role of spiders as insect predators in	
	abandoned grasslands	28
3.1.1.	Characterization of the biotopes and colonization	
	by spiders	28
3.1.2.	Spider communities of abandoned grasslands	28
3.1.3.	Seasonal change of abundance and daily activity	38
3.1.4.	Spatial distribution of spiders	42
3.1.5.	Prey capture of spiders	46
3.1.6.	Niche breadth and niche overlap concerning food	
	of web-building spiders	62
3.1.7.	Spiders as predators of pest insects	62
3.1.8.	Spiders as predators of beneficial insects	62
3.1.9.	Predator-prey relations between spiders and adult	
	lepidopterans	64
3.1.10.	Prey killing rate (estimate) and energy flow through	
	the spider communities	64
3.2.	The role of spiders as insect predators in	
	cultivated meadows	66
3.2.1.	The influence of mowing	67
3.2.2.	Spider communities of cultivated meadows	67
3.2.3.	Seasonal change of abundance	76
3.2.4.	Spatial distribution of spiders	76
3.2.5.	Prey capture of spiders	83
3.2.6.	Niche overlap of spiders concerning food	90

3.2.7.	Predator-prey relations between crab spiders and	
	wolf spiders	90
3.2.8.	Energy flow through the ground-dwelling spider	
	communities	96
3.3.	The role of spiders as insect predators in	
	cereal fields	96
3.3.1.	Immigration into cereal fields	96
3.3.2.	Spider communities of cereal fields	96
3.3.3.	Seasonal change of abundance and daily activity	100
3.3.4.	Spatial distribution of spiders	106
3.3.5.	Prey capture of spiders	114
3.3.6.	Niche breadth and niche overlap concerning the food	
	of spiders	124
3.3.7.	Spiders as predators of pest and beneficial insects	127
3.3.8.	Prey killing rate	128
3.3.9.	Energy flow through the spider communities	129
3.4.	New records of remarkable spider species in the region	
	of Zurich	129
4.	DISCUSSION	131
5.	ZUSAMMENFASSUNG	149
6.	REFERENCES	150

ABSTRACT

From 1976-1979, the ecology of spiders was investigated in abandoned grasslands, cultivated meadows and cereal fields near Zurich (Switzerland). The spiders of such ecosystems live in two strata, (1) on the ground surface, (2) in the vegetation zone. Different spider communities are found in the two strata.

In abandoned grasslands, the spiders live undisturbed all year round. They can therefore build up relatively large populations in these biotopes (near Zurich about 10 spiders/m²; significantly higher values are reported in literature). Cultivated fields, on the other hand, are periodically mown, whereby the living space and the egg sacs of many spiders are destroyed. Only relatively small spider populations live therefore in the vegetation zone of cultivated fields (about 1 spider/m² in cultivated meadows and 0.1-0.6 spiders/m² in cereal fields). The ground surface of cultivated fields is rather densely populated (15-42 spiders/m² in cultivated meadows and 10-50 spiders/m² in cereal fields).

The spiders in the vegetation zone of cultivated meadows and cereal fields are primarily predators of Diptera and Homoptera. In the vegetation zone of abandoned grasslands, in addition honey bees and/or grasshoppers can form an essential part of the prey biomass of large web-building spiders. On the ground surface of cultivated meadows and cereal fields, the predominant spiders are mainly predators of small, softbodied insects (Collembola, Diptera, aphids etc.). From the food analyses it follows that the spiders are predators of pest insects (e.g. cereal aphids), indifferent species (most Diptera), and of beneficial arthropods as well (honey bees, Chrysopidae, Coccinellidae etc.).

The energy flow (prey killed) through the spider communities of the vegetation zone of abandoned grasslands can be high, e.g. >900 MJ/ha/year in a megaphorbe meadow. In comparison, the energy flow through the spider communities of cultivated fields is significantly lower, e.g. 1.1-6.5 MJ/ha/year in cereal fields, and <0.5 MJ/ha/year in maize fields. The energy flow through the ground-dwelling spider communities of cultivated vated fields spider communities of cultivated fields.

Abandoned grasslands often are veritable spider paradises. In these ecosystems, the spiders of the vegetation zone represent an important predator group. In the vegetation zone of cereal fields, on the contrary, spiders do not seem to play a significant ecological role. Further studies will show, to what extent the ground-dwelling spiders in cultivated meadows and cereal fields are of ecological importance.

1. INTRODUCTION

Spiders are among the most dominant insect predators of terrestrial ecosystems (TISCHLER, 1965; VAN HOOK, 1971; MOULDER & REICHLE, 1972; SCHAEFER, 1974a; EDWARDS et al., 1976, a.o.). Under favorable conditions they can reach maximal densities of up to 1000 individuals/m² approximately (PEARSE, 1946; DUFFEY, 1962; WEIDEMANN, 1978). It has therefore been supposed for some time that spiders play an important role as stabilizing agents and/or regulators of insect populations in agroecosystems, forest ecosystems and other terrestrial ecosystems.

During the last 20 years, numerous studies on the spider fauna in agricultural biotopes have been published all over the world. Tables 1-4 give a review classified according to continents and countries: Table 1 for Europe, including the U.S.S.R., Table 2 for America, Table 3 for Asia and Table 4 for Africa and the Oceanic-Australian region.

In spite of the large number of existing studies the significance of the spiders as insect predators in agroecosystems is still largely unknown. This could be attributed to the fact that up to the present most stuies were limited either to the investigation of the species composition and the seasonal occurrence of spiders in the field (sweep net and pitfall trap collections) or to measurements of respiration, food consumption tests, and prey preference trials in the laboratory. However, the results of investigations on the nutrition of spiders in the laboratory cannot readily be transferred to field conditions, because to some extent spiders behave differently in the laboratory than in the field. In the laboratory, spiders consume considerably more prey than would be available under natural conditions (MIYASHITA, 1968a, b; HAGSTRUM, 1970; KESSLER, 1973; BREYMEYER & JÓŹWIK, 1975). Moreover, the prey composition established by means of prey preference tests often does not correspond to the prey composition realized in the field. Pest insects which are regularly preyed on by a spider species in the laboratory may be entirely missing in the prey composition of the field (temporal and/or spatial isolation of predator and prey). Therefore the results of faunistic field studies and of nutritional analyses in the laboratory cannot be combined to a genuine whole. There is a great danger that speculations disregarding this ambiguity lead to wrong results. Correspondingly, the opinions on the ecological relevance of spiders differ widely. BRISTOWE (1958) for instance estimates for Great Britain: "Even if we were so cautious as to attribute a hundred victims in the year to each spider, I calculate with a very conservative estimate of the spider population for the country as a whole that the weight of insects consumed annually in Britain exceeds that of the human inhabitants". The Canadian ecologist TURNBULL (1973) gives an even higher estimate: "I have calculated from 37 published censuses of spider populations that the mean density of spiders in a large variety of environments was 130.8 spiders/square meter, or 1 308 000/ hectare. If the food consumption of <u>A. argentata</u> were representative of that of all spiders (which it is not), the average total weight of food consumed per year by spiders would be 42 490 kg/hectare". Referring to these computations FOELIX (1979) wrote: "However impressing these

Country	Agroecosystem	Authors
Austria	meadows	LUHAN (1979) THALER et al. (1977, 1978)
	arable land	THALER & STEINER (1975) THALER et al. (1977)
	orchards	PÜHRINGER (1982)
Belgium	cereals	DE CLERCQ (1979) COTTENIE & DE CLERCQ (1977)
	diverse crops	BOSMANS & COTTENIE (1977)
Bulgaria	pasture	DELCHEV & KAJAK (1974)
Czechoslovakia	pasture	POLENEC (1968)
	alfalfa	MILLER (cit. LUCZAK, 1979)
	sugar-beet	MILLER (1974)
Federal Republic of Germany	meadows	BONESS (1953) SCHAEFER & HAAS (1979)
	clover	BONESS (1958)
	alfalfa	BONESS (1958)
	cereals	BASEDOW (1973) BASEDOW & MIELKE (1977) BRASSE (1975)
	asparagus	DINGLER (1935)
	vineyard	KIRN (1978)
	orchards	KRAEMER (1961) NATON (1976)
	diverse crops	HEYDEMANN (1953) TISCHLER (1958)
Finland	leys	HUHTA & RAATIKAINEN (1974)
	cereals	HUHTA & RAATIKAINEN (1974) RAATIKAINEN & HUHTA (1968)
France	alfalfa	CHAUVIN (1960, 1967)
German Democra- tic Republic	meadows	BEYER (1981) MÜLLER et al. (1978)
	grass-clover mixture	BEYER (1981)
	alfalfa	GEILER (1963)
	cereals	BEYER (1981) DIETRICH & GÖTZE (1974)

Table 1. List of literature on the spider faunas in agroecosystems in Europe, including the U.S.S.R.

Country	Agroecosystem	Authors
German Democra-	rape	BEYER (1981)
tic Republic	sugar-beet	BEYER (1981)
	koh1rabi	BEYER (1981)
	marrowstem kale	BEYER (1981)
Great Britain	pasture	CHERRETT (1964) DUFFEY (1962)
	meadows	DUFFEY (1974)
	cereals	FRASER (1982) LOCKET (1978) VICKERMAN & SUNDERLAND (1975)
	potato	DUNN (1949)
	orchards	CHANT (1956)
Hungary	alfalfa	BALOGH & LOKSA (1956)
Norway	strawberry	TAKSDAL (1973)
Poland	pasture	DELCHEV & KAJAK (1974)
	meadows	BREYMEYER (1967) KAJAK (1960, 1962, 1971, 1978, 1980) KAJAK & JAKUBCZYK (1975) KAJAK et al. (1968, 1971)
	alfalfa	LUCZAK (1975)
	cereals	LUCZAK (1974, 1975, 1976, 1979)
	potato	CZAJKA & KANIA (1976) GALECKA (1966) LUCZAK (1974, 1975, 1976, 1979)
	sugar-beet	CZAJKA & GOOS (1976) GOOS (1973)
Sweden	strawberry	ALMQUIST (1981)
Switzerland	meadows	BENZ & NYFFELER (1980) MAURER (1974, 1975) NYFFELER & BENZ (1979b, 1981e)
	cereals	NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a) NYFFELER & BENZ (1980a) NYFFELER & BENZ (1981e)
	rape	NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a)
U.S.S.R.	meadows	VILBASTE (1965)
	cereals	ASHIKBAYEV (1973)
	potato	KOVAL (1976)

Table 1 (contin.). List of literature on the spider faunas in agroecosystems in Europe, including the U.S.S.R.

Table	2.	List	of	literature	on	the	spider	faunas	in	agroecosystems	in	America.

Agroecosystem	Authors
sugarcane	BARBOSA et al. (1979)
overgrazed pasture	TURNBULL (1966)
meadows	DONDALE (1971, 1977) DONDALE & BINNS (1977) DONDALE et al. (1970, 1972) FOX & DONDALE (1972)
wheat	DOANE & DONDALE (1979)
orchards	DONDALE (1956, 1958) DONDALE et al. (1979) PUTMAN (1967) PUTMAN & HERNE (1966)
seed reservation	BREYMEYER (1978)
pasture	BREYMEYER (1978)
banana plants	HARRISON (1968)
cultivated fields	AGUILAR (1965)
cotton	AGUILAR (1974)
pasture	HOWARD & OLIVER (1978) PECK & WHITCOMB (1978) WHITCOMB et al. (1963a) WOLCOTT (1937)
maedows	WOLCOTT (1937)
alfalfa	HOWELL & PIENKOWSKI (1971) MUNIAPPAN & CHADA (1970b) SCHLINGER & DIETRICK (1960) WHEELER (1973) YEARGAN (1975a,b) YEARGAN & COTHRAN (1974a,b) YEARGAN & DONDALE (1974)
cereals	HORNER (1972) MUNIAPPAN & CHADA (1970a)
grain sorghum	BAILEY & CHADA (1968)
sweet corn	EVERLY (1938)
rice	WOODS & HARREL (1976)
soybeans	BLICKENSTAFF & HUGGANS (1962) CULIN & RUST (1980) DEITZ et al. (1976) LESAR & UNZICKER (1978a,b) TURNIPSEED (1975) WHITCOMB (1980)
	Agroecosystem sugarcane overgrazed pasture meadows wheat orchards seed reservation pasture banana plants cultivated fields cotton pasture maedows alfalfa cereals grain sorghum sweet corn rice soybeans

Country	Agroecosystem	Authors
U.S.A.	cole	PIMENTEL (1961)
	guar	ROGERS & HORNER (1977)
	sugarcane	HENSLEY et al. (1961) NEGM & HENSLEY (1969)
	cotton	BURLEIGH et al. (1973) CLARK & GLICK (1961) DORRIS (1970) JOHNSON et al. (1976) KAGAN (1943) LEIGH & HUNTER (1969) LOCKLEY et al. (1979) MCDANIEL & STERLING (1979) PFRIMMER (1964) PIETERS & STERLING (1974) SHEPARD & STERLING (1972) STAM et al. (1978) WHITCOMB & TADIC (1963) WHITCOMB et al. (1963a,b)
	citrus	CARROLL (1980) MUMA (1973, 1975)
	orchards	LEGNER & OATMAN (1964) McCAFFREY & HORSBURGH (1978, 1980) SPECHT & DONDALE (1960)
	diverse crops	BILSING (1920) WHITCOMB (1974, 1975)

Table 2 (contin.). List of literature on the spider faunas in agroecosystems in America.

Country	Agroecosystem	Authors
India	maize	SHARMA & SARUP (1979) SINGH & SANDHU (1976)
	rice	KALODE (1976) SAMAL & MISRA (1975)
	cotton	BATTU & SINGH (1975)
	citrus	SADANA & KAUR (1974)
	grapevines	SADANA & SANDHU (1977)
Israel	citrus	SHULOV (1938)
	apple orchards	MANSOUR et al. (1980a,b,c) MANSOUR et al. (1981)
Japan	rice	HAMAMURA (1969, 1971) HASHIMOTO (1974) HIRANO & KIRITANI (1976) ITÔ et al. (1962) KAKIYA & KIRITANI (1976) KANG & KIRITANI (1976) KAWAHARA (1975) KAWAHARA et al. (1969, 1971) KIRITANI (1977, 1979) KIRITANI & KAKIYA (1975) KIRITANI & KAKIYA (1975) KIRITANI & KAKIYA (1973) KIRITANI & KAKIYA (1973) KIRITANI & SHIBATA (1973) KIRITANI & SHIBATA (1973) KOBAYASHI (1972, 1975, 1977) KOBAYASHI & SHIBATA (1973) KOYAMA (1974, 1977) SASABA et al. (1970) SASABA et al. (1970) SASABA et al. (1970) SASABA et al. (1973) SUZUKI & KIRITANI (1974) TANAKA (1973, 1975) TANAKA & HAMAMURA (1968) TOYODA & YOSHIMURA (1966) YAGINUMA (1977)
	cabbage	KAYASHIMA (1960) SUZUKI & OKUMA (1975)
	taro	NAKASUJI (1976)

Table 3. List of literature on the spider faunas in agroecosystems in Asia.

Country	Agroecosystem	Authors
Japan	tea	KAIHOTSU (1979) TERADA (1977) TERADA et al. (1978)
	mulberry	KAYASHIMA (1967, 1972)
	citrus	KAIHOTSU (1979) NOHARA & YASUMATSU (1965)
	orchards	HUKUSIMA (1961) HUKUSIMA & KONDO (1962) OKUMA (1973)
Korea	rice	CHOI et al. (1978) HOKYO et al. (1976) OKUMA et al. (1978) PAIK & KIM (1973) PAIK et al. (1974)
	mulberry	PAIK et al. (1973)
People's Republic of China	rice	ANONYMOUS (1979)
Philippines	rice	GAVARRA & RAROS (1975) IRRI Ann. Report (1973, 1974) IRRI Ann. Report (1976, 1977) IRRI Ann. Report (1978) LUCERO & RAROS (1975) SALINAS & RAROS (1975)
Taiwan	rice	CHIU et al. (1974) CHU & OKUMA (1970) CHU & WANG (1972, 1973) CHU et al. (1975, 1976a,b,c) CHU et al. (1977)
Thailand	rice	OKUMA (1968) OKUMA & WONGSIRI (1973)

Table 3 (contin.). List of literature on the spider faunas in agroecosystems in Asia.

Country	Agroecosystem	Authors
Australia	cotton	BISHOP (1979, 1980, 1981) BISHOP & BLOOD (1980) ROOM (1979)
	orchards	DONDALE (1966) MacLELLAN (1973)
Egypt	clover cotton	NEGM et al. (1975) WIESMANN (1955)
	granati trees	TEMERAK (1981)
Fiji Islands	coconut	TOTHILL et al. (1930)
New Guinea	coffee	ROBINSON & ROBINSON (1974)
South Africa	strawberry	DIPPENAAR-SCHOEMAN (1976, 1979a,b)

Table 4. List of literature on the spider faunas in agroecosystems in Africa and in the Oceanic-Australian region.

estimates may be, it would certainly be misleading to deduce from them that spiders play a significant role in pest control".

In order to understand the effectiveness of spiders on the population dynamics of insects, the species composition and the seasonal abundance of the spiders as well as their prev must be known. In every ecosystem there are diverse spider species and numerous prey species. According to the rules of combinatorics an enormous number of potential predator-prey interactions results from this fact, and a considerable part of them is realized. To evaluate the ecological importance of the spiders as insect predators, the predator-prey relations should be known. For this purpose, the prey compositions and the feeding rates of the different spiders should be determined in the field. Finally, the ecological significance of spiders could only be entirely appreciated, if the ecological importance of the prey insects were known as well. However, only a few studies give quantitative information on the spiders' prey in the field (e.g. BILSING, 1920; TURNBULL, 1960; KAJAK, 1965a, b; ROBINSON & ROBINSON, 1970, 1974; SCHAEFER, 1974a; TURNER, 1979). The lack of such studies on the feeding ecology of the majority of the spider species of whole ecosystems is probably due to the fact that up to now only few arachnologists have taken the trouble of observing several spider species in the field while they are feeding, as such observations require much time and patience.

The present study on the ecology of spiders in cereal fields, cultivated meadows and abandoned grasslands near Zurich should at least in part fill this gap. In the course of the investigations the following questions have been asked:

- (1) Which spider species feed in meadows and cereal fields (species composition)?
- (2) How many spiders per unit area feed in meadows and cereal fields (abundance of spiders)?
- (3) Does the abundance of spiders change in the course of the year (seasonal abundance)?
- (4) Where within the meadows and cereal fields do the spiders feed (horizontal and vertical distribution)?
- (5) At which time of day do the spiders feed (diurnal rhythms)?
- (6) Which strategies use the spiders to catch their prey (hunting strategy)?
- (7) What is the prey composition?
- (8) How much prey per time unit do the spiders catch (prey capture rate)?

From points 1-5 and 8 can be deduced to what extent the spider populations exert a predatory pressure on the insect populations, as these points supply information on the temporal and spatial distribution of the predatory pressure and on the energy flow through the spider communities. From points 6 and 7 can be gathered on which insect groups (pest species, beneficial species, indifferent species) the spiders act as predators. As mentioned before, numerous different spider-prey interactions are possible in an agroecosystem. Therefore, since even the gathering of the data necessary for the evaluation of the interaction of just one spider species with one prey species needs much time, the investigation of all predator-prey interrelations within an ecosystem would far exceed the scope of a doctoral thesis.

The investigation of the population biology and feeding ecology of the diverse spider species varies in difficulty. For the vagrant hunting spiders (e.g. Lycosidae, Salticidae) the stationary population densities and the feeding ecology can be established only with great difficulty. Because of their extraintestinal digestion it is not possible, for instance, to carry out stomach content analyses as for birds, reptiles, amphibians and fishes. Hunting spiders must therefore be observed in the field during long periods of time. On the other hand, the population densities and feeding ecology of most web-building spiders can be determined relatively easily, as many ecological processes take place in the easily observable webs. For this reason, mostly web-building spiders have been observed.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Study area

The investigations were conducted in meadows and cereal fields on the outskirts of the city of Zurich in the years 1976-1979. The study area covers approximately 40 km² of agricultural farmland at 395-600 metres above sea level (Fig. 1), 41% of it being arable land and 53% meadows. On the cultivated area the following crops were grown: Wheat, barley, rye, oats, maize, rape, sugar beet, field beans and vegetables. In 1975, the cereals (excluding maize) occupied about 54%, maize (grain, silage and green maize) about 13% of the tilled area.

The study area is located in the transition zone between the Western European oceanic climate and the Eastern European continental climate. Zurich (47.2°) northern latitude) has a mean annual temperature of 8.8° C and an annual variation of temperature of 17.8° C. Table 5 gives informations on the temperature and precipitation conditions during the four years of the study. All climatic values were furnished by the Swiss Meteorological Institute (Weather station Zurich).

2.2. Biotopes studied

From 1976 to 1979, studies were made in abandoned grassland biotopes, cultivated meadows and cereal fields on the outskirts of the city of Zurich. The term "cultivated meadow" was used to express a contrast to the "uncultivated meadow-land" (megaphorbe meadow Al, dry meadow A2). "Abandoned grasslands" means formerly cultivated land which for any reason has not been tilled, fertilized or mown for some time or is altogether abandoned. The biotopes are described in Tables 6-7.

The locations of the cultivated meadows where the studies were carried out are described in Table 8. Most cultivated meadows in the region of Zurich are fertilized and mechanically mown several times a year.

The wheat, barley, rye, oat, and maize fields investigated are briefly characterized in Table 9. The areas of the cereal fields ranged from 0.5 to 3 ha. They are not treated with insecticides in the region of Zurich. However, herbicides are used in the maize fields. Pitfall trap studies were made in winter wheat fields on the territory of the Swiss Federal Research Station for Agronomy at Zurich-Reckenholz.

2.3. Methods of investigation

2.3.1. The family and species composition of the spiders

2.3.1.1. Direct observations in the vegetation zone of cereal fields

The cereal fields were visited periodically. The composition of the foliage-dwelling spider fauna was investigated by direct observations. All observation data were recorded. Of some species, only the genus could be ascertained by this procedure.





able 5. Mean values of the air temperatures and precipitations measured at the Weather Station Zurich from January	1976 to December 1979 as well as the climatological normals for the region of Zurich.
--	---

Month		Ŀ	Ŀ	Σ	A	Σ	ر	2	A	s	0	z	0
Temperature	(00)												
Monthly mean	1976	1.3	l.:	3.7	8.1	13.4	18.2	19.0	15.7	12.6	10.5	4.5	-1.6
Monthly mean	1977	0.7	4.8	7.6	6.4	7.11	15.2	17.1	15.9	12.6	10.8	5.2	1.6
Monthly mean	1978	0.1	-0.4	4.9	7.3	10.9	14.3	16.3	15.6	13.3	8.3	3.3	1.8
Monthly mean	1979	-2.9	2.0	5.1	6.1	12.4	16.1	17.2	15.6	13.8	9.7	3.7	3.8
Mean 1931	I-1960	[.].	0.3	4.5	8.6	12.7	15.9	17.6	17.0	14.0	8.6	3.7	0.1
Precipitation	(uuu)												
Monthly totals	1976	54.0	42.0	12.9	56.7	80.8	34.1	228.4	118.3	103.5	61.9	58.9	110.7
Monthly totals	1977	80.9	139.4	71.8	165.7	75.5	122.4	122.2	104.1	57.3	74.0	89.5	67.5
Monthly totals	1978	65.9	127.5	145.8	47.9	135.7	136.2	100.0	179.4	51.6	102.8	16.5	95.3
Monthly totals	1979	74.3	88.2	137.6	100.8	48.4	124.9	70.6	108.3	95.6	87.5	148.2	99.8
Mean 1931	I-1960	74	70	66	80	107	136	143	131	108	80	76	65

Location & national grid coordinates ¹	Year	Characterization of the biotope
Al : Opfikon	1979	The area is located in the south-west of Opfikon near the river
(685.65/253.65)		Glatt. It refers to a megaphorbe meadow (Valeriano-Filipendule-
		tum. Carex acutiformis Ehrh. type). In parts this meadow is
		strongly eutrophic (with Phalaris arundinacea L.). It is in-
		fested partially with weeds, partially with shrubs. To some
		extent there are transitions to hay meadows. The reed borders
		on a forested area (initial stage of an <u>Acer-Fraxinus</u> forest).
A2 : Altburg near Regensdorf	1979	Uncultivated Bromus meadow (dry meadow) on the hillside of the
(678.70/253.57)		castle Altregensberg. At the foot of the hill this dry meadow
		passes into a small wet grassland.

Table 6. Two locations of abandoned grasslands (Al, A2), where studies were carried out in 1979 (comp. Fig. 1).

¹ In the following Tables = NGC

Table 7. Six locations of abandoned lands (A3 to A8), where studies were carried out from 1976 to 1978 (comp. Fig. 1).

Location & NGC	Year	Characterization of the biotope
A3 : Höngg (678.63/250.99)	1976	Abandoned land infested strongly with weeds (mainly <u>Cirsium</u> <u>arvense</u> (L.) Scop.). Today public parc.
A4 : Höngg (680.93/251.50)	1976	Building land overgrown with tall grasses on the Hönggerberg campus of the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology. Today public parc.
A5 : Höngg (679.67/251.77)	1977	Plot overgrown with tall grasses and herbs on the territory of the shooting- grounds Allmend.
A6 : Schlieren (676.70/250.65)	1976	Stripe of abandoned land between a street and cultivated fields. In certain parts strongly infested with weeds (<u>Rubus</u> sp.).
A7 : Oberengstringen (677.15/250.95)	1976	Stripe of grassland between superhighway and river bank.
A8 : Oberengstringen (677.25/250.95)	1978	Grassland infested with shrubs and bushes between superhighway and river bank. Today initial stage of a riparian forest.

Location & NGC	Year	Characterization of the biotope
Cl : Höngg (681.00/251.40)(681.04/251.57)	6261	outskirts of Zurich, near a forest
C2 : Höngg (680.48/251.73)(680.30/251.49)	1977-1978	outskirts of Zurich, near a forest
C3 : Höngg (680.71/251.01)	1979	outskirts of Zurich, agricultural area
C4 : Höngg (681.03/250.33)	1977-1979	outskirts of Zurich, district with many small gardens
C5 : Affoltern (679.70/253.18)	1979	outskirts of Zurich, near a forest
C6 : Regensdorf (678.63/253.48)	1979	swampy and woody area
C7 : Opfikon (685.55/253.70	1979	area between streets and streamside
C8 : Fluntern (685.70/248.22)	1977	outskirts of Zurich on a hill, near a forest
C9 : Schlieren (676.93/250.93)	6261	outskirts of Zurich in the river valley, near streamside
C10: Schlieren (676.87/250.67)	1977	outskirts of Zurich in the river valley

Table 8. Locations of the cultivated meadows (Cl to C10) studied (comp. Fig. 1).

Location	Year		0	rop			Characterization of the biotope
		Wheat	Barley	Rye	Oats	Maize	
Höngg	1976		×	×	×	×	outskirts of Zurich, close to forest
	1977		×	×	×	×	
Schlieren	1976					×	outskirts of Zurich, close to river
	1977	×			×	×	
	1981	×					
Weiningen	1976			×	×	×	agricultural area
	1977	×	×			×	
	1978					×	
Affoltern	1976	×			×	×	swampy and woody area
	1977	×	×				
Regensdorf	6261	×			×		swampy and woody area
Swiss Federal Research	1977	×		×	×	×	agricultural area, close to forest
Station for Agronomy Reckenholz	1978	×				×	
	1979	×					
Unterstrass	1978					×	within the city

Table 9. Locations, where studies in cereal fields were conducted from 1976 to 1979 (comp. Fig. 1).

2.3.1.2. Sweep net samples in the vegetation zone of abandoned grasslands and cultivated meadows

The foliage-dwelling spiders of abandoned grasslands and cultivated meadows were collected by means of a sweep net with an upper diameter of 40 cm and a length of 75 cm. Sweep net collections were made in June, July, August, and September of 1979. The single sweeps were counted. The collected spiders were carefully taken out of the net with the help of tweezers, killed and preserved in 70% ethanol. For every sample, the time of day and the number of sweeps were recorded. In order to have comparable data, the data were later converted into "number of spiders/ 100 single sweeps".

2.3.1.3. Pitfall trap studies in cultivated meadows and cereal fields

The spider fauna on the ground surface of cultivated meadows and cereal fields was studied by means of pitfall traps. Transparent plastic beakers (upper diameter 7 cm, height 7.5 cm) were used as traps; they were completely sunk into the ground until the upper rim was level with the ground surface. Each beaker was filled with 70 ml of 4% formalin, and a touch of a detergent was added to reduce the surface tension. The traps were not protected by a rain shelter. They were emptied at intervals of 1-2 weeks. In the laboratory, the spiders were washed in water and then preserved in 70% ethanol.

In 1977, the pitfall trap studies were made in a winter wheat field on the territory of the Swiss Federal Research Station for Agronomy Zurich-Reckenholz. The experimental field had an area of 2 ha approximately. Thereon, a screen of 45 pitfall traps was set up (Fig. 2). The shortest distance between two traps was 20 m.

In 1978 and 1979 respectively, 6 more pitfall traps were set up in the same field. In addition to this, 6 other traps were set up in a cultivated meadow in Zurich-Höngg.

2.3.1.4. Determination of the spiders

The spiders collected were identified in the laboratory under a stereomicroscope. Genital preparations were made of female spiders which could not definitely be determined by the morphology of the epigyne alone. For this purpose, a piece of the genital area which contained the epigyne was macerated for 2 hours at 70° C in a 10° solution of KOH. Subsequently the preparation was washed in water and ethanol and then embedded in Euparal as a permanent mount. These genital preparations were then studied and compared with the illustrations of the vulvae in the books. The following publications served as keys: BLANKE (1976), DAHL (1931), DAHL & DAHL (1927), HARM (1971), LOCKET & MILLIDGE (1951/53), LOCKET <u>et al.</u> (1974), REIMOSER (1937), ROEWER (1928), TOMGIORGI (1966), and WIEHLE (1931, 1937, 1953, 1956, 1963).

The determination of \mathfrak{PP} of <u>Pardosa agrestis</u> (Westr.) presented difficulties. There is a danger of mistaking them for \mathfrak{PP} of <u>Pardosa monticola</u> (Cl.). According to LOCKET <u>et al</u>. (1974), the width of the epigyne (posterior margin) is 0.36-0.48 mm in <u>P. monticola</u>, and 0.48-0.78 mm for <u>P. agrestis</u>. However, in a sample of 23 \mathfrak{PP} from a winter wheat field, measured by myself, the posterior margin of the epigyne was 0.51-0.63 mm (\emptyset = 0.56 ± 0.04 mm), indicating that the species is <u>P. agrestis</u>.



Fig. 2. Distribution of 45 pitfall traps in a winter wheat field on the territory of the Swiss Federal Research Station for Agronomy Zurich-Reckenholz (year 1977). The field has an area of 2 ha approximately.

The nomenclature according to MAURER (1978) was used. Samples of each spider species determined by myself were verified by Dr. K. Thaler, University of Innsbruck, Austria. A few species difficult to identify were determined by Dr. K. Thaler. At least one specimen of each spider species was deposited in the Entomological Collection of the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zurich (Curator: Prof. Dr. W. Sauter).

2.3.2. Investigation of the spider densities

2.3.2.1. Estimate of the relative density

Relative densities permit the comparison of different biotopes and different seasons (MUHLENBERG, 1976). Relative densities were found by means of the sweeping technique (number of spiders/100 sweeps) and pit-fall traps (number of spiders/week/trap).

2.3.2.2. Estimate of the absolute density

The spider density in abandoned grassland, cultivated meadows and cereal fields was investigated by means of the "square method". For this purpose, the spiders were counted within squares in several places of the field. In the vegetation zone, a square frame of 1 m x 1 m was used. On the ground surface square frames of 0.2 m x 0.2 m, 0.33 m x 0.33 m, and of 0.4 m x 0.4 m were used.

The square method could not be applied to wolf spiders, as their locomotory activity is very high. The density of adult wolf spiders was therefore estimated by direct observation.

2.3.3. Investigation of the seasonal change of abundance of spiders

The seasonal occurrence of the spider species in the vegetation zone of cereal fields was recorded by simple observations in the fields. The foliage dwelling spiders of abandoned grassland and cultivated meadows, on the other hand, were captured by sweeping with the net in different seasons. Information on the seasonal occurrence of the spiders and their numbers was derived from these sweeps.

The spiders caught in pitfall traps furnished informations on the seasonal occurrence of ground-dwelling spiders.

2.3.4. Investigation of the daily activity of spiders

The locomotory and feeding activity of the various spider species in the field was recorded at different times around the clock. At night, a flashlight was used.

2.3.5. Investigation of the spatial distribution of spiders

2.3.5.1. Investigation of the horizontal distribution of spiders

The dispersion index was calculated from the data collected by the square method (see 2.3.2.). The horizontal distribution of the spiders in the vegetation zone and on the ground was established in this way.

The distribution of the spiders in space has been estimated using MORISITA's index of aggregation (I_{δ}) independent of the size of the sampling unit (POOLE, 1974). The index of MORISITA has been calculated from the following equation:

$$I_{\delta} = \frac{n \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i (x_i - 1)}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i (\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i - 1)}$$

where n is the number of samples, x_i is the number of individuals in the ith sample, and $\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i$ is the total number of individuals in all the samples.

The following relations are valid:

 $I_{g} < 1$ uniform distribution,

 $I_{\kappa} = 1$ random distribution (Poisson distribution),

 $I_{g} > 1$ aggregated distribution

After POOLE (1974) the significance of the deviation of ${\rm I}_\delta$ from 1, is tested by calculating F as follows:

$$F = \frac{\prod_{\delta=1}^{n} (\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i - 1) + n - \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i}{n - 1}$$

The value of F is compared to a table of the F distribution (with $v_1 = \infty$, $v_2 = n - 1$).

- 23 -

2.3.5.2. Investigation of the vertical distribution of orb-weaving spiders in the vegetation zone of abandoned grassland

For each of the different orb-weaving spider species the vertical distance from the ground to the orb hub was measured.

2.3.6. Analysis of diversity

For the calculation of the diversity index (H') the SHANNON-WIENER formula (also called Shannon-Weaver formula) of the information theory was used:

$$H' = -\sum_{i=1}^{s} p_{i} \ln p_{i}$$
,

where S = number of species, p_i = relative frequency of the ith species, measured from 0.0 to 1.0.

To test the significance of the difference between two H'-values, the t-Test was used as indicated by POOLE (1974).

The diversity index (H') does not show if its value is caused by a high number of species with irregular distribution or by a low number of species with regular distribution. Therefore, a supplementary measure, the evenness (E) after PIELOU (1966) is calculated:

$$E = \frac{H'}{H_{max}} = \frac{H'}{\ln S}$$

The value of E ranges from 0 to +1. The higher the value the greater the evenness (i.e. the more regular the distribution).

2.3.7. Investigation of the prey composition of spiders

2.3.7.1. Investigation of the prey composition of web-building spiders in the vegetation zone of abandoned grassland, cultivated meadows, and cereal fields

Which insect groups were caught in the spiders' webs at different times of day and night was determined by means of continuous observations in the field.

During the night, the webs were observed in the light of a dimmed electric torch. Care was taken not to influence thereby the behaviour of the spiders and their prey. To some extent the prey items were determined and counted in the field, and the observation data recorded. In some cases the prey items were collected from the webs with tweezers, and preserved in 70% ethyl alcohol. They were counted under the stereo-microscope. Of some important prey groups samples were sent to specialists for exact determination.

2.3.7.2. Investigation of the prey composition of hunting spiders (crab spiders) in the vegetation zone of abandoned grassland, cultivated meadows, and cereal fields

During both day and night the vegetation zone was thouroughly searched for hunting spiders that were feeding. The prey items were determined either directly in the field or later on in the laboratory.

2.3.7.3. <u>Investigation of the prey composition of web-spiders on the</u> ground surface of cultivated meadows and cereal fields

The ground surface was searched for ground-dwelling spiders that were feeding. Because of the small size of these spiders and their prey, such studies could be made only during daytime. As before, the prey items were determined either directly in the field or later on in the laboratory. Samples of some important prey groups were sent to specialists for identification.

2.3.7.4. Investigation of the prey composition of diurnal hunting spiders (wolf spiders) on the ground surface of cultivated meadows and cereal fields

Wolf spiders were caught in the field by hand collections with a transparent plastic beaker (7 cm upper diameter). Spiders with prey were killed, preserved in alcohol and later determined in the laboratory under a stereo-microscope along with the prey. Wolf spiders were only observed in the daytime, as the dominant species (Pardosa spp.) are diurnal (see 3.2.3.2. and 3.3.3.2.). Of some important prey groups, samples were sent to specialists for accurate determination.

2.3.8. Investigation of the prey capture rate of spiders

2.3.8.1. Orb-weaving spiders

Two methods were used to study the prey capture rate:

<u>Method 1: Direct observation in the field.</u> The number of insects caught in the webs per day was counted round the clock. This method has the advantage of furnishing accurate data on how many insects a spider captures per day. It is, however, very time-consuming.

<u>Method 2:</u> Many orb-weaving spiders rebuild their web every day. For such spider species, the number of prey/web was counted at a time of the day when the webs were filled with prey. This number gives an estimate of the real capture rate which may be slightly higher, however, as sometimes single small insects are already consumed during the day and others get caught only after the prey has been counted. This method, though less accurate than direct observation, is far less time-consuming.

2.3.8.2. Wolf spiders

EDGAR (1969, 1970) developed a method by means of which the prey capture rate of wolf spiders can be calculated, if the feeding frequency in the field and the duration of feeding measured in the laboratory are known.

To determine the feeding frequency of the spiders, wolf spiders were caught in cultivated meadows and cereal fields on different days. In the case of each captured spider it was recorded whether it had a prey or not.

In order to measure the duration of feeding of wolf spiders, adult males and females of <u>P. agrestis</u> were caught in a winter wheat field and brought into the laboratory. There, they were confined singly to circular petri-dishes (\emptyset 9 cm, height 1.5 cm) with a moist filter paper on the bottom. At room temperature, the spiders were fed with aphids, small bugs, Diptera, and spiders of about the same size as those captured by the spiders in the field. The time spent on the consumption of one prey item was measured.

This method is suitable for the evaluation of prey capture rates of crab spiders, too.

2.3.9. <u>Calculation of the niche breadth and niche overlap concerning</u> food of the spiders

In order to examine to what extent the coexisting spider species use the available food resources in common, the overlap and breadth of the food compositions was determined. For this purpose, a resource matrix was set up (MUHLENBERG, 1976). In our niche system, the compared spider groups are looked upon as resource users and the components in the spiders' prey are considered as resource classes. The overlap coefficient $\hat{C}\lambda$ was calculated by means of the formula of MORISITA (1959), modified by HORN (1966):

$$\hat{C}\lambda = \frac{2 \sum_{i=1}^{s} x_{i}y_{i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{s} x_{i}^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{s} y_{i}^{2}},$$

where S is the total number of food items, x_i and y_i are proportions of the ith item in the prey compositions of spider species x and y. The values of $\hat{c}\lambda$ range from zero to 1.0 (from entirely different to identical prey composition). According to ZARET & RAND (1971) one assumes that $\hat{c}\lambda$ values >0.60 indicate a considerable overlap. In the present study, the niche overlap could not be calculated at species level, as only the order or family of most prey items were determined. Therefore, the overlap values calculated in this thesis are probably overestimated compared with the overlap determined at species level.

This overlap index has been applied for the comparison of predators' prey compositions by other authors, too (ZARET & RAND, 1971; OBRTEL & HOLISOVA, 1976).

The niche breadth $B_{\rm j}$ was calculated after LEVINS (1968), applying the following formula derived from Simpson's index:

$$B_{i} = \frac{1}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j}^{2}}$$

In this formula p, is the proportion of the ith of n resource categories used by a spider species. Hittee breadth values range from θ_{-} to -1.

2.3.10. Comparison of spider communities of different locations

For the comparison of two spider communities the "overlap index" (C_{jk}) after SCHOENER (1970) was used. The formula is as follows:

$$1 - 0.5 \sum |p_{ii} - p_{ik}|$$

where p_{ij} and p_{ik} are the proportions of species i of the species communities in the locations j and k. This index ranges from 0 (no overlap) to 1 (total overlap). This index, too, was used for the comparison of spider communities of different locations by CURTIS (1978) and by SCHAEFER & KOCK (1979).

2.3.11. Estimate of the energy flow through spider communities

The different pathways in a spider's energy budget are as follows: Of the "prey killed" only a part reaches the alimentary canal (= "prey consumed"); the rest is not fed by the spider (= "prey not consumed"). Of the prey consumed a part is absorbed by the gut and assimilated in the body (= "prey assimilated"); the rest is eliminated as "faeces". Of the assimilated prey a part is lost by "respiration" and "secretions"; the rest remains for "production". Of these six components of the energy flow, only the energy-input into a spider community ("prey killed" and/or "prey consumed") could be determined or calculated within the framework of this thesis.

In the vegetation zone the "prey killed" by the large web-building spiders can be studied easily by direct observation. Therefore, in the vegetation zone the energy flow was calculated on the basis of "prey killed". On the ground surface the "prey killed" by the small web-building spiders could not be studied easily. For that reason, in the determination of the energy flow through the spider communities the "prey consumed" C was calculated theoretically (C calculated as a function of the weight of a spider, see below).

2.3.11.1. Vegetation zone

From the knowledge of the prey capture rates and population densities, the prey killing rate (number of prey items/ha/time unit) of the spiders could be calculated (see 3.1.11. and 3.3.9.). From the prey killing rate the energy flow through the foliage-dwelling spider communities was calculated by conversing the number of prey items into weight of prey (kg prey/ha/time unit) and weight of prey into Joule or Megajoule (MJ/ha/time unit). The caloric value of soft-bodied insects (small Diptera, aphids) amounts to approximately 5.44 J/mg fresh weight (VAN HOOK, 1971, BREYMEYER & JOZWIK, 1975).

2.3.11.2. Ground surface

Following LUCZAK (1975) the daily consumption (C) of one spider was calculated after the equation of EDWARDS <u>et al</u>. (1972), generally applicable to invertebrates:

 $\log C = \log 0.071 + 0.725 \log X$,

where C is expressed as cal/spider/day and X is the caloric content of the body of a spider (1 mg dry weight = 5.8 cal = 24.3 J).

The daily energy flow E (= "prey consumed") through the ground-dwelling web-building spider community was estimated after the formula:

$$E_c = C \cdot D$$
,

in which D is the density of the spiders (N/m^2) .

The mean fresh weight of a ground-dwelling web-building spider was assumed to be 2.5 mg. This is the fresh weight of one micryphantid spider with a body length of 2-2.5 mm (HEYDEMANN, 1962). In application of this equation the average consumption of one micryphantid spider was calculated to be 5.22 cal/day.

Approximately 80% of the killed prey is consumed by spiders (EDGAR, 1971; MOULDER & REICHLE, 1972; WORKMAN, 1978). Hence follows the energy flow $E_{n\nu}$ ("prey killed"):

$$E_{pk} = 1.25 E_{c}$$

2.3.12. Statistical analysis of data

In most cases the data collected in the field refer to frequencies. Such data have an assymmetric distribution. If data have a symmetric distribution one gives the arithmetic mean $\bar{\mathbf{x}}$ (± SE) as characteristic values of the random samples. On the contrary, for assymmetric distributions one should give the median $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$ (± confidence interval) as characteristic values of the random samples (SACHS, 1974). However, a perusal of the renowned journals "Ecology", "Oecologia", "Oikos", "J. Anim. Ecol.", "Nature" and "Science" has shown, that in most field studies the mean value $\bar{\mathbf{x}}$ and not the median $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$ was calculated. In the literature mainly the following characteristic values of random samples are given: $\bar{\mathbf{x}} \pm SD$, $\bar{\mathbf{x}} \pm 95\%$ C.L.

Therefore, in order to make the results of this thesis comparable with those of the literature, \bar{x} \pm SE was given as characteristic value of random samples.

For the comparison of two mean values nonparametric tests were applied (SACHS, 1974).

RESULTS

3.1. The role of spiders as insect predators in abandoned grasslands

3.1.1. Characterization of the biotopes and colonization by spiders

In biotopes with plants the spiders live in two zones: in the vegetation zone (= foliage-dwelling spiders) and on the ground surface (= grounddwelling spiders). In the two zones different spider families are found. In abandoned grasslands, only the foliage-dwelling spiders were studied within the framework of this thesis.

The abandoned grassland biotopes studied were mostly uncultivated meadowland, shooting-grounds and future building sites overgrown with high grass, unmown stripes of grassland along field borders and river banks (see Tables 6-7). The vegetation zone of these grassland biotopes is heterogenous. It is composed of grasses on the one hand and of herbs and weeds (<u>Cirsium arvense</u> (L.) Scop., <u>Rubus sp.</u>) on the other hand. Some of these grasslands are interspersed with single shrubs.

Abandoned grassland is only little influenced by men. As spiders live more or less undisturbed in such biotopes, they are found in relatively high densities in the vegetation zone.

The result of the investigation of the spiders' density in the vegetation zone of two abandoned grassland biotopes (megaphorbe meadow A1 and dry meadow A2) was 8.8 and 9.6 spiders/m² respectively between mid-May and the end of May, and 10.6 spiders/m² in A2 at the beginning of July. The estimate in A1 in the beginning of September resulted in 9.4 spiders/m² as well. This means that in 1979 the spider density in the vegetation zone of both abandoned grassland biotopes was relatively constant from May til September and amounted to about 10 individuals/m².

3.1.2. Spider communities of abandoned grasslands

3.1.2.1. Spider community of biotope Al

The family composition of the foliage-dwelling spider community of the megaphorbe meadow Al was investigated by means of the sweeping method and is summarized in Tables 10-11, together with the relative densities and the age structure of the spiders. If we consider the total (June to September), we find the following results: spiders belonging to the six families Tetragnathidae, Pisauridae, Micryphantidae, Araneidae, Salticidae, and Agelenidae prevailed in the sweep net samples (89% of all spiders, 90% of the adult spiders). Tetragnathidae were found most frequently. What the tables do not show is the fact that more than two thirds of the captured spiders were females.

In Table 12, the species composition of the foliage-dwelling spiders occurring in location A1 is represented. The table shows that the five species Tetragnatha extensa (L.), Hylyphantes nigritus (Simon), Evarcha arcuata (Cl.), Neottiura bimaculata (L.), and Pisaura mirabilis (Cl.) prevailed in the sweep net samples (>80% of the total). T. extensa and H. nigritus were the two species most frequently captured.

The spider community of location Al consisted to a considerable degree of species of medium to large size. Argiope bruennichi (Scop.), Araneus

Table 10. Family composition in % of the spider fauna in the vegetation zone of the megaphorbe meadow A1 at different dates in summer 1979. The composition was investigated by means of sweep net collections. Immature and adult spiders were counted.

	12.6.	28.6.	17.7.	14.8.	20.9.	Total
Spider family	N=434	N=817	N=950	N=906	N=649	N=3756
	%	%	%	%	%	%
Tetragnathidae	30.65	42.23	57.16	61.48	51.31	50.88
Pisauridae	2.07	15.06	10.95	9.38	7.24	9.80
Micryphantidae	13.59	5.75	2.63	10.49	21.73	9.77
Araneidae	26.27	13.71	8.42	3.42	4.31	9.72
Salticidae	8.29	8.45	4.32	8.94	4.78	6.87
Agelenidae	3.00	3.92	4.21	0.99	0.92	2.66
Linyphiidae	3.00	1.71	3.47	0.33	1.69	1.97
Thomisidae	1.84	2.57	1.89	1.99	0.77	1.86
Clubionidae	0.92	3.67	1.16	0.88	2.62	1.86
Theridiidae	5.99	1.96	2.00	0.33	0.15	1.73
Dictynidae	0	0	0.32	0.55	0.46	0.29
Philodromidae	0	0	0	0.22	0.15	0.08
Unident. spiders	4.38	0.98	3.47	0.99	3.85	2.50
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Spider family		Nun June	nber of spi July	ders/100 August	sweeps September
l - Araneidae	i	22.4	16.0	9.6	5.0
	a	0.4	0	2.3	9.0
	t	22.8	16.0	11.9	14.0
2 - Tetragnathidae	i a t	2.8 23.8 26.6	96.6 12.0 108.6	212.7 1.5 214.2	* 166.5
3 - Linyphiidae	i	2.6	6.6	0.4	0
	a	0	0	0.8	5.5
	t	2.6	6.6	1.2	5.5
4 - Micryphantidae	i	0.2	0.6	36.2	70.0
	a	11.6	4.4	0.4	0.5
	t	11.8	5.0	36.6	70.5
5 - Theridiidae	i	2.4	1.6	0	0.5
	a	2.8	2.2	1.2	0
	t	5.2	3.8	1.2	0.5
6 - Agelenidae	i	2.6	8.0	0.8	0
	a	0	0	2.7	3.0
	t	2.6	8.0	3.5	3.0
7 - Dictynidae	i	0	0.6	1.9	1.5
8 - Salticidae	i	5.0	6.2	24.2	11.0
	a	2.2	2.0	6.9	4.5
	t	7.2	8.2	31.1	15.5
9 - Thomisidae	i	0.8	3.0	6.5	2.0
	a	0.8	0.6	0.4	0.5
	t	1.6	3.6	6.9	2.5
10 - Philodromidae	i	0	0	0.8	0.5
11 - Pisauridae	i	0.4	20.4	31.5	23.5
	a	1.4	0.4	1.2	0
	t	1.8	20.8	32.7	23.5
12 - Clubionidae	i	0.8	2.2	3.1	8.0
	a	0	0	0	0.5
	t	0.8	2.2	3.1	8.5
Unidentified spiders	i	3.8	6.6	3.5	12.5
Total	i	43.8	168.4	331.2	301.0
	a	43.0	21.6	17.4	23.5*
	t	86.8	190.0	348.6	324.5

Table 11. Relative density of immature and adult spiders in the vegetation zone of the megaphorbe meadow Al from June to September 1979. i = immature stages, a = adult stages, t = total

* Developmental stage of T. extensa not distinguished in September

Table 12. Species composition of the spider fauna in the vegetation zone of the megaphorbe meadow Al in summer 1979. Species investigated by means of sweep net collections. Only adult spiders are listed in the table. The numbers in parentenses behind the names correspond with the family-numbers in Table 11.

Spider species	12.6.	28.6.	17.7.	14.8.	20.9.	Total	%
<u>Araneus</u> <u>diadematus</u> ^a (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
<u>Araneus quadratus</u> (1)	0	1	0	4	3	8	1.27
<u>Nuctenea</u> cornuta (1)	2	0	0	1	0	3	0.47
<u>Argiope</u> <u>bruennichi</u> (1)	0	0	0	1	1	2	0.32
<u>Meta segmentata</u> (1)	0	0	0	0	14	14	2.22
<u>Tetragnatha</u> <u>extensa</u> (2)	109	80	58	2	52	301	47.63
<u>Tetragnatha pinicola</u> (2)	1	0	0	0	0	1	0.16
<u>Tetragnatha</u> spec. ^b (2)	9	1	2	2	0	14	2.22
<u>Pachygnatha</u> <u>clercki</u> (2)	0	0	0	0	1	1	0.16
Linyphia triangularis (3)	0	0	0	2	9	11	1.74
<u>Floronia</u> <u>bucculenta</u> (3)	0	0	0	0	2	2	0.32
Dismodicus bifrons (4)	1	2	0	0	0	3	0.47
<u>Hylyphantes nigritus</u> (4)	57	44	21	1	1	124	19.62
Erigone <u>dentipalpis</u> (4)	0	0	1	0	0	1	0.16
Enoplognatha ovata (5)	0	2	11	3	0	16	2.53
<u>Neottiura bimaculata</u> (5)	14	6	0	0	0	20	3.16
Agelena gracilens (6)	0	0	0	7	6	13	2.06
<u>Evarcha</u> arcuata (8)	11	13	9	18	9	60	9.49
<u>Heliophanus</u> flavipes (8)	0	6	1	0	0	7	1.11
<u>Xysticus</u> cristatus (9)	2	0	3	0	1	6	0.95
<u>Xysticus</u> <u>kochi</u> (9)	2	0	0	1	0	3	0.47
<u>Pisaura mirabilis</u> (11)	7	6	2	3	0	18	2.85
<u>Clubiona</u> <u>reclusa</u> (12)	0	2	0	0	1	3	0.47
Clubiona neglecta (12)	0	I	0	0	0	1	0.16
Total	215	164	108	45	100	632	100.0

 $^{\rm a}$ Species not rare, often observed but never caught with the sweep net

^b Sternum without median light patch
quadratus C1., Araneus diadematus C1., Agelena gracilens C.L. Koch, and P. mirabilis were the largest spiders found in Al (see Table 13). The Targe web-building spiders A. bruennichi, A. quadratus and A. gracilens were only rarely and A. diadematus never caught with the sweep net (Table 12). These four species were however rather frequent in location Al (see also Table 22). This probably signifies that large web-building spiders are underproportionately represented in sweep net samples.

3.1.2.2. Spider community of biotope A2

In the dry meadow A2, also, more than two thirds of the adult spiders caught in the vegetation zone were females. Tables 14-15 show the family composition of the spiders found in this location. From the totals of Table 14 (right column) results that spiders belonging to the seven families Thomisidae, Salticidae, Micryphantidae, Tetragnathidae, Pisauridae, Theridiidae and Araneidae predominated in the sweep net samples (89% of all spiders, 96% of the adult spiders). The two spider families Thomisidae and Salticidae, whose members hunt their prey without webs, were caught most frequently.

Table 16 represents the species composition of the foliage-dwelling spiders occurring in location A2. The table shows that in the sweep net samples the six species <u>Tetragnatha pinicola</u> L. Koch, <u>H. nigritus</u>, <u>Enoplognatha ovata</u> (Cl.), <u>E. arcuata</u>, <u>Heliophanus</u> flavipes (Hahn), and <u>Xysticus</u> <u>cristatus</u> (Cl.) predominated (>80% of the total). Most frequent were the two species E. arcuata and X. cristatus.

The spider community was thus mainly composed of species of medium size (see Table 13). <u>A. bruennichi, Aculepeira ceropegia</u> (Walck.), and <u>P. mirabilis</u> were the largest spiders in A2, but reached only relatively low densities.

3.1.2.3. Comparison of the spider communities of the two abandoned grassland biotopes

The distance between the two locations Al and A2 is 7 km. In accordance with the differing levels of humidity, the moisture-loving <u>T. extensa</u> is more frequent in Al, while in A2 the dryness-loving <u>T. pinicola</u> is more often found. In both locations, however, the same spider families were encountered, only in different percentages. In both locations, the adult stages of more than 20 species could be caught by means of the sweep net and identified. Twelve species, namely <u>A. bruennichi</u>, <u>Meta segmentata Cl., T. pinicola, Linyphia triangularis Cl., H. nigritus, E. ovata, N. bimaculata, E. arcuata, H. flavipes, Xysticus cristatus, Xysticus kochi Thorell, and <u>P. mirabilis</u> occurred in both biotopes (Tables 12 and 16). Only one immature specimen of the interesting jumping spider Myrmarachne formicaria (Deg.) was found in each location.</u>

Diversity (H') and evenness (E) were lower in A1 than in A2 (Table 17). The difference between the diversity indices H'_{A1} and H'_{A2} is statistically significant (t-test, p<0.05). The lower diversity in the more humid A1 can be explained by the fact that only two species were highly predominant in A1, namely <u>T. extensa</u> and <u>H. nigritus</u>.

To establish the similarity of the spider communities of the two locations Al and A2, SCHOENER's "overlap index" C_{ik} was calculated.

Table 13. Body length (mm) of the adult spiders, which have been observed in abandoned lands, cultivated meadows and cereal fields near Zurich. Informations compiled from literature (mainly after LOCKET & MIL-LIDGE, 1951/53).

Spider species	ç	ੈ	Spider species	ç	්
D. fimbriatus	13 -20	9 -13	L. hortensis	4 -5	3 -4
<u>P. mirabilis</u>	12 -15	12	M. mengei	3.5-5	3.5-5
A. gracilens	10 -15	7.5-12.5	F. bucculenta	4	4
A. ceropegia	11.5-14	6.5	T. impressum	4 -4.5	2.5-3.5
A. bruennichi	11 -14	4	E. angulatus	4 -4.5	4
A. quadratus	9 -15	6 - 8	<u>M. pusilla</u>	3.5-5	3
A. diadematus	10 -12	4.5- 8	<u>P. rufus</u>	3.5-4	3
A. labyrinthica	8 -12	8 - 9	<u>A. sturmi</u>	3 -5	3.5
T. extensa	8 -11	6 - 9	M. acalypha	4	2.5
T. montana	6.5-10	6.5- 8	<u>A. riparia</u>	3.5	3 -3.3
A. alsine	8.5	6	H. sanguinea	3 -3.8	3
N. cornuta	6 - 8.5	5 - 8	<u>T. varians</u>	2.5-3.5	2.3-2.8
C. reclusa	6 - 8.5	5 - 6	N. bimaculata	2.5-3.3	2.5-3
E. arcuata	7	5 - 6	<u>H. nigritus</u>	3	2.3
X. kochi	6 - 8	4 - 5	P. degeeri	2.5-3	2.5-3
C. neglecta	6 - 8	4.5	D. puella	2.5-3	2 -2.8
P. amentata	5.5- 8	6 - 6.5	<u>D. uncinata</u>	2.5-2.8	2 -2.5
M. segmentata	5 - 8	5 - 6	<u>O. apicatus</u>	2.5	2.3
<u>P. clercki</u>	6	5 - 6	0. tuberosus	2.5	2 -2.3
X. cristatus	6 - 7	4 - 5	0. fuscus	2.5	2
P. agrestis	6 - 6.5	4.5	P. convexum	2.3-2.5	2.3-2.5
T. obtusa	5 - 7	3.5- 5.5	<u>E. atra</u>	2 -2.5	2 -2.5
L. triangularis	5 - 6	5 - 6	L. humilis	2 -2.5	1.8-2
T. pinicola	5 - 6	4.5- 5	B. gracilis	2 -2.5	1.5-1.8
P. cespitum	5 - 6	4	D. bifrons	2 -2.3	1.8-2
H. flavipes	5 - 6	3.5- 4	T. vagans	2 -2.2	1.5-2
P. palustris	4.5- 6	4.5- 5.5	E. dentipalpis	1.8-2.5	1.8-2.5
E. ovata	5 - 5.5	3 - 4	D. pusilla	1.8-2.5	2
H. auratus	4.5-6.5	3 - 4	M. rurestris	1.8-2.2	1.8-2.2
P. pullata	4 - 6	4 - 4.5	T. boesenbergi	2	1.8
A. cucurbitina	4 - 6	3.5-4	P. oblitum	1.5	1.5
A. opisthographa	4 - 6	3.5- 4			

Table 14. Family composition in % of the spider fauna in the vegetation zone of the dry meadow A2 at different dates in summer 1979. The composition was investigated by means of sweep net collections. Immature and adult spiders were counted.

Spidon family	10.6. 11.6.	26.6.	16.7. 18.7.	9.8. 13.8.	17.9.	Total
Spruer raining	N=236	N=115	N=296	N=368	N=281	N=1296
	ž	%	%	ž	%	%
Thomisidae	27.54	20.87	51.86	22.83	7.83	26.85
Salticidae	27.12	46.96	12.54	18.21	32.03	24.07
Micryphantidae	5.51	4.35	2.71	14.95	25.27	11.73
Tetragnathidae	8.05	3.48	8.14	15.49	3.56	8.80
Pisauridae	4.24	6.96	10.85	8.97	5.69	7.64
Theridiidae	16.95	9.57	5.08	1.63	1.07	5.71
Araneidae	7.63	2.61	2.03	1.90	7.83	4.32
Dictynidae	0	0	0.34	2.99	4.63	1.93
Linyphiidae	0.42	2.61	1.36	1.63	0.36	1.16
Clubionidae	0.85	0	0.34	1.36	0.36	0.69
Lycosidae	0.85	0.87	0.34	0	0.71	0.46
Agelenidae	0	0	0.34	0.27	0	0.15
Philodromidae	0.42	0	0	0	0	0.08
Unident. spiders	0.42	1.74	4.07	9.78	10.68	6.33
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Spider family		Number o June	f spiders/100 July	sweeps August
l - Araneidae	i	0.7	1.2	1.2
	a	0.7	0	0.2
	t	1.4	1.2	1.4
2 - Tetragnathidae	i	0.3	4.8	11.4
	a	1.1	0	0
	t	1.4	4.8	11.4
3 - Linyphiidae	i	0.1	0.4	0.8
	a	0	0.4	0.4
	t	0.1	0.8	1.2
4 - Micryphantidae	i	0	0.8	10.8
	a	1.0	0.8	0.2
	t	1.0	1.6	11.0
5 - Theridiidae	i	2.6	0.2	0
	a	0.5	2.8	1.2
	t	3.1	3.0	1.2
6 - Agelenidae	i	0	0.2	0.2
7 - Dictynidae	i	0	0.2	2.2
8 - Salticidae	i	2.4	5.8	10.4
	a	2.4	1.6	3.0
	t	4.8	7.4	13.4
9 - Thomisidae*	i	3.0	30.2	16.6
	a	2.0	0.4	0.2
	t	5.0	30.6	16.8
11 - Pisauridae	i	0.6	6.2	6.6
	a	0.2	0.2	0
	t	0.8	6.4	6.6
12 - Clubionidae	i	0.2	0.2	1.0
13 - Lycosidae	i	0	0.2	0
Unidentified spiders	i	0.1	2.4	7.2
Total	i	10.0	52.8	68.4
	a	8.2	6.2	5.2
	t	18.2	59.0	73.6

Table 15. Relative density of immature (i) and adult (a) spiders in the vegetation zone of the dry meadow A2 from June to August 1979. t = total number of spiders.

* + 1 adult specimen of Philodromidae (10) in June

Table 16. Species composition of the spider fauna in the vegetation zone of the dry meadow A2 in summer 1979. The numbers in parentheses behind the names correspond with the family-numbers in Table 15. The composition was investigated by means of sweep net collections. Only the adult spiders are listed in the table.

Spider species	10.6. 11.6.	26.6.	16.7. 18.7.	9.8. 13.8.	17.9.	Total	%
Aculepeira ceropegia (1)	6	0	0	0	0	6	2.56
<u>Araniella cucurbitina</u> (1)	0	0	0	1	0	۱	0.43
Argiope bruennichi (1)	0	0	0	0	1	١	0.43
Mangora acalypha (1)	3	0	0	0	0	3	1.28
<u>Meta segmentata</u> (1)	0	0	0	0	1	1	0.43
<u>Tetragnatha</u> pinicola (2)	15	4	0	0	0	19	8.12
Linyphia triangularis (3)	0	0	0	2	1	3	1.28
<u>Linyphia</u> spec. (3)	0	0	1	0	0	1	0.43
<u>Meioneta</u> rurestris (3)	0	0	1	0	0	1	0.43
Hylyphantes nigritus (4)	13	5	4	1	0	23	9.83
Theridion boesenbergi (5)	1	0	0	0	0	1	0.43
Theridion impressum (5)	0	1	0	0	0	1	0.43
Enoplognatha ovata (5)	1	0	14	5	1	21	8.97
<u>Neottiura bimaculata</u> (5)	4	2	0	1	0	7	2.99
Evarcha arcuata (8)	23	22	8	13	18	84	35.90
<u>Heliophanus</u> <u>flavipes</u> (8)	9	6	0	2	0	17	7.26
<u>Xysticus</u> <u>cristatus</u> (9)	25	3	2	1	0	31	13.25
<u>Xysticus kochi</u> (9)	1	0	0	0	0	1	0.43
Philodromus rufus (10)	1	0	0	0	0	1	0.43
<u>Pisaura mirabilis</u> (11)	2	5	1	0	0	8	3.42
<u>Pardosa pullata</u> (13)	1	1	0	0	0	2	0.85
Pardosa amentata (13)	1	0	0	0	0	1	0.43
Total	106	49	31	26	22	234	100.0

Table 17. Number of families, number of species, diversity, and evenness (see Methods, 2.3.6.) of the adult spiders in the vegetation zone of two abandoned grassland biotopes (investigated by means of the sweep net data of Tables 12 and 16). The two diversity values are significantly different (t-test, P <0.05).

	Megaphorbe meadow Al	Dry meadow A2
Number of families	10	10
Number of species S	23	22
Diversity H'	1.85	2.14
Evenness E = H'/lnS	0.59	0.69

The comparison of the total of spiders captured in Al and A2 results in an "overlap index" C_{jk} of 0.32 (see 2.3.10). Thus, the spider communities in the two abandoned grassland biotopes differ widely.

More extensive studies in other abandoned grassland locations in the surroundings of Zurich resulted in the additional species <u>Agelena</u> <u>labyrinthica</u> (Cl.), <u>Hyposinga sanguinea</u> (C.L. Koch), <u>Meta mengei</u> (Blackw.), Dolomedes fimbriatus L. and <u>Heliophanus</u> auratus C.L. Koch.

3.1.3. Seasonal change of abundance and daily activity

3.1.3.1. Seasonal change of abundance

Tables 11 and 15 show the spiders' seasonal trends. Adult stages of T. extensa, T. pinicola, <u>H. nigritus</u>, <u>N. bimaculata</u>, <u>E. ovata</u>, <u>H. flavipes</u>, <u>P. mirabilis</u>, and <u>X. cristatus</u> were found mainly in June, immature stages mostly between July and September. Of <u>E. arcuata</u> adult stages could be found relatively often from June to September and immature stages in August/September. The contrary was true for <u>L. triangularis</u>, <u>A. gracilens</u>, <u>M. segmentata</u>, <u>A. quadratus</u>, and <u>A. bruennichi</u>: immature stages were caught by sweeping in June/July, adult stages not before August/September.

Table 18 represents the relative density of the spiders (= number of spiders/100 sweeps) as a function of the season. The table shows similar trends for the two locations Al and A2. In all the seasons, more immature than adult spiders were captured. Considering the total spider density (immature + adult stages), a strong increase in the spider density from spring to late summer can be noticed. The adult spiders reached their maximal density in June, the minimal density in August. On the contrary, the minimal density of the immature spiders occurred in June, the maximal density in August. The females of several spider species of the locations studied probably laid their egg sacs in spring and died soon thereafter. The spiderlings then hatched in the course of the summer. Since abandoned grasslands are spared to a large extent from human influences all year long, the spiders can live there undisturbed and catch their prey from spring to autumn (about 6-7 months/year).

3.1.3.2. Daily activity

Table 19 gives informations on the daily activity of the spiders living in abandoned grasslands.

Most orb-weaving spiders were observed feeding by day and by night (e.g. A. bruennichi, Table 20). They are both diurnal and nocturnal. Of the orb-weaving spider <u>Nuctenea cornuta</u> (C1.), only the immature stages are occasionally active during the day, whereas the adult stages of this species are nocturnal* (NYFFELER & BENZ, 1980b; NYFFELER, 1981).

The web-building spiders studied in abandoned grasslands belonging to the families Agelenidae, Linyphiidae, Micryphantidae, Theridiidae, and Dictynidae were observed feeding during daytimes in most cases. In the webs, however, the remains of nocturnal prey species were found, too. These spiders are therefore both diurnal and nocturnal.

It happens very rarely that an adult specimen of N. cornuta can be observed in its orb-web during the daylight hours.

two	
of	
zone	seps.
ion	SWE
tat	of
'ege	ber
é	unu
n t	" "
s.	
den	79)
spi	6[
the	mer
of .	/sur
s)	ing
leep	spr
۹S (÷
/100	urio
ers,	r Z
pid	nea
of s	Jes
er (oto
quin	i.
u)	and
sity	ass
den	gr
ve Ve	pano
lati	ando
Re	ab
18.	
ble	
Ta	

			Al				A2	
Season	2	No. spide	ers/100 sw	leeps	2	No. spic	ders/100 sv	veeps
	2	immature +	adult =	total	N	immature +	+ adult :	= total
10-12.6.1979	500	43.8	43.0	86.8	1310	10.0	8.2	18.2
26-28.6.1979	500	130.6	32.8	163.4	800	.8.3	6.1	14.4
16-18.7.1979	500	168.4	21.6	190.0	500	52.8	6.2	59.0
9-14.8.1979	260	331.2	17.4	348.6	500	68.4	5.2	73.6
17-20.9.1979	200	301.0 ^a	23.5 ^a	324.5	q.	51-130	4- 12	55-142

 a Specimens of $\overline{\text{I. extenss}}$ of doubtful age were counted as immature individuals

b Protocol lost

Table 19. Daily rhythm of activity of the spiders in abandoned lands and in cultivated meadows (direct observations in the field and supplementary informations from literature).

Spider group		Type of activity
Orb-weaving spide	<u>rs</u> :	
Araneidae	A. ceropegia A. diadematus A. cucurbitina A. bruennichi M. acalypha M. segmentata A. quadratus N. cornuta	diurnal and nocturnal diurnal and nocturnal diurnal and nocturnal diurnal and nocturnal diurnal and nocturnal diurnal and nocturnal (diurnal) and nocturnal mainly nocturnal
Tetragnathidae	Tetragnatha spp. Pachygnatha spp.	diurnal and nocturnal diurnal and nocturnal ^a
Space web spiders	:	
Agelenidae	Agelena spp.	diurnal and nocturnal
Linyphiidae	L. triangularis	diurnal and nocturnal
Micryphantidae	div. species	diurnal and nocturnal
Theridiidae	<u>E. ovata</u> T. impressum N. bimaculata	diurnal and nocturnal diurnal and nocturnal diurnal and nocturnal
Dictynidae	div. species	diurnal and nocturnal
Hunting spiders:		
Salticidae	E. arcuata H. flavipes	diurnal diurnal
Thomisidae	Xysticus spp.	diurnal ^b and nocturnal
Philodromidae	Philodromus spp.	diurnal ^c
Pisauridae	<u>P. mirabilis</u>	diurnal ^C
Lycosidae	<u>Pardosa</u> spp.	diurnal
Clubionidae	<u>Clubiona</u> spp.	nocturnal ^a

^a After informations from literature, adult stages are hunters

^b Mainly diurnal

^C It has not been observed if also nocturnal

		Date	
Daytime	4.8.1976	5.8.1976	6.8.1976
	N = 10	N = 13	N = 17
	%	spiders feedir	ig:
9.00	10.00	15.38	41.18
10.00	50.00	-	-
11.00	40.00	-	41.18
12.00	50.00	30.77	47.06
13.00	-	38.46	-
14.00	60.00	30.77	35.29
15.00	-	38.46	-
16.00	60.00	38.46	35.29
17.00	-	15.38	-
18.00	60.00	23.08	- '
20.00	-	-	29.41
24.00	-	-	35.29

Table 20. Daily rhythm of feeding activity in <u>Argiope</u> <u>bruennichi</u> in the vegetation zone of the abandoned land biotope A3 in summer 1976.

Hunting spiders of the families Salticidae, Philodromidae, Pisauridae and Lycosidae (genus <u>Pardosa</u>) were observed hunting during the day. Whether they hunt also at night, could not be ascertained. Thomisidae (genus <u>Xysticus</u>) could be observed feeding mostly during the day, less often at night. The Clubionidae (genus <u>Clubiona</u>) are hiding in a silken tube within a leaf during the daytime and hunt at night.

The observations show that in both abandoned grassland biotopes diurnal as well as nocturnal spiders are present, indicating that the predatory pressure of the spiders on the insects of these biotopes is exerted day and night.

3.1.4. Spatial distribution of spiders

3.1.4.1. Vertical distribution of spiders

In Table 21, the vertical distribution of five species of orb-weaving spiders in location Al is represented for September 1979. The table shows that orb-webs are found from directly above the ground (A. bruennichi, M. segmentata) up to the top of the vegetation zone (A. diadematus, N. cornuta).

The weighted average (\bar{x}^*) is an estimate of the vertical distribution of the web sites of the whole orb-weaving spider guild in the open grass area of biotope Al. The population densities of Table 22 were used as weighing factors for the calculation of \bar{x}^* . The distribution of \bar{x}^* shows that in 71% of all orb-weaving spiders the orb hub was placed at a height of 50-100 cm above ground. This means that in the open grass area the orb-weaving spiders exert the strongest predatory pressure on insect populations at a height of 50-100 cm. At heights of less than 25 cm and more than 125 cm above ground, the predatory pressure exerted by orbweaving spiders was negligible.

In Fig. 3, the vertical distribution of the orb-weaving spiders A. bruennichi, A. quadratus and N. cornuta in location Al in the summer of 1979 is represented graphically. A statistical analysis of the data shown in the figure produced significant differences in the mean values of A. bruennichi, A. quadratus, and N. cornuta from July to September (Mann-Whitney U-test, p < 0.01). The mean values of A. quadratus and N. cornuta showed significant differences only in July and August (p < 0.01), but not in September (p > 0.05). These values indicate that different spider species exert their predatory pressure on insect populations at different heights above ground.

The vertical segregation of the prey catching areas of spiders can have prey selection as a consequence. This could be observed in orb-weaving spiders mainly: <u>A. bruennichi</u> builds its webs near the ground (orb hub at about 0.3 m above ground). For this reason, <u>A. bruennichi</u> captures many grasshoppers in grasslands abounding in grasshoppers. <u>A. quadratus</u> and <u>A. diadematus</u> build their webs at more than 0.5 m above ground on the average. Thus, even in grasslands abounding in grasshoppers, only a few grasshoppers are caught by <u>A. quadratus</u> and <u>A. diadematus</u> (<0.5% of their food).

3.1.4.2. Horizontal distribution of spiders

Horizontal distribution among different habitats

Table 22 shows the horizontal distribution of six orb-weaving spider

-u	
beg	
the	
at	
١	
meadow	
megaphorbe	
the	
of	
zone	
vegetation	
the	
'n	
spiders	
the	
of	
distribution	eptember 1979
a] (f S
Vertic	ning o
<u>.</u> .	
Table 2	
•	

* ~*	0.02 0	1.66 0.93	2.29 8.46	32.33 38.69	14.60 2.15
IX 34	0.29 0	1.00 3.26	5.12 11.38	21.17 31.87	22.40 3.50
<u>Meta</u> <u>segmentata</u> N = 50 %	0 0	0 0	4.00 7.00	15.00 34.00	35.00 5.00
<u>Nuctenea</u> cornuta N = 40 %	00	5.00 7.50	15.00 16.25	16.25 35.00	5.00 0
<u>Araneus</u> diadematus N = 68 %	1.47 0	0 8.82	6.62 25.00	29.41 22.06	6.62 0
<u>Araneus</u> quadratus N = 52 %	00	0 0	0 8.65	45.19 43.27	2.88 0
Argiope bruennichi N = 40 %	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 25.00	62.50 12.50
Height of orb hub above the ground (cm)	225 - 250 200 - 225	175 - 200 150 - 175	125 - 150 100 - 125	75 - 100 50 - 75	25 - 50 0 - 25

x = mean value
x* = weighted average. The population densities for the "open grass area" of Table 22 were used as weighing factors



Distance from orb hub to ground

Fig. 3. Vertical distribution of three orb-weaving spiders in the megaphorbe meadow Al in Opfikon near Zurich (July to September 1979). Mean value ± 1 SE, numbers in the graphic indicate the no. of webs observed.

ц.	ą	es	
ts	ed	ď	
ita	gat	sa	
lab	ti	re	
۔ د	ves	dua	
en	in	S	
fel	re	30	
dif	we	of	
e Ve	ies	Ň	
÷	it	Ð	
i,	ens	้อไเ	
es	р с	> 2	
ŝĊj	tio	nea	
spe	i la 1	a	
er	Jdo	ţ	
pid	പ	sen	
s	Ę	bre	
ing	÷	rel	
eav	979	e۲	
M-q	Γ.	quin	
orl	2	E \	
÷	bey	er)	÷
بب ب	ten	ы	Ē
。 (Sep	÷.	ſ
^{m2}	<u> </u>	põ	ò
È	IA 1	met	re
ŝ	мор	ę	ч Ч
Ę	nea	Ina	a J
-su	ē	"so	hac
de	orb	he	P
ion	aph	د ب	bua
at	jeg.	ò	Š
pul	e e	ans	ach
Ро	다	æ) e
22.			
e			
Tab			

spider species	Open grass area (above)	Open grass area (below)	Wayside (above)	Wayside (below)	Shrubs at periphery of grass area
	ž ž SE	× I SE	×- + SE		× + SE
<u> Irgiope bruennichi</u>	0.37 ± 0.12	0	0.73 ± 0.18	0.83 ± 0.17	0
Araneus quadratus	1.00 ± 0.16	0.73 ± 0.17	1.27 ± 0.20	0.23 ± 0.09	0.03 ± 0.03
Araneus diadematus	0	0.03 ± 0.03	0.07 ± 0.05	0	0.93 ± 0.26
luctenea cornuta	0.17 ± 0.07	0.13 ± 0.08	0.33 ± 0.10	0.07 ± 0.05	0
leta segmentata	0.10 ± 0.06	0.27 ± 0.11	0.23 ± 0.09	0.47 ± 0.11	2.17 ± 0.40
etragnatha extensa	0.10 ± 0.07	3.13 ± 0.44	1.27 ± 0.23	0.13 ± 0.06	0.17 ± 0.07
otal	1.73 ± 0.23	4.30 ± 0.53	3.90 ± 0.42	1.73 ± 0.30	3.30 ± 0.38

- 45 -

species among different habitats within location Al (September 1979). The table shows a heterogenous horizontal distribution of the six spider species.

Of the spiders of the open grass area, <u>A. quadratus</u>, and to some extent <u>N. cornuta</u> and <u>T. extensa</u> are the most important insect predators; on the waysides, on the other hand, <u>A. bruennichi</u> and to some extent <u>A. quadratus</u> are important, whereas in the shrubs around the open grassland, <u>M. segmentata</u> and <u>A. diadematus</u> predominate.

Horizontal distribution within a habitat

Tables 23-24 show the index of Morisita of the spiders in the locations Al and A2 for two observation data. The values indicate that within the vegetation zone of the two abandoned grassland biotopes, the horizontal distribution of the spiders represented a random distribution (1_{δ} not significantly different from 1; p >0.05) or a slightly aggregated distributions, a corresponding distribution of the spiders' predatory pressure on the insect populations can be derived.

3.1.5. Prey capture of spiders

3.1.5.1. Hunting strategies

The hunting strategies which the spiders living in abandoned grasslands are equipped with are manifold. In Table 25, the quantitative composition of the hunting strategies used by the foliage-dwelling spiders of both locations A1 and A2 are represented. The table shows that in the relatively moist location A1 the greater part of the spiders catch their prey with orb-webs, while in the dry grassland of location A2 most spiders hunt their prey without webs. The average web areas of the orb-weaving spiders living in location A1 amounted to 160-640 cm² in August/September (Table 26).

3.1.5.2. Prey composition

Orb-weaving spiders

<u>Observations in 1976</u> - Table 27 represents a comparative compilation of the prey compositions of adult females of <u>A. bruennichi</u> and <u>A. quadratus</u> in the four locations A3, A4, A6, and A7. Considering the number of captured prey, the food of <u>A. bruennichi</u> and <u>A. quadratus</u> consisted essentially of small Diptera. Regarding the biomass, the prey of <u>A. bruennichi</u> was mainly composed of grasshoppers in two locations and predominantly of honey-bees in two other locations. In the biomass of <u>A. quadratus</u>, the bees predominated, too.

Observations in 1978 - During the summer of 1978, an <u>A. bruennichi</u> population was observed in location A8. Grasshoppers (about 20%, chiefly <u>Chorthippus</u> <u>parallelus</u> (Zett.)), cicadas (about 20%, mainly <u>Cicadella viridis</u> (L.) and Diptera (about 40%) were predominant in the prey composition of this A. bruennichi population.

<u>Observations in 1979</u> - Tables 28-31 give a compilation of the prey compositions of the orb-weaving spider guild on the megaphorbe meadow Al. Diptera and Homoptera (cicadas, aphids) were the most important food components of this orb-weaving spider guild. Relatively often A. bruennichi, A. quadratus, and Table 23. Horizontal distribution of spiders in the vegetation zone of two abandoned grassland biotopes near Zurich. The data were collected with the "square method". Values with * deviate significantly from $l_{\delta} = 1$ (F-test, P <0.05).

	Total spiders incl. hunting spiders	1.11 -	1.10	
40	Total web spiders	1.10 1.10	1.10 2.07*	
index]	Linyphiidae	1.21 1.78	1.38	
sita	<u>Agelena</u> gracilens	- 1.27*	1 1	
Mori	<u>Tetragnatha</u> extensa	1.19 -	I I	
	<u>Araneus</u> quadratus	- 06.0	1 1	
	No. squares	16a 21a	100 ^b 40 ^b	
	Date	17.5.1979 1.9.1979	30.5.1979 6.7.1979	f 1.0 m × 1.0 m
	Location	A1 A1	A2 A2	a Square of b Square of

- 47 -

Table 24. Horizontal distribution of orb-weaving spiders in the vegetation zone of five habitats of the megaphorbe meadow Al (September 2, 1979). The data were collected with the "square method". Values with * deviate significantly from I $_{\delta}$ = 1 (F-test, P <0.05).

	Total orb web- building spiders	Tetragnatha to the second seco	leta so regmentata ' ' ' '	raneus iadematus	uadratus 9 1 8 1 1	Argiope	No. squares	Habitat Apen grass area (above) Open grass area (below) Wayside (above) Wayside (below) Shrubs at the border of
Total orb web- building spidersG 0G 0Tetragnatha extensaMeta segmentataAraneus diadematusAraneus duadratusMeta segmentataAraneus duadratusAraneus duadratusNo. squares0.00.0SolutionNo. squaresMationNo. squaresSolution <td>1.33</td> <td></td> <td>- 1.53*</td> <td>- 1.35</td> <td></td> <td>1.10</td> <td>30^a 30^a</td> <td>Wayside (below) Shrubs at the border of</td>	1.33		- 1.53*	- 1.35		1.10	30 ^a 30 ^a	Wayside (below) Shrubs at the border of
Total orb web- building spiders 96.0 Tetragnatha extensa , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	1.08	1.24	1	ı	0.98	1.43	30 ^a	Wayside (above)
Total orb web- building spiders 6 Tetragnatha extensa ' <u>Meta</u> segmentata ' <u>Araneus</u> ' <u>Araneus</u> ' <u>quadratus</u> ' <u>Argiope</u> bruennichi ' No. squares con	1.22	1.27*	ı	ı	1.17	T	30 ^a	Open grass area (below)
Total orb web- building spiders Tetragnatha extensa <u>Meta</u> segmentata <u>Araneus</u> diadematus <u>Araneus</u> quadratus <u>Argiope</u> bruennichi No. squares	0.95	,	۱.	ı	0.76	ı	30 ^a	Open grass area (above)
	Total orb web- building spiders	<u>Tetragnatha</u> extensa	<u>leta</u> regmentata	<u>raneus</u> Tadematus	raneus uadratus	Argiope bruennichi	No. squares	Habitat

^à Square of 1.0 m x 1.0 m

			S	eas o	u		
Location	Hunting strategy ^a	June 10-12	June 26-28	July 16-18	August 9-14	September 17-20	Total
		88	88	96	9 6	5 8	8
	Orb-weaving spiders (Fam. 1 - 2 ^b)	56.92	55.94	65.58	64.90	55.62	60.60
Al	Space web spiders ^c (Fam. 3 - 7)	25.58	13.34	12.63	12.69	24.95	16.42
	Hunting spiders (Fam. 2 ^d and 8 - 13)	13.12	29.75	18.32	21.41	15.56	20.47
	Unidentified spiders	4.38	0.98	3.47	0.99	3.85	2.50
	Orb-weaving spiders	15.68	6.09	10.14	17.39	11.39	13.12
42	Space web spiders	22.46	16.53	10.14	21.47	31.33	20.76
į	Hunting spiders	61.02	75.66	75.68	51.37	46.62	59.79
	Unidentified spiders	0.85	1.74	4.05	9.78	10.68	6.33

 $^{\rm a}$ The family numbers correspond with the numbers used in Tables 11 and 15

b Including immature Pachygnatha spp.

^c "Space web spiders" refers to all web-building spiders which do not construct orb-webs

d Adult Pachygnatha spp.

phorbe meadow Al (summer 1979). The web areas have been calculated as approxi-Table 26. Web diameters and web areas of six species of orb-weaving spiders in the megamately circular areas.

Month	Spider species		Web diameter	Web area
		z	x + SE	۲+ ۲+ ۲+
August	Argiope bruennichi	43	24.26 ± 0.91 cm	489.49 ± 36.38 cm ²
	Araneus quadratus	33	22.76 ± 1.23 cm	444.98 ± 47.62 cm ²
	Araneus diadematus	13	22.85 ± 1.27 cm	425.02 [±] 48.99 cm ²
	Nuctenea cornuta ^a	19	15.49 ± 1.81 cm	234.90 ± 51.98 cm ²
	Meta segmentata	18	14.24 ± 0.99 cm	172.15 ± 22.61 cm ²
	Tetragnatha extensa	7	15.71 ± 2.81 cm	231.13 ± 84.79 cm ²
September	Argiope bruennichi	64	25.05 ± 0.92 cm	518.68 ± 36.14 cm ²
	Araneus quadratus	41	24.37 ± 0.88 cm	490.34 ± 35.59 cm ²
	Araneus diadematus	40	28.61 ± 1.01 cm	673.72 [±] 47.27 cm ²
	Nuctenea cornuta ^a	14	15.45 ± 1.82 cm	221.19
	Meta segmentata	44	15.06 ± 0.75 cm	197.18 ± 20.77 cm ²
	Tetragnatha extensa	ı	ı	ı

^a Immature + adult stages, therefore large variance

different abandoned	
four	
in	
bruennichi	
d Argiope	ber 1976).
an	tem
Araneus quadratus	urich (August/Sept
of	of 2
adult females	in the region c
of	sa
Prey composition	grassland biotop
27.	
Table	

Grassland type		8	lee-rich grasslan	q	Grasshopper-ri	ch grassland
Location		A6	A3	A6	A4	Α7
Spider species		<u>Araneus</u> quadratus	<u>Argiope</u> bruennichi	<u>Argiope</u> bruennichi	<u>Argiope</u> bruennichi	Argiope bruennichi
No. prey items		N=194 %	N=215 %	N=224 %	N=90 %	N=377 %
Prey composition	Diptera ^a	79.4	69.2	80.4	77.8	79.5
relating the no.	Apidae	6.7	15.5	8.0	4.4	0
of prey captured	Aphidae	7.2	1.11	4.0	0	4.4
	Orthoptera	0	0.1	6.0	12.2	3.5
	0thers	6.7	4.1	7.6	5.6	12.6
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Prey composition	Diptera ^a	17.6	7.9	13.5	5.6	17.6
relating the biomass	Apidae	74.2	<u>88.2</u>	67.4	15.9	0
of prey captured	Aphidae	0.8	0.6	0.3	0	0.5
	Orthoptera	0	1.0	13.1	76.5	67.9
	Others	7.4	2.3	5.6	2.0	14.0
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

^a Mainly small individuals

	Arane	eus quad	ratus	A. diac	lematus	Arg. bru	uennichi
Prey	July	Aug.	Sept.	Aug.	Sept.	Aug.	Sept.
	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
Diptera s	88.24	75.42	70.00	57.06	60.58	44.67	<u>68.25</u>
Diptera m/l	0	1.84	0.88	1.80	2.19	5.27	0.40
Apterous ants	0	0.14	0	0.28	0	0.54	0.40
Bees	0	0.99	1.32	0.69	0.73	4.63	0
Other Hymenopt. s ^a	0.65	7.49	8.25	13.71	18.25	5.06	7.94
Other Hymenopt. m/1	0	0.42	0.35	1.52	0	3.55	0.79
Winged aphids	4.58	1.84	6.23	13.02	0	4.52	11.51
Apterous aphids	0	0	0	0	0	0.32	0
Cicadas	0	9.04	9.47	6.51	6.57	24.76	6.35
Thysanoptera	0	0.42	0.61	0.14	0	2.05	0.40
Heteroptera	0	0.14	0.09	1.25	0.73	0.11	0
Grasshoppers ^b	0	0	0	0	0	0.22	0
Lepidoptera	1.31	0	0.09	0.55	0	0	0.40
Trichoptera	0	0	0	0.14	0	0	0
Chrysopidae	0.65	0	0	0	0	0	0
Scorpionflies	0	0	0	0.28	0	0.11	0
Coleoptera	1.31	0.99	0.61	1.25	0.73	0.97	1.59
Ephemeroptera	0	0.28	0.09	0	0	0.32	0
Salticidae	0	0	0	0	0	0.11	0
Other spiders	0	0.14	0	0.14	0	0.22	0.40
Unidentified prey	3.27	0.85	2.02	1.66	2.92	2.58	1.59
No. prey items	153	708	1140	722	137	929	252
No. webs	7	47	59	129	11	95	24
No. observation days	1	3	4	6	1	5	2

Table 28. Prey compositions of three araneid species in the megaphorbe meadow Al in summer 1979. s = small, m/l = medium to large species.

^a Winged individuals

^b One adult specimen of Roeseliana roeseli (Hgb.)

Prey	May %	June %	July %	August %
Small Diptera	82.98	75.40	80.78	85.05
Medium/large Diptera	2.84	0	0.17	0
Small winged Hymenoptera	0	0.49	0.17	1.87
Bees	0	0	0.09	0
Winged aphids	10.64	4.21	12.17	8.41
Cicadas	0.71	0.16	0.09	0
Thysanoptera	0.71	0.65	0.70	3.74
Lepidoptera	0	0.16	0.35	0
Trichoptera	0	12.46	1.91	0.93
Ephemeroptera	0	0	0.96	0
Coleoptera	0.71	4.05	1.13	0
Tetragnatha spec.	0	0	0.09	0
Unidentified prey	1.42	2.43	1.39	0
No. prey items	141	618	1150	107
No. webs	26	47	64	. 11
No. observation days	3	5	6	2

Table 29. Prey composition of <u>Nuctenea cornuta</u> in the megaphorbe meadow A1 (spring/summer 1979).

Prey	August	September
	%	%
Small Diptera	27.39	39.34
Medium/large Diptera	14.23	5.46
Small winged Hymenoptera	4.25	2.73
Medium/large Hymenoptera	0.64	0
Apterous ants	1.27	0
Winged aphids	15.92	18.58
Apterous aphids	0.42	0
Cicadas	31.21	31.15
Thysanoptera	0.42	0
Trichoptera	0.42	0
Ephemeroptera	1.49	0.55
Unidentified prey	2.34	2.19
No. prey items	471	183
No. webs	309	75
No. observation days	7	3

Table 30. Prey composition of <u>Meta segmentata</u> in the megaphorbe meadow A1 (summer 1979).

Prey	May %	June %	July %
Small Diptera	88.77	82.18	57.50
Medium/large Diptera	1.09	0	0.83
Small winged Hymenoptera	0	1.21	0.83
Winged aphids	3.62	4.53	15.83
Cicadas	3.62	1.51	0
Thysanoptera	0	0.60	0
Trichoptera	0	4.83	24.17
Ephemeroptera	0.36	0	0
Chrysopidae	0	0.30	0
Coleoptera	0.72	1.81	0
Tetragnatha spec.	0.36	0	0.83
Unidentified prey	1.45	3.02	0
No. prey items	276	331	120
No. webs	138	156	53
No. observation days	3	5	5

Table 31. Prey composition of <u>Tetragnatha extensa</u> in the megaphorbe meadow Al (spring/summer 1979).

- 55 **-**

<u>A. diadematus</u> captured Hymenoptera as well. Temporarily, <u>N. cornuta</u> and <u>T. extensa</u> captured Trichoptera quite often. In this location, the <u>A. bruennichi</u> population captured almost no grasshoppers (only in one web one adult female of <u>Roeseliana</u> roeseli (Hgb.) was found). The captured Homoptera were cicadas (95% <u>Stenocranus</u> major (Kbm.)) and winged aphids (mostly <u>Anoecia</u> corni) (Tables 32-33).

Space web spiders

The prey compositions of funnel web spiders are compiled in Table 34 (locations A3 and A5; observation years 1976-1977) and Table 35 (location A1, June/July 1979). Table 34 indicates that the prey composition of A. labyrinthica varies. In location A3, the prey composition of the funnel web spiders consisted mainly of ants, Apidae, Trichoptera, Lepidoptera and Diptera; in location A5, the food of the funnel web spiders was largely composed of Orthoptera, Lepidoptera and Diptera. In the prey composition of A. gracilens in location A1 beetles and cicadas predominated in June, whereas Trichoptera (75%) prevailed in July (Table 35). In other locations, remains of cicadas and beetles in quite large numbers have been found in the web spiders.

Spiders with space webs belonging to other families were only cursorily observed. Linyphiidae (L. triangularis) were often observed capturing Diptera and Homoptera (aphids, cicadas) in abandoned grasslands. Of Theridiidae (<u>Theridion impressum</u> L. Koch, <u>E. ovata</u>), only a few data on the prey compositions could be gathered in abandoned grasslands. Their prey compositions seem to be quite heterogenous (from small to large insects, and flying and running insects as well). In abandoned grasslands, Dictynidae could mostly be observed as predators of Diptera.

Hunting spiders

With regard to hunting spiders in abandoned grasslands, quantitative analyses were made only for crab spiders. In 1976, it was observed that they captured mainly Diptera (about 80% of their food). In 1977-1979, <u>Xysticus</u> sp. were also observed consuming Diptera, but ants and bees as well.

3.1.5.3. Prey capture rates

Estimate of the prey capture rate of an A. bruennichi population

Table 36 shows how many insects of medium to large size were captured on the average by females of <u>A. bruennichi</u> in location A3 on three observation days at the beginning of August 1976. As the table indicates, a female of <u>A. bruennichi</u> caught on the average one larger insect/day, 61% being bees and 10% grasshoppers. Small flying insects (dipterans, aphids) have not been taken into consideration in this census. If the small flying insects had been counted, too, the capture rate would be several times as high (see Table 37).

Estimate of the prey capture rate of an orb-weaving spider guild

Table 37 shows, how many insects on the average were counted per web of three orb-weaving spider species in location Al. These figures do not represent the exact capture rate, but are a slight underestimate of it (see 2.3.8.1., method 2). However, the values impart an impression of how many insects are filtered out of the aerial plankton by one web per day on the average. The table shows that the average capture rate of <u>N. cornuta</u> equalled more than 18 prey organisms/web/day. This means that from 200 up to over 400 insects were caught per m² of web area per day.

Table 32. Cicada species in the food of orb-weaving spiders in the vegetation zone of the megaphorbe meadow Al near Opfikon (August/September 1979).

											Contraction of the local division of the loc
Meta		Araneu	s	Aran	sna	Argi	ope				
egment	ata	diadema	tus	quadr	atus	bruen	nichi		Τo	ta]	
ng. Sel	pt	Aug. Se	pt.	Aug.	Sept.	Aug.	Sept.	Aug.	Sept.	Μ	${\mathbb M}_{\sharp}$
40	56	35	8	64	102	160	12	399	178	577	94.9 %
2		2			4	2		6	4	13	2.1 %
					2	e		ę	2	2	0.8%
-							2	-	2	ę	0.5%
							2	0	2	2	0.3 %
								2	0	2	0.3 %
-								-	0	-	0.2 %
-								-	0	-	0.2 %
						-		-	0	-	0.2 %
								-	0	-	0.2 %
		-						-	0	-	0.2 %
-								-	0	-	0.2%
46 5	56	42	8	64	108	168	16	420	188	608	100.0 %
	1 1 2 2 Sel	900mentata 19. Sept 2 2 1 1 1 1 6 56	agmentata diadema Jg. Sept Aug. Se 2 55 35 2 5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	egmentata diadematus Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. 2 5 35 8 2 5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 8 1 8 1 8 1	gmentata diadematus quadra Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. 9 2 5 35 8 64 2 5 5 8 64 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 6 1 1 8 64 6 56 42 8 64	Image diadematus quadratus Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. 1 5 8 64 102 2 5 8 64 102 1 1 2 4 1 1 1 2 2 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 3 3 6 56 42 8 64 108	Andreading diadematus quadratus bruen Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Aug. Los 35 8 64 102 160 Los 1 1 2 3 3 Los 1 1 2 3 3 Los 1	egmentata diadematus quadratus bruennichi Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. 10 56 35 8 64 102 160 12 2 5 4 2 3 3 2 1 1 2 3 2 3 2 1 1 1 1 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3	egmentata diadematus quadratus bruennichi Aug. Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. 2 5 6 4 2 9 9 2 5 6 4 2 9 3 3 1 1 2 3 3 2 1 <td>egmentata diadematus quadratus bruennichi T Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Sept. Aug. Sept.</td> <td>egmentata diadematus quadratus bruennichi T o t a l Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. T o t a l Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. T o t a l Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. T o t a l Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. T o t a l 2 5 4 2 9 4 13 2 5 3 3 2 5 5 1 2 3 2 1 2 3 2 5 1 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 2 2 3</td>	egmentata diadematus quadratus bruennichi T Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Sept. Aug. Sept.	egmentata diadematus quadratus bruennichi T o t a l Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. T o t a l Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. T o t a l Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. T o t a l Jg. Sept Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. Aug. Sept. T o t a l 2 5 4 2 9 4 13 2 5 3 3 2 5 5 1 2 3 2 1 2 3 2 5 1 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 2 2 3

Aphid species	A. bruennichi	A. quadratus	A. diadematus	M. segmentata
Anoecia corni ^a	many	many	many	many
Rhopalosiphum padi	+	+	+	
Sitobion avenae		+		
Sitobion sp.?	÷			
Aphis fabae		+	+	+
Aphis sp.	·		+	
Myzus persicae		+		
Hyalopterus pruni	+			
Rhopalomyzus lonicerae			+	
Linosiphon galiophagum				+
<u>Dysaphis</u> spp.		+		

Table 33. Winged aphids in the food of orb-weaving spiders in the vegetation zone of the megaphorbe meadow Al (summer 1979).

Cornus sanguinea L. (I) and sweet grasses (II). The many captures point to mass migrations. ^a Anoecia sp. of the <u>A. corni</u> group. Thelaxidae are host alternating with migration between

Prey composition of Agelena labyrinthica	in the abandoned land biotopes A3 (sum-	ners 1976/77) and A5 (summer 1977).
34.		_
Table		

Prev	A3	A5
	84	38
Diptera	<u>11.7</u>	15.1
Ants	13.3	5.7
Bees	23.3	1.9
Other Hymenoptera	8.3	1.9
Aphids	1.7	0
Heteroptera	5.0	0
Orthoptera	0	26.4
Lepidoptera	18.3	37.7
Trichoptera	10.0	0
Coleoptera	5.0	7.5
Other orders	3.4	3.8
No. prey items	60	53
No. webs	26	29

Table 35. Prey composition of Agelena gracilens in the megaphorbe meadow Al (summer 1979). + (about 5 %), ++ (about 10 %), +++ (about 20 %), ++++ (about 50 %)

Prey	June 23	July 1
	%	8
Small Diptera	0	4.81
Medium/large Diptera	+	4.33
Medium/large Hymenoptera	+	0.48
Apterous ants	0	1.44
Bees	0	1.92
Winged aphids	+	4.81
Cicadas	ŧ	0.96
Heteroptera	0	0.48
Trichoptera	0	75.00
Ephemeroptera	0	0.96
Coleoptera	+++++	3.37
Tetragnatha spec.	0	0.48
Unidentified prey	+ + +	0.96
No. prey items	> 30	> 208
No. webs	12	35
No. observation days	-	~-

tera + Aphidae) were not taken into consideration in this census. The population density of the fe-males of <u>A. bruennichi</u> amounted to about 0.3 individuals/m². Accordingly the yalue 0.3x in the last column gives an estimate for the number of medium to large sized prey items/m² killed daily by this Number of medium to large sized prey items, which were captured day and night by Argiope bruennichi in the abandoned land biotope A3 during three subsequent days in August 1976. Small insects (Dip-A. bruennichi population at the beginning of August. Table 36.

Date	4.8.1976	5.8.1976	6.8.1976		
Observation time	9.00-20.30	9.00-18.00	9.00-23.30	١×	0.3 <u>x</u>
No. webs	10	13	17		
Prey	No. prey items/	'spider/day:			
Bees	0.80 ± 0.20	0.69 ± 0.26	0.35 ± 0.12	0.61	0.18
Grasshoppers	0.30 ± 0.15	0	0	0.10	0.03
Syrphi dae	0	0.08 ± 0.08	0.06 ± 0.06	0.05	0.02
Heteroptera	0	0	0.06 ± 0.06	0.02	0.01
Cicadas	0	0.08 ± 0.08	0	0.03	0.01
Coleoptera	0	0	0.06 ± 0.06	0.02	0.01
Lepidoptera	0	0	0.06 ± 0.06	0.02	0.01
A. bruennichi-đ	0.10 ± 0.10	0	0	0.03	10.0
Unidentified prey	0.40 ± 0.16	0.23 ± 0.12	0	0.21	0.07
Total	1.60 ± 0.27	1.08 ± 0.24	0.59 ± 0.17	1.09	0.33

- 60 -

Table 37. Prey capture rate (no. prey items/web/day) of three orb-weaving spider species in the megaphorbe meadow A1 (study year 1979). When not otherwise stated three days of observation; exceptions as numbers in parentheses.

	Saison	Nuctenea cornuta	<u>Araneus</u> quadratus	<u>Argiope</u> bruennichi
Prey/web/day	May	> 5	<u> </u>	
	June	>18		
	July	>18	>21 (1d)	
	August		>14	>10 (5d)
	September		>20	>10 (1d)
Prey/m ² web/day ^a	August		>315	>204 (5d)
	September		>408	>193 (1d)

^a Calculated from the data of Table 26; from May to July the diameters of webs were not measured

Table 38. Niche breadth (B_{1}) concerning food. Observations in six orb-weaving spider species in the megaphorbe meadow Al (spring/summer 1979). The values were calculated from the data of Tables 28-31.

		Niche	brea	dth B _i	
	May	June	July	August	September
T. extensa	1.26	1.47	2.41	-	-
N. cornuta	0.72	1.70	1.50	1.37	-
A. quadratus	-	-	1.28	1.71	1.96
A. diadematus	-	-	-	2.73	2.46
A. bruennichi	-	-	-	3.66	2.04
M. segmentata	-	-	-	4.53	3.44

Maximum prey capture rates in orb-webs which were particularly well placed

The values of Tables 36 and 37 represent the average of well and badly placed webs. In a few particularly well exposed orb-webs, a much higher number of insects could be counted; in the web of an <u>A. bruennichi</u>, for instance, 7 grasshoppers at one time, in another web <u>44</u> cicadas. Occasionally, more than 100 Diptera could be counted per web of N. cornuta. These observations indicate that large orb-weaving spiders have a high killing potential.

3.1.6. Niche breadth and niche overlap concerning food of web-building spiders

The niche breadths concerning food of six orb-weaving spiders are compiled in Table 38. They were calculated on the basis of method 2.3.9., using the data of Tables 28-31. The niche breadth of <u>N. cornuta</u> proved to be the smallest ($B_i = 0.72$ -1.70), the one of <u>M. segmentata</u> ($B_i = 3.44$ -4.53) was the largest.

With the data of Tables 28-31 and 35, the overlaps of the prey compositions of web-building spiders in location A1 were also calculated. The overlap values \hat{C}_{λ} are shown in Table 39. Of the 23 tested pairs 20 (87%) have a \hat{C}_{λ} of more than 0.60. This indicates that the prey compositions of the various orb-weaving spiders overlap rather strongly.* On the other hand, the prey compositions of orb-weaving spiders and funnel web spiders show only small overlaps ($\hat{C}_{\lambda} < 0.10$). Therefore, orb-weaving spiders and funnel web spiders and funnel web spiders complement each other in their function as insect predators.

3.1.7. Spiders as predators of pest insects

In abandoned grasslands, aphids form an important component in the food of web-building spiders. The species composition of the aphids captured by orb-weaving spiders in Al is compiled in Table 33. The table shows that, among others, the spiders caught aphid species which can be agricultural pests, e.g. <u>Rhopalosiphum padi</u> L., <u>Sitobion avenae F., Aphis</u> <u>fabae Scop., Hyalopterus pruni</u> Geoffr., and <u>Myzus persicae</u> Sulz. This indicates that spiders destroy pest insects in abandoned grasslands.

3.1.8. Spiders as predators of beneficial insects

As the prey compositions (Tables 27-35) indicate, the spiders feed not only on pest and neutral insects, but also on beneficial insects as honey-bees, Coccinellidae, Chrysopidae, and Syrphidae. Whether one or the other group dominates, depends on the biotope and its biocenose. Therefore, the same spider species, which is a predator of neutral or pest insects in one biotope, can be a predator of beneficial insects in another biotope. This phenomenon could be observed especially in A. bruennichi and A. labyrinthica. In the biotope A3 in 1976, an A. bruennichi population fed for the most part on honey-bees, another

If the overlap had been calculated at species level of the prey instead of order level, lower overlap values would possibly have resulted.

Table 39. Overlap of prey composition of six orb-weaving spider species and one funnel web spider species (niche overlap $\hat{C}\lambda$) in the megaphorbe meadow Al in spring/summer 1979. The values were calculated from the data of Tables 28-31 and 35.

		Niche	overlap	Ĉλ	
Species pairs	May	June	July	August	September
<u>T. extensa</u> N. cornuta	0.99	0.99	0.90		
<u>T. extensa</u> A. quadratus			0.86		
<u>N. cornuta</u> A. quadratus			0.99	0.98	
<u>A. bruennichi</u> N. cornuta				0.77	
A. bruennichi A. quadratus				0.85	1.00
A. bruennichi A. diadematus				0.89	0.97
A. bruennichi M. segmentata				0.88	0.80
<u>A. quadratus</u> A. diadematus				0.95	0.97
<u>N. cornuta</u> A. diadematus				0.91	
<u>N. cornuta</u> M. segmentata				0.52	
A. quadratus M. segmentata				0.61	0.80
A. diadematus M. segmentata				0.70	0.76
A. gracilens N. cornuta			0.10		
A. gracilens A. quadratus			0.07		

one in the biotope A4, at a distance of 2 km, mainly on grasshoppers (Table 27). Likewise, an <u>A. labyrinthica</u> population in location A3 fed largely on bees, but in location A5, at a distance of 1 km, mainly on grasshoppers (Table 34).

3.1.9. Predator-prey relations between spiders and adult lepidopterans

EISNER et al. (1964) state that: "Moths, by virtue of the loose scales that cover their wings and bodies, are admirably adapted to elude capture by orb-weaving spiders. Rather than sticking to the web, they may simply lose some of their scales to the viscid threads, and then fly on". In the course of the present investigations one could actually observe rather often that Lepidoptera, having flown into spider webs, tear themselves away from the webs, thereby losing some scales, and fly on (NYFFELER & BENZ, 1981b). That the anti-predator mechanism found by EISNER et al. plays an important role for Lepidoptera in the field, is corroborated by the fact that Lepidoptera form only a small component of the total food of the orb-weaving spider species studied (<1%, see Tables 28-31). A possible connection between EISNER's anti-predator mechanism and the predatory behaviour of <u>A. bruennichi</u> has been reported by NYFFELER & BENZ (1982a).

3.1.10. Prey killing rate (estimate) and energy flow through the spider communities of abandoned grasslands

3.1.10.1. Prey killing rate of an A. bruennichi population

Table 36 shows that in the beginning of August 1976 about 0.18 bees/m²/ day (= 1800 bees/ha/day) and about 0.03 grasshoppers/m²/day (= 300 grasshoppers/ha/day) were killed by this <u>A. bruennichi</u> population. Assuming constant weather conditions during 30 days, this would amount to a capture rate of 54'000 bees (about 5 bee colonies) and 9'000 grasshoppers/ha/month.

3.1.10.2. Prey killing rate of an orb-weaving spider guild

The question of the spiders' importance within an ecosystem is closely related to the question of their prey killing rate. This rate can be estimated most easily for web-building spiders and among those most easily for orb-weaving spiders. The quantity of insects which is daily filtered out of the aerial plankton by orb-weaving spiders in the vegetation zone of abandoned grassland biotopes necessarily depends on the total area A_n of the webs of all spiders living in a biotope, i.e.

$$A_{p} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_{i}$$

where A_i is the web area of spider i.

This web area is built on each fair-weather day and filters the aerial plankton in the vegetation zone. For the sake of simplicity, this model was limited to the orb-weaving spider guild of the biotope Al. In order to have a plain area relation, the number of insects caught by the spiders per ha and day was estimated. For this purpose, two preliminary questions had to be answered:

19/9), Ca	iculated from the c	lata of lables 22	and 26.		
<pre>b) Minimum e: ders at th Tables 37</pre>	stimate of number o ne beginning of Sep and 40a after the	of prey items/m ² () tember 1979 in 10 method described	ground area/day ocation Al. Cal in 2.3.7.1.	killed by orb-w culated from the	eaving spi- data of
Spider species	Open grass area (above)	Open grass area (below)	Wayside (above)	Wayside (below)	Shrubs
a)	cm ² web area /	' m ² ground area:			
Argiope bruennichi	191.91	0	378.64	430.50	0
Araneus guadratus	490.34	357.95	622.73	112.78	14.71
Araneus diadematus	0	20.21	47.16	0	626.56
Nuctenea cornuta	37.60	28.75	72.99	15.48	0
Meta segmentata	19.72	53.24	45.35	92.67	427.88
Tetragnatha extensa	23.11	723.44	293.54	30.05	39.29
Total	762.68	1183.59	1460.41	681.48	1108.44
(q	number of prey	/ m ² ground are	a / day:		
Argiope bruennichi	3.70	0	7.31	8.31	0
Araneus quadratus	20.00	14.60	25.41	4.60	0.60
Araneus diadematus	0	0.82	1.92	0	25.56
Nuctenea cornuta	1.53	1.17	2.98	0.63	0
Meta segmentata	0.80	2.17	1.85	3.78	17.46
Tetragnatha extensa	0.94	29.52	11.98	1.23	1.60
Total	26.97	48.28	51.45	18.55	45.22

Table 40. a) Web area/ground area of orb-weaving spiders in five habitats of location Al (September 1970) calculated from the data of Tables 22 and 26

(1) How large is the web area built by orb-weaving spiders per unit ground area (cm² web area/m² ground area)? - Knowing the web densities (Table 22) and web areas (Table 26), the average web area/ground area was calculated. The values for September 1979 are compiled in Table 40a.

(2) How many insects in the vegetation zone fly on the average through one m² of web area and are entangled in it per day? - Table 37 shows that in September 1979, more than 408 insects/m² web area of <u>A. quadratus</u> webs and more than 193 insects/m² area of <u>A. bruennichi</u> webs were filtered out of the aerial plankton.

From the data established in points 1 and 2, the prey killing rate P, i.e. the number of prey insects/m² ground area/day, was calculated by means of the formula

$$P = A \cdot N$$

where A is the web area in cm^2/m^2 ground area and N the number of captured insects/m² web area/day. The capture rate established for A. quadratus (>408 insects/m² web area) was also used for the species A. diadematus, N. cornuta, M. segmentata, and <u>T. extensa</u>.

The P-values compiled in Table 40b show how many insects, at least, were destroyed by orb-weaving spiders per m² per day in the biotope Al in September 1979. They amounted to respectively 27 or 48 insects/m²/day in the open grass area and respectively 19 or 51 insects/m²/day on its borders (wayside). In the shrubbery, at least 45 insects/m²/day were killed by orb-weaving spiders. The prey killing rate thus varied between at least 19 insects/m²/day and 51 insects/m²/day (mean value: >38 insects/m²/day). Supposing that this orb-weaving spider guild is active during 100 days per year, it would destroy more than 38 million insects/ha/year. If, on the basis of the prey compositions (Tables 28-31), an average fresh weight of 4 mg/insect is assumed, a biomass of more than 150 kg/ha of insect fresh weight would be killed each year. This is merely the prey killing rate of the orb-weaving spider guild. The spider community of the biotope Al contained however various space web spiders and hunting spiders as well. The prey killing rate of the whole spider community is therefore significantly higher than 150 kg fresh weight/ha/year.

3.1.10.3. Energy flow through spider communities

A conversion (2.3.11.1.) of the prey biomass values of section 3.1.10.2. results in an energy flow (= prey killed) through the orb-weaving spider guild of the biotope Al in the order of more than 900 MJ/ha/year.

3.2. The role of spiders as insect predators in cultivated meadows

Cultivated meadows are characterized by the fact, that their vegetation zone is mown 3-4 times per year. The cultivated grasslands investigated in this study are permanent meadows. They represent a mixture of numerous flowering plants (grasses, legumes, herbs). As lignified plants are largely absent, the vegetation in cultivated meadows is more elastic than in abandoned grasslands and thus facilitates the sweeping method. Through mowing the vegetation zone is removed, i.e. the living space of many spiders is destroyed; it regrows in the following weeks. The locations of the cultivated meadows studied are compiled in Table 8. In contrast to the investigations in abandoned grasslands, the studies in cultivated meadows included also the spiders on the ground surface. The spider communities of the vegetation zone (= foliage-dwelling spiders) and of the ground surface (= ground dwelling spiders) distinctly differed in their composition.

3.2.1. The influence of mowing

The periodic destruction of the living space and the egg sacs through mowing is an extreme stress for the spider populations of the vegetation zone. The total spider density in the vegetation zone diminishes drastically after mowing. The example listed in Table 41 shows that after mowing, the total spider density of the vegetation zone of a meadow had decreased by 50%. Similar effects could be observed in other cultivated meadows. As a consequence of these periodic stress situations, the densities of the foliage-dwelling spiders in cultivated meadows are extremely low (1.5 spiders/m², in Table 41).

As the values in Table 42 indicate, mowing has a negative effect on ground-dwelling spiders, too. Compared to the vegetation zone, the spider densities on the ground surface are nevertheless relatively high (16-42 spiders/m², Table 43).

3.2.2. Spider communities of cultivated meadows

3.2.2.1. Spiders of the vegetation zone

The family and species composition of the foliage-dwelling spiders in five cultivated meadows were investigated by means of sweep net samples. Tables 44-48 show the family composition of the immature and adult spiders in these meadows. Spiders of the eight families Araneidae, Tetragnathidae, Linyphiidae, Micryphantidae, Theridiidae, Salticidae, Thomisidae, and Lycosidae predominated in the sweep-net samples (>85% of the immature and adult spiders). More than 50% of the captured adult spiders were females.

The species composition of the adult spiders in the five meadows is represented in Tables 49-51. Adult stages of the families Thomisidae (X. cristatus, X. kochi), Tetragnathidae (T. pinicola, Pachygnatha degeeri Sundevall), Theridiidae (E. ovata primarily) and Araneidae (mostly Mangora acalypha (Walck.)) were the ones most frequently captured with the sweep net.

In cultivated meadows, adult Salticidae were found only in very low densities. Also <u>A. bruennichi</u> and <u>A. quadratus</u>, the orb-weaving spider species rather frequent in abandoned grasslands, were seldom located in cultivated meadows (as immature stages).

The foliage-dwelling spiders in cultivated meadows were for the most part species whose adult stages are medium-sized (see Table 13).

A. ceropegia is the largest spider found in cultivated meadows around Zurich.

3.2.2.2. Spiders of the ground surface

The family and species composition of the ground-dwelling spiders living in the cultivated meadow C3 was investigated by means of pitfall traps.
Table 41. Comparison of the densities of foliage-dwelling spiders in the cultivated meadow	C4 before and after mowing (spring 1979). The square method was used.	Table 41. Compa C4 be N = r	arison of efore and number of	the densities of foliage-dwelling spiders in the cultivated meadow Lafter mowing (spring 1979). The square method was used. squares of 0.4 m x 0.4 m.
C4 before and after mowing (spring 1979). The square method was used.			number of	squares of 0.4 m x 0.4 m.

-
et.
٠.
0
×
_
Ε
ব
~
0
u_
5
-
s
e
£.
ø
5
σ
S
ㅈ
ç
5
ā
ھ
E
3
c
H
~

Spider group	Before mowing 15.5.1979 N=96	After mowing 22.5.1979 N=100	
	Spiders/0.16 m ² x SE	Spiders/0.16 m ² x SE	Diff.
Xysticus spec.	0.07 ± 0.03	0.03 ± 0.02	- 57 %
Lycos i dae	0.01 ± 0.01	0	
Tetragnatha spec. (immature)	0.01 ± 0.01	0	
Mangora acalypha (immature)	0.02 ± 0.02	0	
Very small orb-weavers ^a	0.10 ± 0.03	0.09 ± 0.04	- 10 %
Unidentified spiders	0.03 ± 0.02	0	
Total	0.24 ± 0.05	0.12 ± 0.04	- 50 %
	(1.56 spiders/m ²)	(0.75 spiders/m ²)	

^a Probably immature Pachygnatha spec., web diameter about 2.5 cm

ultivated	The sig-	
in the c	traps.	
spiders	h pitfall	
ound-dwelling	rried out wit -test.	
f the gr	were ca hitney U	
density" o	stigations led Mann-W	
"activity	I. The inve atwo-tai	
ng on the	/ear 1979) nined with	
e of mowin	3 (study) e was exar	
Influenc	meadow C nificanc	
Table 42.		

Spider group		Before mowing z ± SE	After mowing SE	Difference	Signif.
		spiders/w	eek/trap		
Pardosa palustris	adult	1.56 ± 0.49	0.39 ± 0.39	- 75 %	P > 0.05
Pardosa pullata	adult	0.20 - 0.19	0	- 100 %	P > 0.05
Trochosa ruricola	adult	0.39 ± 0.25	0.20 ± 0.20	- 49 %	P > 0.05
Tarentula spec.	adult	0.39 ± 0.25	0	- 100 %	P > 0.05
Lycosidae gen. spec.	immature	1.56 ± 1.11	0.59 ± 0.26	- 62 %	P > 0.05
Total Lycosidae		4.08 ± 1.53	1.17 ± 0.52	- 71%	P < 0.05
Pachygnatha degeeri	adult	0.58 ± 0.40	1.17 ± 0.52	+ 102 %	P > 0.05
Pachygnatha clercki	adult	0	0.39 ± 0.39	ı	P > 0.05
Pachygnatha spec.	immature	0.59 ± 0.26	0	- 100 %	P > 0.05
Total Tetragnathidae		1.17 ± 0.43	1.56 ± 0.65	+ 33 %	P > 0.05
Erigone atra	adult	27.81 ± 2.26	11.67 ± 1.88	- 58 %	P < 0.01
Erigone dentipalpis	adult	17.31 ± 3.49	7.19 ± 1.66	- 58 %	P < 0.05
Oedothorax fuscus	adult	33.05 ± 3.81	29.56 ± 3.61	- 11 %	P > 0.05
Oedothorax apicatus	adult	4.28 ± 1.80	1.56 ± 0.58	- 64 %	P > 0.05
Total Micryphantidae		82.45 ± 5.38	49.97 ± 5.11	- 39 %	P < 0.01
TOTAL		87.69 ± 6.75	52.70 ± 5.26	- 40 %	P < 0.01

- 69 -

	Date	Number of	Vegetation	Spide	rs/m ²
Meadow	Date	squares	height	unmown	mown
C1	13.6.1979	80 ^a	15-18 cm	-	21.88
C1	26.7.1979	40 ^a	4-8 cm	-	42.50
C5	27.6.1979	20 ^b	very short	-	15.94
C5	26.7.1979	40 ^a	50 cm	18.13	-

Table	43.	Density of the	ground-dwel	ling web-bu	uilding	spiders	in	two	culti-
		vated meadows	near Zurich	(June/July	1979).				

^a Square of 0.2 m x 0.2 m ^b Square of 0.4 m x 0.4 m

Table 44. Family composition of the spider fauna in the vegetation zone of the cultivated meadow Cl (spring 1979). The composition was investigated by means of sweep net collections. Immature and adult spiders were counted.

	23.5.	5.6.	 Total
Spider family	N=122	N= 46	N=168
Composition in %:			
Araneidae	28.69	34.78	30.36
Tetragnathidae	30.33	17.39	26.79
Thomisidae	17.47	15.22	19.64
Theridiidae	8.20	19.57	11.31
Micryphantidae	2.46	10.87	4.76
Philodromidae	4.10	0	2.98
Linyphiidae	0	2.17	0.60
Dictynidae	2.46	0	1.79
Unidentified spiders	2.46	0	1.79
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 45. Family c vegetati (summer	ompositio on zone o 1979)(oth	n of the sp f the cult erwise as '	pider faund ivated mead Fable 44).	a in the dow C4	Table 46. Family c in the v ted mead wise as	omposition egetation z ow C5 (June Table 44).	of the sp one of th /July 197
Snider familv	29.6.	12.7.	6.8. 7 8	Total	Coidor familu	11.6.	23.7.
	N=115	N=272	N=416	N=803		N= 39	N= 30
Composition in %:					Composition in %:		
Thomisidae	65.22	92.28	67.79	75.72	Tetragnathidae	41.03	26.66
Tetragnathidae	7.83	3.68	15.38	10.34	Thomisidae	0	33.33
Salticidae	0	3.31	11.30	6.97	Micryphantidae	15.38	6.67
Theridiidae	12.17	0	1.68	2.62	Araneidae	10.26	10.00
Lycosidae	1.74	0	2.16	1.37	Linyphiidae	15.38	0
Linyphiidae	5.22	0.37	0.48	0.87	Lycosidae	0	16.67
Micryphantidae	3.48	0	0	0.50	Theridiidae	10.26	0
Araneidae	1.74	0	0.24	0.37	Clubionidae	2.56	3.33
Philodromidae	1.74	0	0.24	0.37	Dictynidae	2.56	0
Pisauridae	o [.]	0	0.24	0.12	Philodromidae	2.56	0
Dictynidae	0.87	0	0	0.12	Unident. spiders	0	3.33
Unident. spiders	0	0.37	0.48	0.37	Total	100.0	100.0
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0			

spider fauna the cultiva-1979)(other-

34.78	14.49	11.59	10.14	8.70	7.25

N= 69

Total

2.90 1.45 1.45

5.80

1.45

100.0

mily composition of the spider fauna in the	getation zone of the cultivated meadow C6	ummer 1979)(otherwise as Table 44).
Fami	vege	mns)
Table 47.		

Spider family	26.6.	16.7. 18.7.	13.8.	Total
	N= 14	N= 63	N= 67	N=144
Composition in %:				
Lycos i dae	0	9.52	40.30	22.92
Tetragnathidae	7.14	12.70	28.36	19.44
Thomisidae	14.29	23.81	4.48	13.89
Linyphiidae	21.43	14.29	11.94	13.89
Theridiidae	7.14	14.29	0	6.94
Araneidae	21.43	4.76	4.48	6.25
Pisauridae	0	9.52	2.99	5.56
Micryphantidae	14.29	1.59	1.49	2.78
Salticidae	7.14	1.59	0	1.39
Dictynidae	7.14	0	0	0.69
Philodromidae	0	1.59	0	0.69
Unident. spiders	0	6.35	5.97	5.56
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 48. Family composition of the spider fauna in the vegetation zone of the cultivated meadow C7 (June/July 1979)(otherwise as Table 44).

Spider family	12.6.	19.7.	Total
	N= 53	N=266	N=319
Composition in %:			
Thomisidae	50.94	74.44	70.53
Tetragnathidae	32.08	15.04	17.87
Araneidae	7.55	3.01	3.76
Salticidae	1.89	3.76	3.45
Theridiidae	3.77	1.88	2.19
Linyphiidae	0	1.13	0.94
Micryphantidae	3.77	0	0.63
Lycos i dae	0	0.38	0.31
Unident. spiders	0	0.38	0.31
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 49. Species composition of the spider fauna in the vegetation zone of the cultivated meadow C1 (spring 1979). The composition was investigated by means of sweep net collections. Only the adult spiders were counted.

Spider species	23.5.	5.6.	Total	%
Aculepeira ceropegia	2	0	2	4.76
Mangora acalypha	1	7	8	19.05
Tetragnatha montana	0	1	1	2.38
Tetragnatha obtusa	0	1	1	2.38
Bathyphantes gracilis	0	1	1	2.38
Erigone dentipalpis	1	0	1	2.38
Tiso vagans	2	3	5	11.90
Neottiura bimaculata	0	1	1	2.38
Theridion spec. ^a	0	1	1	2.38
Dictyna uncinata	1	0	1	2.38
Lathys humilis	2	0	2	4.76
Xysticus cristatus	10	6	16	38.10
Xysticus kochi	1	1	2	4.76
Total	20	22	42	100.0

^a Palpus was lost

Table 50. Species composition of the spider fauna in the vegetation zone of the cultivated meadow C4 (summer 1979)(otherwise as Table 49).

Spider species	29.6.	12.7.	6.8. 7.8.	Total	%
Araniella opisthographa	1	0	0	1	1.59
Tetragnatha pinicola	2	1	0	3	4.76
Pachygnatha degeeri	1	0	32	33	52.38
Microlinyphia pusilla	0	0	1	1	1.59
Meioneta rurestris	0	0	1	1	1.59
Oedothorax fuscus	1	0	0	1	1.59
Theridion impressum	2	0	0	2	3.17
Enoplognatha ovata	2	0	6	8	12.70
Neottiura bimaculata	1	0	1	2	3.17
Dictyna puella ^a	1	0	0	1	1.59
Heliophanus flavipes	0	1	0	1	1.59
Xysticus cristatus	5	0	0	5	7.94
Xysticus kochi	1	0	0	1	1.59
Philodromus cespitum	1	0	0	1	1.59
Philodromus rufus	1	0	0	1	1.59
Pardosa palustris	0	0	1	1	1.59
Total	19	2	42	63	100.0

^a This species is new for the Swiss fauna

Table 51. Species compo mer 1979. Oth	sition erwise	of the s as Table	spider f e 49.	auna in t	che vege.	tation zo	ne of	the cul	tivated m	eadows C	5, C6 a	nd C7 i	-uns u
Spider species	Cul 11.6.	tivated 23.7.	meadow Total	دی «	26.6.	Cultivate 16/18.7.	d mead 13.8.	ow C6 Total	86	Cult 12.6.	ivated 19.7.	meadow Total	c7 %
Araniella cucurbitina					-	0	0	-	3.70	•	•	I	•
Atea sturmi	ı	•	1	ı	0	-	0	-	3.70	1	ı	ı	ı
Mangora acalypha	e	0	ю	11.54	-	o	0	-	3.70	-	0	-	2.17
Tetragnatha extensa	ı	ı	ı	ı	1	ı	•	ı	,	ъ	2	7	15.22
Tetragnatha pinicola	Ξ	-	12	46.15		0	0	-	3.70	2	0	2	4.35
Linvohia triangularis	i	ı	ı	ı	0	0	ъ	2	18.52	ı	ı	ı	ı
Linyphia hortensis	ł	•	ı	·	0	2	0	2	7.41	•	ı	ı	ı
Microlinyphia pusilla	۱	•	1	•	0	0	-		3.70	0	-	-	2.17
Bathyphantes gracilis	ı	ı	•		,	,	ı	ł		0	-	-	2.17
Meioneta rurestris	1	•	1	ı	•	1	ł	ı	ı	0	-		2.17
Porrhomma convexum	۱	•	•	·	-	0	0		3.70	ı	•	ı	ı
Porrhomma oblitum	-	0	-	3.85	•	•	•	ı	ı	ı	ı	•	ŀ
Erigone atra	2	0	2	7.69	-	0	0	-	3.70	ı	ı	ı	ł
Erigone dentipalpis	2	0	2	7.69	1	•	•	•	ı	٠	ı	ı	•
Hylyphantes nigritus	ł	•	,		•	•	ı	ı	,	2	0	2	4.35
Tiso vagans	2	0	2	7.69	ı	•	I.	ı	1	ı	ı	ı	ı
Theridion impressum	-	0	-	3.85	0	2	0	2	7.41	1	·	ł	ı
Theridion varians	-	0	-	3.85	0	-	0	-	3.70	ł	•	,	ı
Enoplognatha ovata	1	ı	ı	ı	0	9	0	9	22.22	0	m	ო	. 6.52
Neottiura bimaculata		0	-	3.85		0	0	-	3.70	•	١	ı	1
Episinus angulatus	-	0	-	3.85	1	ł	ł	ı	•	·	ı	ı	ı
Dictyna pusilla	ı	ł	1	ı	-	0	0	-	3.70	ı	I	ı	I
Evarcha arcuata	· .	•	ı	ı	0	-	0		3.70	•	ı	ı	ı
<u>Heliophanus flavipes</u>	ı	·	ł	1	ı	·	ı	1	ı		-	27	4.35
Xysticus cristatus	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	•	ł	,	ı	17	~	19	41.30
Xysticus kochi	ļ	ı	·	ı	•	ı	ı	1	ł	2	2	7	15.22
Pardosa amentata	1	ı	•	1	0	-	0	l	3.70	•	1	•	•
Total	25	-	26	100.0	7	14	9	27	100.0	33	13	46	100.0

Table 52 shows the family composition of the spiders in this meadow. Spiders of the families Lycosidae and Micryphantidae predominated. Moreover, spiders of the family Tetragnathidae (genus <u>Pachygnatha</u>) repeatedly fell into the pitfall traps.

Table 53 shows the composition of the spider species frequently found on the ground of the cultivated meadow C3. The wolf spider species <u>Pardosa palustris</u> (L.) and <u>P. agrestis</u> as well as the Micryphantidae <u>Erigone atra</u> (Blackw.), <u>Erigone dentipalpis</u> (Wider) and <u>Oedothorax fuscus</u> (Blackw.) were the ones most frequently found in pitfall traps. Similar observations were made in other cultivated meadows.

Most spiders living on the soil surface of cultivated meadows are of small body size (Micryphantidae, see Table 13). The wolf spiders, and among these the genus <u>Trochosa</u>, are the largest spiders found on the ground surface of cultivated meadows.

3.2.3. Seasonal change of abundance

The following seasonal trends for the predominant species can be derived from Tables 54-55: Adult stages of <u>T. pinicola</u>, <u>M. acalypha</u>, <u>X. cristatus</u> and <u>X. kochi</u> were for the most part found in June and immature stages mostly between July and August. Adult stages of <u>N. bimaculata</u> and <u>T. impressum</u> could be collected in July mainly. In <u>E. ovata</u>, immature stages were captured in June, adult stages in July/August. No trends could be established for the rest of the predominant spiders, as the number of captured spiders was too low.

In Table 56, the spiders' relative densities (= number of spiders/100 sweeps) is recorded for different dates from May to August. It shows therefore the spider density as a function of the season.

The total density (immature + adult stages) in the vegetation zone of cultivated meadows is far lower than in abandoned grasslands; it increases from June to July/August. This can probably be explained by the fact that the number of immature spiders greatly increased during that period of time (see 3.1.3.1.). With a few exceptions, however, by June most samples already contained more immature than adult spiders.

Ground-dwelling spiders were found in cultivated meadows from spring to autumn (about 6-7 months/year).

3.2.4. Spatial distribution of spiders

3.2.4.1. Vertical distribution of spiders

As can be derived from section 3.2.1.2., most spiders in cultivated meadows live near the ground (>90%). A predatory pressure on insect populations exists therefore primarily near the ground of such meadows.

3.2.4.2. Horizontal distribution of spiders

For all the spiders present in the unmown vegetation zone of the cultivated meadow C4, the index of Morisita was calculated (Table 57). A distribution, which did not significantly differ from a random distribution (F-test, p > 0.05), was found in this meadow in mid-May.

In two cultivated meadows (Cl and C5), the index of Morisita was calculated for all the spiders of the ground surface (Table 57). The values Table 52. Family composition of the spiders on the ground surface of the cultivated meadow C3 (traps emptied nine times in the study year 1979).

				T	r a p	s	d E ə	t i e	p		
Sex	Family	ן June	2	3 July	4	വ	9	7 August	ω	ი	Total
		36	36	86	<i>3</i> 2	88	<i>3</i> 8	86	8 8	3 8	<i>5</i> 2
Males	Lycosidae	12.3	12.2	2.7	1.0	2.4	8.5	17.3	17.1	8.5	8.2
	Tetragnathidae ^a	5.5	2.2	0.8	1.9	0.8	3.4	1.3	0.9	3.4	2.1
	"Web-builders" ^b	82.2	85.6	96.5	97.1	96.8	88.1	81.4	82.0	88.1	89.7
Females	Lycosidae	3.6	15.6	4.9	1.2	0.9	2.4	3.2	4.7	2.4	3.2
	Tetragnathidae ^a	7.1	0	0	4.6	0	0.8	0.8	0	0.8	1.2
	"Web-builders" ^b	89.3	84.4	95.1	94.2	1.66	96.8	0.96	95.3	96.8	95.6
Total	Lycosidae	6.6	12.7	2.9	1.0	1.6	6.7	12.4	12.7	6.7	6.7
	Tetragnathidae ^a	5.9	1.9	0.7	2.8	0.4	2.6	l.l	0.6	2.6	1.8
	"Web-builders" ^b	84.2	85.4	96.4	96.2	98.0	90.7	86.5	86.7	90.7	91.5
^a Tetrag	nathidae refers to s	pecies of	the gen	us Pachy	gnatha.	The imm	ature sta	ges are	orb-weav	ers, the	e adult

stages hunt without a web

 $^{\rm b}$ "Web-builders" refers to small sheet web spiders (mainly Micryphantidae)

Table 53. Dominan the yea	t spider species on the ^ 1979). a = adult mal€	ground s es, b =	urface o adult fe	if the cu males	ltivated	meadow	c3 (traps	emptied	nine t	imes in
		ا June	2	T r July	a p 4	יא פ ש	pti 6	e d 7 August	œ	6
Composition in %:										
a) Males	Pardosa agrestis Pardosa palustris Trochosa ruricola	5.5 6.8	1.7 6.1 4.4	0 1.3 0.5	0 0.5 0.5	0.8 0 1.6	5.9 0.7 1.9	10.8 6.5 0	10.3 6.8 0	5.9 0.7 1.9
	Pachygnatha degeeri	5.5	2.2	0.8	1.9	0	3.0	0.9	0.9	3.0
	Erigone atra Erigone dentipalpis Oedothorax fuscus Oedothorax apicatus	32.9 45.2 0	32.8 31.1 0	$\frac{35.4}{22.2}$ $\frac{34.0}{3.2}$	24.8 17.0 3.9	$\frac{31.5}{32.3}$ $\frac{29.9}{1.6}$	<u>27.1</u> <u>39.4</u> <u>18.6</u> <u>1.9</u>	<u>37.5</u> <u>32.3</u> 8.6 1.7	46.2 29.1 3.4 0	$\frac{27.1}{39.4}$ $\frac{18.6}{1.9}$
b) Females	Pardosa agrestis Pardosa palustris Trochosa ruricola	0 3.6 0	$0 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.1$	0 3.7 0	0 1.2 0	0.0 9.0	1.6 0.8 0	1.6 1.6 0	3.1 1.6 0	1.6 0.8 0
	Pachygnatha degeeri	ו.7	0	0	2.3	0	0.8	0.8	0	0.8
	Erigone atra Erigone dentipalpis Oedothorax fuscus Oedothorax apicatus	14.3 10.7 0	0 9.4 0	11.0 6.1 12.2	10.5 2.3 0	6.3 6.3 79.3 0.9	9.5 3.2 77.0 2.4	4.8 2.4 3.2 3.2	7.8 4.7 75.0 1.6	9.5 3.2 77.0 2.4
Males + females	Pardosa agrestis Pardosa palustris Trochosa ruricola	4.0 5.9 0	1.4 7.1 4.2	0 1.7 0.4	0 0.7 0.3	0.4 0.4 0.8	4.6 0.8 1.3	7.6 4.8 0	7.7 5.0 0	4.6 0.8 1.3
	Pachygnatha degeeri	5.9	1.9	0.7	2.1	0	2.3	0.8	0.6	2.3
	Erigone atra Erigone dentipalpis Oedothorax fuscus Oedothorax apicatus	<u>27.7</u> <u>35.6</u> 16.8 0	<u>27.8</u> <u>27.8</u> <u>21.7</u> 0	31.0 36.9 4.8	20.5 12.7 2.7	$\frac{19.7}{52.7}$	21.5 27.8 37.2 2.0	<u>26.1</u> <u>21.9</u> <u>34.6</u> 2.2	32.6 20.4 0.6	21.5 27.8 37.2 2.0

Caidau familu	-	Mead	ow C1		Meadow	C4
Spider family		23.5.	5.6.	29.6.	12.7.	6./7.8.
Agelenidae	t	0	0	0	0	0
Araneidae	i	2.6	1.1	0.2	0	0.2
	a	0.2	0.9	0.2	0	0
	t	2.8	2.0	0.4	0	0.2
Tetragnathidae	i	3.0	0.8	1.2	4.5	6.2
	a	0	0.2	0.6	0.5	6.4
	t	3.0	1.0	1.8	5.0	12.6
Linyphiidae	i	0	0	1.2	0.5	0
	a	0	0.1	0	0	0.4
	t	0	0.1	1.2	0.5	0.4
Micryphantidae	i	0	0.2	0.6	0	0
	a	0.2	0.4	0.2	0	0
	t	0.2	0.6	0.8	0	0
Theridiidae	i	0.8	0.9	1.8	0	0
	a	0	0.2	1.0	0	1.4
	t	0.8	1.1	2.8	0	1.4
Dictynidae	a	0.2	0	0.2	0	0.2
Salticidae	i	0	0	0	4.0	9.4
	a	0	0	0	0.5	0
	t	0	0	0	4.5	9.4
Thomisidae	i	1.2	0	14.0	125.5	56.4
	a	0.9	0.9	1.2	0	0
	t	2.1	0.9	15.2	125.5	56.4
Philodromidae	i	0.4	0	0	0	0.2
	a	0	0	0.4	0	0
	t	0.4	0	0.4	0	0.2
Pisauridae	i	0	0	0	0	0.2
Lycosidae	i	0	0	0.4	0	1.6
	a	0	0	0	0	0.2
	t	0	0	0.4	0	1.8
Clubionidae	t	0	0	0	0	0
Unident. spiders	i	0.2	0	0	0.5	0.4
Total	i	8.2	3.0	19.4	135.0	74.6
	a	1.5	2.7	3.8	1.0	8.6
	t	9.7	5.7	23.2	136.0	83.2

Table 54. Relative density of the immature and adult spiders (no. of spiders/100 sweeps) in the vegetation zone of the cultivated meadows Cl (spring 1979) and C4 (summer 1979). i = immature stages, a = adult stages

Spider family		Meado	ow C5	М	leadow (26	Meado	w C7
Spider failing		11.6.	23.7.	26.6.	16.7. 18.7.	13.8.	12.6.	19.7.
Agelenidae	t	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Araneidae	i	0.1	0.6	0.1	0.4	0.6	0.6	1.6
	a	0.3	0	0.3	0.2	0	0.2	0
	t	0.4	0.6	0.4	0.6	0.6	0.8	1.6
Tetragnathidae	i a t	1.6 1.6	1.4 0.2 1.6	0 0.1 0.1	1.6 0 1.6	3.8 0 3.8	2.0 1.4 3.4	7.6 0.4 8.0
Linyphiidae	i	0.3	0	0.3	1.4	0.4	0	0
	a	0.3	0	0.1	0.4	1.2	0	0.6
	t	0.6	0	0.4	1.8	1.6	0	0.6
Micryphantidae	i	0	0.4	0.1	0.2	0.2	0	0
	a	0.6	0	0.1	0	0	0.4	0
	t	0.6	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.4	0
Theridiidae	i	0.1	0	0	0	0	0.4	0.4
	a	0.3	0	0.1	1.8	0	0	0.6
	t	0.4	0	0.1	1.8	0	0.4	1.0
Dictynidae	i	0.1	0	0	0	0	0	0
	a	0	0	0.1	0	0	0	0
	t	0.1	0	0.1	0	0	0	0
Salticidae	i	0	0	0.1	0	0	0	1.8
	a	0	0	0	0.2	0	0.2	0.2
	t	0	0	0.1	0.2	0	0.2	2.0
Thomisidae	i	0	2.0	0.3	3.0	0.6	1.0	38.8
	a	0	0	0	0	0	4.4	0.8
	t	0	2.0	0.3	3.0	0.6	5.4	39.6
Philodromidae	i	0.1	0	0	0.2	0	0	0
Pisauridae	i	0	0	0	1.2	0.4	0	0
Lycosidae	i	0	1.0	0	1.0	5.4	0	0.2
	a	0	0	0	0.2	0	0	0
	t	0	1.0	0	1.2	5.4	0	0.2
Clubionidae	i	0.1	0.2	0	0	0	0	0
Unid. spiders	i	0	0.2	0	0.8	0.8	0	0.2
Total	i	1.5	5.8	0.9	9.8	12.2	4.0	50.6
	a	2.4	0.2	0.8	2.8	1.2	6.6	2.6
	t	3.9	6.0	1.7	12.6	13.4	10.6	53.2

Table 55. Relative density of the immature and adult spiders (no. spiders/100 sweeps) in the vegetation zone of the cultivated meadows C5, C6 and C7 in summer 1979. i = immature stages, a = adult stages

Table 56. Relative density of the spiders (no. of spiders/100 sweeps) in the vegetation zone of five cultivated meadows near Zurich (spring/summer 1979). N = number of sweeps

Location	Socon	N	No. spic	lers/100	sweeps
Meadow	SedSUN	и	immature +	- adult	= total
C1	23.5.1979	1250	8.2	1.5	9.7
C1	5.6.1979	800	3.0	2.7	5.7
C4	29.6.1979	500	19.4	3.6	23.0
C4	12.7.1979	200	135.0	1.0	136.0
C4	6-7.8.1979	500	74.6	8.6	83.2
C5	11.6.1979	1000	1.5	2.4	3.9
C5	23.7.1979	500	5.8	0.2	6.0
C6	26.6.1979	800	0.9	0.8	1.7
C6	16-18.7.1979	500	9.8	2.8	12.6
C6	13.8.1979	500	12.2	1.2	13.4
C7	12.6.1979	500	4.0	6.6	10.6
C7	19.7.1979	500	50.6	2.6	53.2

Table 57. Horizontal distribution of the spiders in the vegetation zone (A) and on the ground surface (B) of cultivated meadows near Zurich. The data were investigated with the square method. Values with * deviate significantly from $I_{\delta} = 1$ (F-test, P <0.05).

Stratum	Location	Mown	Date	Squares	Morisita index I _ó
- A)	C4	-	15.5.1979	96 ^a	0.70
в)	C1	+	13.6.1979	80p	1.03
	C1	+	26.7.1979	40 ^b	1.76*
	C5	+	27.6.1979	20 ^a	1.05
	C5		26.7.1979	40 ^b	1.18

^a Square of 0.4 m x 0.4 m

^b Square of 0.2 m x 0.2 m

show that the horizontal distribution of the spiders of the two meadows represented a random distribution as well (F-test, p > 0.05) or, at the most, a slightly aggregated distribution (C1, July: F-test, p < 0.05).

From these spider distributions, a corresponding distribution can be derived for the predatory pressure which the spiders exert on insect populations.

3.2.5. Prey capture of spiders

3.2.5.1. Hunting strategies

The quantitative composition of the spiders, grouped according to their hunting strategies, is compiled in Table 58. It shows that the spectrum of hunting strategies used by the foliage-dwelling spiders differs from meadow to meadow. In certain cultivated meadows the web-building spiders predominated, in others the hunting spiders were more prevalent, even though no qualitative differences could be detected between the types of meadows.

From the fact that far more web-building spiders (mainly Micryphantidae) were caught in pitfall traps than cursorial spiders (Lycosidae) - Micry-phantidae having a lower "activity density" than the Lycosidae (HEYDEMANN, 1962) - one can gather that the former hunting strategy is the most frequently adopted on the ground surface.

3.2.5.2. Prey composition

Vegetation zone

<u>Orb-weaving spiders and space web spiders</u> - The prey compositions of the orb-weaving spiders in cultivated meadows consisted for the most part of small flying insects (Diptera). This is shown in Table 59 for <u>N. cornuta</u>. The prey of the Dictynidae, Linyphildae and Theridiidae, too, was mainly composed of small flying insects (Diptera, aphids).

Hunting spiders - The prey composition of foliage-dwelling crab spiders in cultivated meadows is represented in Table 60. The table indicates that they prey mostly on Diptera (about 60% of their food). The prey group second in importance are the Hymenoptera (about 16%). Among these, even large and well-armed prey insects as bees and bumble-bees are found.

Ground surface

<u>Web-building spiders</u> - The prey composition of the Micryphantidae living in cultivated meadows is represented in Table 61. The table shows that the food of the Micryphantidae consisted exclusively of small, soft-bodied prey organisms. Aphids, Diptera, and Collembola (predominantly Sminthuridae) were the most important prey components. Table 62 shows which Collembola and aphid species were captured by the Micryphantidae. The cereal aphids Rhopalosiphum padi L. and <u>Sitobion</u> <u>avenae</u> F. were also found among the captured aphids.

Hunting spiders - The prey composition of the Lycosidae living in cultivated meadows is represented in Table 63. The table indicates that the prey of the Lycosidae in meadows consists for the most part of small,

Table 58. Frequencies in percent of the hunting strategies used by the spiders in the vegetation zone of five cultivated meadows near Zurich at different seasons in 1979. The frequencies were calculated from the data of the Tables 44-48.

Location	Hunting strategy		S	e a s	on	
Meadow		May %	June %	July %	August %	Total %
C1	Orb-weaving spiders	59.02	52.17			57.15
	Space web spiders ^a	10.66	32.61			16.67
	Hunting spiders	21.57	15.22			22.62
	Unident. spiders	4.92	0			3.57
C4	Orb-weaving spiders		8.70	4.05	8.17	6.47
	Space web spiders		21.74	0.37	2.16	4.36
	Hunting spiders		69.57	95.59	89.18	88.66
	Unident. spiders		0	0.37	0.48	0.37
C5	Orb-weaving spiders		51.29	36.66		44.92
	Space web spiders		43.58	6.67		27.54
	Hunting spiders		5.12	53.33		26.09
	Unident. spiders		0	3.33		1.45
C6	Orb-weaving spiders		28.57	17.46	32.84	25.69
	Space web spiders		50.00	30.17	11.94	23.60
	Hunting spiders		21.43	46.03	47.77	44.45
	Unident. spiders		0	6.35	7.46	6.25
C7	Orb-weaving spiders		39.63	18.05		21.63
	Space web spiders		7.54	3.01		3.76
	Hunting spiders		52.83	78.58		74.29
	Unident. spiders		0	0.38		0.31

^a The expression "space web spiders" refers to all web-building spiders not constructing an orb-web

Table	59.	Prey composition of <u>Nuctenea</u> cornuta in
		the cultivated meadow C9 (spring 1979).

Prey type	May %	June %
Diptera	<u>95.95</u>	83.48
Small Hymenoptera	0	0.87
Winged aphids	2.39	0.87
Lepidoptera	0	0.87
Trichoptera	0	2.61
Ephemeroptera	0.18	0
Coleoptera	0	2.61
Unidentified prey	1.47	8.70
No. prey items	543	115
No. webs	55	27
No. observation days	2	2

Table 60. Prey composition of foliage-dwelling and of grounddwelling crab spiders in cultivated meadows near Zurich (data from several meadows combined, study years 1976-1978).

Spider group	Foliage-dwelling crab spiders (<u>Xysticus</u> spp.) N = 134	Ground-dwelling crab spiders (Xysticus spp.) N = 37
Prey composition in %:	<u> </u>	
Collembola	0	5.7
Orthoptera	0	2.9
Thysanoptera	4.0	0
Heteroptera	0.8	2.9
Cicadas	0.8	2.9
Aphidae	0	11.4
Carabidae	0	5.7
Other Coleoptera	4.8	2.9
Diptera	64.8	0
Lepidoptera	1.6	0
Apidae	4.0	0
Ants	4.8	34.3
Other Hymenoptera	8.0	2.9
Spiders	6.4	25.7
Lumbricide worms	0	2.9

- 86 -

Table 61. Prey composition of small ground-dwelling web-building spiders (mainly Micryphantidae) in cultivated meadows near Zurich (study year 1977).

Durau	C2 + C4	C8	C10	Total	
Prey	N	N	N	N	%
Collembola	53	12	10	75	45.45
Apterous aphids	15	24	0	39	23.64
Winged aphids	2	2	0	4	2.42
Small Diptera	7	4	1	12	7.27
Small Hymenoptera	3	1	2	6	3.64
Thysanoptera	3	1	1	5	3.03
Mites	2	3	0	5	3.03
Small cicadas	4	0	0	4	2.42
Small Heteroptera	1	0	0	1	0.61
Small Orthoptera	1	0	0	1	0.61
Larvae of insects	0	2	0	2	1.21
Unidentified prey	8	1	2	11	6.67
Total	99	50	16	165	100.0

Table 62. Species of Collembola and aphids in the food of small ground-dwelling web-building spiders. Observations in cultivated meadows near Zurich (year 1977).

Group	Species	Meadow	Meadow	Meadow
Family		C2 + C4	C8	C10
<u>Collembola</u>				
Sminthuridae	<u>Sminthurus</u> viridis	+	+	+
	Heterosminthurus bilineat	is +	+	
	Deuterosminthurus flavus			+
	<u>Dicyrtomina minuta</u>	+		
Entomobryidae	Orchesella villosa	+		
	Lepidocyrtus lanuginosus-	group +		
	gen. spec. immature	+		
Isotomidae	Isotomurus palustris	+		
Aphids				
	Rhopalosiphum padi a¹	+		
	Rhopalosiphum padi? 1		+	
	Sitobion avenae 1	+		
	Anoecia corni ω		+	
	Pemphigidae ω	+		

¹] = larva, a = apterous, ω = winged

Location	Date	Collembola	Aphidae	Diptera	Small cicadas	Small lepidop- teran larvae	Ants	Small spiders	Unidentified arthropods
C2	6.9.		-	-	-	-	-	-	1
C4	8. 9.	2	1	-	-	-	-	-	-
C4	8. 9.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
C4	10. 9.	-	-	۱ª	-	-	-	-	1
C4	15. 9.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
C4	17. 9.	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-
C4	21. 9.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
C4	22. 9.	-	1	-	-	-	-	1	-
C4	24. 9.	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
C4	26. 9.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5
C4	4.10.	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	3
C4	5.10.	-	2	-	-	-	-	-	2
C4	7.10.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
сь		1	-	-	-	-	-	-	
C4	6.6.	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-
C2	12. 6.	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-
C4	12. 6.	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
C4	30. 6.	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-
C2	3.7.	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-
C2	15.7.	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-
TOTAL		4	7	(3)	1	1	1	ı	17
_			and the second data and the						

Table 63. Prey composition of wolf spiders (<u>Pardosa</u> spp.) in cultivated meadows near Zurich (study years 1977 and 1978).

^a Possibly a small hymenopteran

^b Meadow near Zurich-Weiningen

soft-bodied prey organisms. Aphids, Collembola (e.g. <u>Orchesella villosa</u> (Geoffroy)), and Diptera seem to form the most important food components of the Lycosidae.

Occasionally, crab spiders (X. cristatus) were also seen on the ground surface of cultivated meadows. Especially after mowing, ground-dwelling X. cristatus were rather frequent. Table 60 (right column) gives information on the food composition of such crab spiders. They fed mainly on ants and spiders (e.g. wolf spiders). In addition, they captured aphids, Carabidae, and Collembola (e.g. Orchesella villosa (Geoffroy)). Even small lumbricide worms were present in the food of ground-dwelling crab spiders.

As the prey compositions (Tables 59-63) indicate, the spiders living in cultivated meadows catch neutral insects (e.g. Diptera), pest insects (e.g. cereal aphids), and beneficial insects (e.g. bees).

3.2.5.3. Prey size

Most spiders living in cultivated meadows captured mainly small, soft-bodied prey of merely 1-3 mm body-length. Such prey organisms have a fresh weight of only 1-2 mg.

3.2.5.4. Prey capture rates

About 10 insects/web/day on the average were counted in webs of N. cornuta in the cultivated meadow C9 in May 1979.

Of the hunting spiders, less than 10% of a population were found feeding at any given time (Tables 64-66). Adult wolf spiders (<u>P. agrestis</u>) spend about 45-60 min for the consumption of a small prey (Table 67). These data being known, the prey capture rate was calculated by means of the method of EDGAR (1969, 1970) (see 2.3.8.2.). It amounts to about 1 prey item/spider/day.

3.2.6. Niche overlap of spiders concerning food

The prey compositions of Araneidae and Thomisidae show a large overlap at order level. Both spider families feed on small Diptera for the most part (see 3.2.5.2.).

The prey compositions of Micryphantidae and Lycosidae had relatively large overlaps at order level, too. Both spider families lived mostly on small, soft-bodied prey organisms (aphids, Collembola, Diptera).

3.2.7. Predator-prey relations between crab spiders and wolf spiders

In cultivated meadows, crab spiders come occasionally into collision with wolf spiders, especially after mowing. If one looks at the chelicerae of the two spider families, it should seem that the highly active <u>Pardosa</u> species, which have significantly larger fangs than the clumsier <u>Xysticus</u> species equipped with only moderately developed mouthparts, would dominate over the <u>Xysticus</u> species (Fig. 4).

If one compares the four pairs of legs of the two spider families however, it is evident that the two pairs of forelegs of the crab spiders are much stronger than those of the wolf spiders (Fig. 5). By taking advantage of the element of surprise, the crab spiders can defeat well-armed

Table 64.	Feeding activity of crab spiders (Xysticus spp.). Numbers of
	crab spiders captured in the cultivated meadow C4 and percen-
	tage of spiders feeding (years 1977 and 1978).

Date	Hours of observation	Number of spiders captured	Number of spiders feeding
6.5.1977	10-12	10	2
14.5.1977	14-16	18	0
12.7.1977	18-20	14	5
16.7.1977	10-12	90	5
22.7.1977	16-18	194	14
Total (1977)		326 (= 100 %)	26 (= 7.98 %)
24.4.1978	12-16	7	0
26.4.1978	12-16	19	4
3.5.1978	12-16	11	2
10.5.1978	14-16	4	0
17.5.1978	14-16	17	0
30.5.1978	16-18	1	0
1.6.1978	10-12	3	0
6.6.1978	10-12	2	0
12.6.1978	10-12	5	0
Total (1978)		69 (= 100 %)	6 (= 8.70 %)
Total (1977 +	1978)	395 (= 100 %)	32 (= 8.10 %)

Date	Hours of observation	Number of spiders captured	Number of spiders feeding	Percentage of spiders feeding
6. 9.1977	14-16	9	0	0
7. 9.1977	14-18	22	0	0
8. 9.1977	10-12	14	3]	10.0
	16-18	26	1]	
10. 9.1977	10-12	20	0	
	14-16	17	1	5.1
	14-18	27	1]	
14. 9.1977	14-16	21	0	0
15. 9.1977	16-18	23	1	4.3
17. 9.1977	14-16	24	1	4.2
21. 9.1977	14-16	20	1	5.0
22. 9.1977	12-16	53	2	3.8
23. 9.1977	14-16	22	0	0
24. 9.1977	12-16	36	2	5.6
26. 9.1977	10-14	23	1]	9.8
	14-18	28	4	
4.10.1977	14-16	43	4	9.3
5.10.1977	10-12	10	0]	8.0
	14-16	40	4	
7.10.1977	10-12	20	1	5.0
18.10.1977	16-18	8	0	0
TOTAL		506	27	5.3

Table 65.	Feeding activity of wolf spiders (Pardosa spp.). Numbers of
	wolf spiders captured in the cultivated meadow C4 and per-
	centage of spiders feeding (study year 1977).

Location and date	Hours of observation	Number of spiders captured	Number of spiders feeding	Percentage of spiders feeding
Meadow C2:				
12.6.1978	12-14	10	1	(10.0)
3.7.1978	14-18	20 ^a	1	5.0
15.7.1978	14-16	15	1	(6.7)
3.8.1978	?	10	0	(0)
Total Meadow	v C2	55	3	5.5
Meadow C4:			×	
20.4.1978	14-16	21	0	0
24.4.1978	12-16	25	٢	4.0
26.4.1978	12-16	40	0	0
3.5.1978	12-16	24	1	4.2
10.5.1978	14-16	20	1	5.0
17.5.1978	14-16	20	1	5.0
1.6.1978	10-12	10	0	(0)
6.6.1978	10-12	14	1	(7.1)
12.6.1978	10-12	12	2	(16.7)
30.6.1978	10-14	18	1	5.6
Total Meadow	v C4	204	8	3.9
Total Meadow	ws C2 + C4	259	11	4.3

Table 66. Feeding activity of wolf spiders (<u>Pardosa</u> spp.). Numbers of wolf spiders captured in two cultivated meadows and percentage of spiders feeding (study year 1978).

a Incl. Pirata spec.

Table 67. Time (in minutes) spent for the consumption of one prey item by adult males and females of Pardosa agrestis at room temperature in the laboratory.

Drov		males			females	
Liey	z	r ± sD	Range	z		Range
Small Heteroptera	ø	66.81 ± 35.87	16.5-135*	8	47.50 ± 38.87	21 -130
Aphidae	7	68.86 ± 42.18	15 -122*	7	55.71 ± 41.43	10 -128
Small Diptera	Ξ	30.05 ± 31.29	8 -120	4	57.75 ± 75.46	7 -170*
Thomisidae (imm.)	ۍ.	64.00 [±] 55.23	22 -160*	4	68.13 ± 30.85	29.5- 94
Lycosidae (imm.)	15	17.30 ± 2.36	11.5- 26	Ξ	8.32 ± 3.42	5 - 15
Mean value		49.40			47.48	

* Observations terminated; the upper limit of the range would therefore be larger

- 94 -



Fig. 4. Comparison of the mouthparts of crab spiders (Xysticus spp.) and wolf spiders (Pardosa spp.). The different formation of the chelicerae of the two spider families is an expression of different feeding behaviours.



Fig. 5. Comparison of the habits of a crab spider (<u>Xysticus</u> sp.) and of a wolf spider (<u>Pardosa</u> sp.). arthropods (e.g. wolf spiders) with the help of these legs. In all confrontations observed between individuals of the two spider families, the wolf spiders were always killed by the crab spiders. Crab spiders are potential predators of wolf spiders. It has been observed also in Great Britain and Japan that crab spiders killed wolf spiders (ORI, 1974; O'NEILL, pers. comm.).

3.2.8. Energy flow through the ground-dwelling spider communities

The prey killing rate of ground-dwelling spiders was not investigated. But the energy flow (= food consumed) through the ground-dwelling web-building spider guild could be estimated by means of the method described in section 2.3.10.2. It was calculated to be about 155-419 kJ/ ha/day. Supposing 100 activity days per year, this would amount to 15-40 MJ/ha/year.

3.3. The role of spiders as insect predators in cereal fields

3.3.1. Immigration into cereal fields

Data on the time of immigration, the time of harvest and the spiders' duration of stay in the fields are compiled in Table 68. The values in the table indicate that spiders can live in cereal fields only for a limited length of time, from the time of immigration to the time when the fields are harvested. The harvest is a severe stress for the spiders' of the vegetation zone (destruction of the living space and the spiders' egg sacs). For this reason, a recolonization of the fields from the surrounding land is necessary every year. As a consequence of the periodic disturbance of the spider population through mowing, the spider densities in the vegetation zone of cereal fields are very low (Table 68).

To what extent the soil cultivation influences the ground-dwelling spider populations, was not examined within the framework of this thesis. Compared to the vegetation zone, the spider densities on the ground surface of cereal fields are relatively high (Table 69).

3.3.2. Spider communities of cereal fields

3.3.2.1. Vegetation zone

The family and species composition of the foliage-dwelling spiders in cereal fields was investigated by direct observations. The data of 1976-1977 are compiled in Table 70. Further observations in the years 1978-1981 were not made quantitatively.

Web-building spiders of the families Araneidae (<u>Araniella</u> <u>cucurbitina/opisthographa*, A. ceropegia, N. cornuta, M. acalypha</u>), Tetragnathidae (<u>I. extensa</u>, <u>T. pinicola</u>), Theridiidae (<u>T. impressum</u> a.o.) and Linyphiidae (<u>L. triangularis</u> a.o.) prevailed in the vegetation zone of cereal fields.

Hunting spiders of the family Thomisidae (<u>Xysticus</u> spp.) were only rarely observed.

Araniella cucurbitina (C1.) and Araniella opisthographa (Kulcz.) are two species which could not be visually distinguished in the field.

of colonization, as well as density of the spiders	ich.
uo Uo	, Zur
Irati	near
, du	spli
vest	fie
har	real
e of	f Ce
ţi	ne o
ion,	n zo
grat	atio
immi	eget
of	hev
Time	in t
68.	
- el c	
Tat	

Crop	Time of harvest	Duration of vegetation of the crop (days)	Time of immigration of spiders into the fields	Duration of colonization of fields (days/year)	Population density as spiders/m ² in 1976/77
Summer cereal fields	July	120 - 160	May to June	about 60	
Winter cereal fields	July	300	April to June	" 70) 0.0
Maize fields	October	140 - 180	June	" 130	≰ 0.1

Table 69. Density of the ground-dwelling web-building spiders in three maize fields and in two winter wheat fields near Zurich (study years 1978 and 1979).

Location	Crop	Date	No. squares	Spiders/m ²
Weiningen	maize	6.6.1978	65 ^a	13.38
Milchbuck	maize	12.6.1978	20 ^a	19.00
Reckenholz	maize	14.7.1978	20 ^a	35.00
Reckenholz	winter wheat	7.6.1978	40 ^b	53.13
Reckenholz	winter wheat	16.5.1979	50 ^C	11.88

^a Square of 0.33 m x 0.33 m

^b Square of 0.20 m x 0.20 m

^c Square of 0.40 m x 0.40 m

Table 70. Composition of th immature spiders	le spider f counted by	auna in the direct ob:	e vegetation servation.	zone of cere	eal fields ne	ear Zurich in	1976/77.	Adult and
Crop	Oats	Maize	Wheat	Wheat	Barley	Barley	Rye	
Location	Höngg	di verse	Schlieren	Reckenholz	Weiningen	Katzensee	Höngg	Total
Season or month(s)	summer	summer/ autumn	VI-VII	11V-V	1 v -v	>	11V-V	
Araniella cucurbitina ^a Araniella opisthographa ^a	53		25	œ	e e	9	10	105
Aculepeira ceropegia	50	9	ł	4	2	٦	8	11
Araneus diadematus	129	-	4	J	•	ı	-	131
Nuctenea cornuta	I	16	19	2	66	ı	ı	103
Nuctenea sp.	ı	4	ı	I	ı	ı	ı	4
Mangora acalypha	7	ı	m	9	ı	ı	ı	16
Meta sp.	1	m	ł	ı	ı	-	•	4
Zygiella sp.	18	-	ı	I	·	ı	ı	61
Cyclosa sp.	,	ı.	ı	ı	•	ŀ		-
Araneidae gen. sp.	25	291b	15	8	ł	,	-	340
Tetragnatha sp.	ო	12	9	20	-	50	1	92
Theridiidae	43	36	24	12	ł	-	-	117
Linyphiidae]	28	2	L.	ı	ı	~	σ	46
Thomisidae J	1	1		:		I	1	?
Philodromidae	9	9	-	-	4	m	=	32
Salticidae	ı	·	-	ı	ı	ı	2	n
Unidentified spiders	31	35	-	-	ı	ı	9	74
Total	393	413	100	62	76	64	50	1158
^a Two species which could n	ot be visu	ally distir	nguished in t	he field, ^t) Immature or	b-weaving sp	iders	

In contrast to abandoned grasslands, jumping spiders and large funnel web spiders were only seldom encountered in cereal fields. The same is true for <u>A</u>. bruennichi and <u>A</u>. quadratus, which predominate in abandoned grasslands.

It is conspicuous that the spider fauna in the vegetation zone of cereal fields consists to a large extent of orb-weaving spiders (Araneidae, Tetragnathidae). The Araneidae found in maize fields show a significantly higher percentage of immature stages than in the rest of the cereal crops (χ^2 2 x 2 contingency table, p <0.01). The almost complete absence of adult orb-weaving spiders in maize fields might be explained by the fact that maize develops a dense plant stand much later than the other cereals.

The composition of the spider fauna differs from field to field. In each case, however, it depends on the surroundings of the field. Predominantly medium-sized species (see Table 13) are found among the adult foliage-dwelling spiders, <u>A. ceropegia</u> being the largest species in cereal fields.

3.3.2.2. Ground surface

The family and species compositions of spiders established by means of pitfall traps on the ground of winter wheat fields are compiled in Tables 71-73. Spiders belonging to the families Micryphantidae and Lycosidae predominated.

In Tables 72-73, the composition of spider species captured frequently on the ground surface of winter wheat fields is listed for the years 1977-78. P. agrestis, P. palustris, E. atra, E. dentipalpis, and <u>Oedothorax apicatus</u> (Blackw.) were the most frequent species found in pitfall traps. Similar results have been obtained in 1979. Comparable data were also collected in other cereal fields.

Most spiders living on the ground surface of cereal fields are of small body size (Micryphantidae, see Table 13). Wolf spiders of the genus Trochosa are the largest spiders on the ground of cereal fields.

3.3.3. Seasonal change of abundance and daily activity

3.3.3.1. Seasonal change of abundance

In Table 74, the seasonal occurrence of the predominant spiders in the fields is compared to the seasonal development of the cereal vegetation. As the table indicates, most spiders migrate into the vegetation zone of the fields in spring only after the stem elongation has occurred. The colonizing spiders come from small, intact marginal biotopes, such as stripes of meadows, and forest fringes. From the time of immigration up to the harvest, the spiders spend only 60-70 days in cereal fields and about 130 days in maize fields (Table 68).

The ground-dwelling spiders show statistically significant differences of abundance in different seasons (analysis of variance, p < 0.01).

3.3.3.2. Daily activity

The orb-weaving spider N. cornuta is prevalently nocturnal. Fig. 6

Table 71. Family composition in % of the ground-dwelling spiders in a winter wheat field near Zurich-Reckenholz (year 1978; traps dug into the ground on May 21).

	Traps emptied on:							
Spider family	1.6.	19.6.	4.7.	31.7.	Total			
	N= 89	N=432	N=118	N=235	N=874			
Micryphantidae	87.6	52.6	88.1	<u>94.5</u>	72.4			
Lycosidae	11.2	44.0	8.4	0.4	24.1			
Tetragnathidae	0	0.9	0.8	0	0.6			
Linyphiidae	0	1.2	0	0	0.6			
Thomisidae	0	0.2	0	0	0.1			
Unidentified spiders	1.1	1.2	2.5	4.3	2.1			
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0			

Table 72. The dominant ground-dwelling spider species in a winter wheat field near Zurich-Reckenholz (year 1977, traps dug into the ground on May 17).

		Trap	os em	ptied	ion:	
Spider species	26.5.	3.6.	18.6.	5.7.	20.7.	3.8.
	N= 502	N= 373	N=1490	N=1647	N=4289	N=4572
	%	%	%	%	%	%
Erigone atra Erigone dentipalpis de	33	20	<u>44</u>	50	<u>36</u>	<u>19</u>
Erigone atra	2 0	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0.7
Erigone dentipalpis S	? 0	0	0.3	0.9	0.4	0.7
<u>Oedothorax</u> apicatus d	9	3	6	<u>17</u>	23	20
Oedothorax fuscus d	0	0.3	0.3	0.5	1	1.5
Oedothorax apicatus Oedothorax fuscus	<u>29</u>	<u>16</u>	9	6	29	<u>36</u>
Pardosa agrestis	<u>, 16</u>	35	13	4	0.2	4
Pardosa palustris	5 3	13	2	0.2	0	0.1
Pardosa agrestis	? 7	4	2	1	0.3	2
Pardosa palustris	< 0.5	< 0.5	0	0.1	0	0.04

Table 73. The dominant ground-dwelling spider species in a winter wheat field near Zurich-Reckenholz (year 1978, traps dug into the ground on May 21).

		· Tr	aps	empti	ed o	on:
Spider species		1.6. N- 89	19.6. N=432	4.7. N-118	31.7. N=235	Total N=874
				%	%	%
Erigone atra	ੈ	<u>34</u>	21	31	26	<u>25</u>
Erigone atra	ę	0	0.7	2.5	0	0.7
Erigone dentipalpis	రే	<u>24</u>	18	<u>30</u>	18	20
Erigone dentipalpis	ç	0	0.7	2	0.9	0.8
Oedothorax apicatus	ೆ	6	3	9	<u>19</u>	8
Oedothorax apicatus	Ŷ	24	8	3	28	14
Pardosa agrestis	ੈ	8	29	2.5	0	<u>16</u>
Pardosa agrestis	ç	1	3	4	0	2
Pardosa palustris	ే	2	<u>11</u>	0	0	6
Pardosa palustris	Ŷ	0	0	0	0	0
Other spiders	₫/₽	2	6	<u>15</u> ^a	8	7

^a Among them 7.6% males of Erigone spp. with destroied pedipalps


Spider species	March	April	May J	une	July	
-	9 10 11 12 13	14 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22 23	24 25 26 27	28 29. w	week
N. cornuta						
Araniella sp.						
A. ceropegia						
M. acalypha						
Araneidae gen. sp. (immat.)						
Tetragnatha sp.						
T. impressum					I	
Thomisidae gen. sp.					Į	
Phase of the development of the fields		stem elongation	blossom	maturit	ty + harv	vest





represents the feeding activity and number of prey/web of N. cornuta at different daytimes. This spider species captures its prey at night in the following manner: The web-building activity is induced in the evening twilight, when the intensity of the light drops below a critical intensity. The building of an orb-web requires 30-60 minutes. At about the same time, the flying activity of many cereal insects active at night or in the twilight begins. Tipulidae, Noctuidae, Pyralidae, and Chrysopidae begin to fly about, and many small Nematocerae swarm in the flowering zone of the field, where the orb-webs, about 25 cm in diameter, have been built. These now continuously filter the swarms of nocturnal flying insects. Most of the prey gets caught in the webs between 20.30 and 22.30; during these two hours, the spiders captured 10-20 prey items/web on the average. The hungry spider starts feeding immediately after having built the web. The highest feeding activity lies between 22.00 and 24.00. Since only occasionally prey organisms fly into the webs after 22.00, the webs are gradually emptied through the spiders' feeding activity. The spiders' feeding activity diminishes after midnight and ends towards daybreak. The spiders then retire into their retreats where they hide during the day.

Most of the other orb-weaving spiders were observed feeding during the day and at night (e.g. A. diadematus and A. ceropegia, Table 75). Space web spiders of the families Theridiidae, Linyphiidae and Micryphantidae are also diurnal and nocturnal, whereas wolf spiders of the genus Pardosa are prevalently diurnal.

3.3.4. Spatial distribution of spiders

3.3.4.1. Vertical distribution of spiders

In cereal fields, we find spiders from the ground surface up to the flowering zone (Table 76). As can be derived from section 3.3.1.2., most spiders live near the ground (>90%).

3.3.4.2. Horizontal distribution

In 1977 and 1979, the horizontal distribution of the spiders of the vegetation zone and the ground surface in winter wheat fields was studied by means of the square method, and the index of Morisita was calculated (Table 77). The observed distributions of the foliage-dwelling spiders did not statistically deviate significantly from a random distribution (F-test, p > 0.05). The same is true for the distribution of the ground-dwelling web-building spiders (Micryphantidae) in the winter wheat fields as well as in other wheat fields and in two maize fields (F-test, p > 0.05). However, a slightly aggregated distribution was noted in another maize field (F-test, p < 0.05).

The horizontal distribution of the ground-dwelling spiders was also studied by means of pitfall traps in a winter wheat field at different seasons. Although the Figs. 7-18 give only the activity-densities of the ground-dwelling spiders, the figures may be regarded as graphical representations of the horizontal distribution of these spiders. The Figs. 7-12 show the horizontal distribution of the Micryphantidae at different times of the year. A comparison of the capture rates of the traps on the border of the field with those in the centre did not show

Table 75.	Feeding activity in % of two orb-weaving spider species (% f) at different times of day in an oat field near Zurich-Höngg in summer 1976 (N = no. spiders observed). Activity values followed by the same letter differ significantly (χ^2
	test 2 x 2 contingency table, $P < 0.05$).

Hours of	<u>A. di</u>	adematus	<u>A. ceropegia</u>		
observation	N	% f	N	% f	
00-04	33	21.2 d	-	-	
04-08	60	10.0 ac	-	-	
08-12	112	25.0 a	22	18.2	
12-16	25	20.0 b	12	25.0	
16-20	11	63.6 abcd	11	45.5	
20-24	48	27.1 c	9	22.2	

Table 76. Vertical distribution of the orb-weaving spiders and of <u>Achaeara-nea riparia</u> in the vegetation zone of a winter wheat field near Zurich-Reckenholz in June 1979; the vegetation was 1.2 m high.

Height c orb hub above gr (cm)	of <u>Mangora</u> round <u>acalyp</u> t	a Other Ta orb-weaver	All rs orb-	weavers	Acha ripa	iearanea iria
100 - 12	25 3	0	3	(3%)	0	(0%)
75 - 10	0 6	19	25	(25 %)	0	(0%)
50 - 7	5 42	16	58	(59 %)	0	(0%)
25 - 5	io 12	1	13	(13 %)	0	(0%)
0 - 2	25 0	0	0	(0%)	38	(<u>100 %</u>)
Total	63	36	99	(100 %)	38	(100 %)

Stratum	Crop	Location	Date	No. squares	Morisita index I _ô
Vegetation	Winter wheat Winter wheat	Reckenholz Reckenholz	16.7.1977 22.5.1979	35 ^a 100 ^b	1.11 0.67
Ground surface	Maize Maize Maize Winter wheat Winter wheat	Weiningen Milchbuck Reckenholz Reckenholz	6.6.1978 12.6.1978 14.7.1978 7.6.1978 16.5.1979	65 ^c 20 ^c 20 ^c 40 ^d 50 ^b	1.29* 1.34 1.03 0.96 0.75
^a Square of 1. ^b Square of 0. ^c Square of 0. ^d Square of 0.	00 m × 1.00 m 40 m × 0.40 m 33 m × 0.33 m 20 m × 0.20 m				

- Figs. 7-12. Horizontal distribution of the ground-dwelling sheet-web spiders (mainly Micryphantidae) captured by pitfall traps in a winter wheat field near Zurich-Reckenholz in the year 1977. Each square represents a pitfall trap. The number of points per square represents the number of spiders captured per trap and per time unit. A horizontal bar instead of a number means that the pitfall trap was destroied. The distribution of the squares corresponds with the distribution of the pitfall traps in the field (comp. Fig. 2). Traps emptied on May 26 (Fig. 7), June 3 (Fig. 8), June 18 (Fig. 9), July 5 (Fig. 10), July 20 (Fig. 11), and August 3 (Fig. 12).
- Figs. 13-18. Horizontal distribution of the wolf spiders (mainly <u>Pardosa</u> <u>agrestis</u> and <u>P. palustris</u>) captured by pitfall traps in a winter wheat field near Zurich-Reckenholz (otherwise as Figs. 7-12, see above). Traps emptied on May 26 (Fig. 13), June 3 (Fig. 14), June 18 (Fig. 15), July 5 (Fig. 16), July 20 (Fig. 17), and August 3 (Fig. 18).

1	13	ο	16	13	14	18	.12	10
3	13	0	8	11	4	10	10	8
7	5	14	4	6	7	6	9	10
13	1	0	17	12	13		8	16
8	0	4	8	6	1	7	7	7

Fig. 8

8	6	12	8	4	6	6	6	4
4	1	6	8	4	4	2	4	4
2	4	o	10	4	1	13	2	1
2	0	6	2	1	2	2	5	5
1	0	0	0	2	1	2	5	2

Fig. 9

57	20	24	54	51	52	15	28	—
24	27	33	27	39	22	16	24	6
26	38	24	29	34	41	32	46	11
-	30	17	25	38	36	—	16	21
16	9	15	11	7	11	14	23	16

Fig. 10

52	18	23	35	51	44	25	14	20
66	24	22	35	46	18	29	54	13
45	27	6	23	69	31	31	33	40
50	43	40	37	75	39	30	45	52
68	63	31	11	20	21	25	0	30

Fig. 11

74	50	58	70	13	73	61	76	108
89	122	70	129	159	81	125	190	-
96	67	108	57	115	57	76	136	—
	90	100	129	144	166	132	143	254
102	49	86	63	117	68	65	65	76

Fig. 12

_	125	88	79	—	105	94	109	
50	163	75	38	75	120	77	118	102
0	83	103	117	104	126	140	117	166
90	-	109	33	70	62	123	68	164
81	_	82	43	84	96	104	73	_

Fig. 13

1	1	ο	2	ο	1	1	7	4
2	15	0	0	0	2	1	7	1
3	ο	3	3	0	1	7	1	2
4	0	o	5	6	6		13	4
8	o	2	0	o	4	4	3	1

Fig. 14

11	8	3	3	1	8	6	17	12
4	14	2	2	3	1	2	2	1
7	1	0	3	—	1	8	3	1
4	5	2	5	6	11	0	2	2
15	0	4	0	2	7	4	6	1

Fig. 15

6	6	9	3	3	11	9	6	
5	9	10	2	14	11	2	2	0
20	4	4	3	0	16	5	6	3
· · · · ·	1	2	5	8	29		11	0
26	5	3	4	8	4	4	4	3

4	0	2	1	0	ο	0	4	_
1	2	о	1	8	12	0	ο	ο
2	0	0	4	0	8	3	1	—
_	o	1	2	5	3	—	3	1
7	6	0	1	2	4	2	0	—

Fig. 17

1	0	1	0	0	ο	0	1	1
0	2	ο	0	1	1	1	1	—
0	-1	o	1	o	0	1	0	-
	ο	o	o	o	4	1	2	5
1	1	1	1	0	2	0	1	1

Fig. 18

_	2	0	4	—	0	2	6	_
1	12	1	0	18	4	5	7	2
0	1	2	0	2	4	4	7	6
18		ο	1	1	34	4	8	112
6	-	0	0	1	0	1	3	—

statistically significant differences (t-test*, p > 0.05). Thus no note-worthy edge effect could be detected.

The same is true for the hunting spiders living on the ground. A graphical representation of the horizontal distribution of the Lycosidae in the winter wheat field at different seasons is given in the Figs. 13-18.

3.3.5. Prey capture of spiders

3.3.5.1. Hunting strategies

Table 78 gives a view over the hunting strategies of the spiders living in cereal fields. In the vegetation zone of cereal fields, 95-98% of all spiders capture their prey by means of webs, and only 2-5% catch their food as hunting spiders without webs. The proportion of orb-weaving spiders (families Araneidae and Tetragnathidae) of the total of all web-building spiders of cereal fields was 75-88%.

In the pitfall traps, 75% were web-building spiders and 25% hunting spiders. This indicates that most ground-dwelling spiders in cereal fields capture their prey by means of webs.

3.3.5.2. Prey composition

Vegetation zone

Orb-weaving spiders - The prey compositions of orb-weaving spiders of wheat, barley, rye, oat and maize fields are represented in Table 79. The table indicates that Diptera (68.8-92.1%), and winged aphids (4.0-17.5%) prevail in the prey compositions of orb-weaving spiders in cereal fields. Detailed information on the prey compositions of orb-weaving spiders in cereal fields are given by NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a).

<u>Space web spiders</u> - Table 80 shows the prey compositions of <u>T. impressum</u> in wheat and oat fields. Diptera and aphids are the most important components of the food of <u>T. impressum</u>. The prey of the foliage-dwelling Linyphidae in cereal fields also consisted mostly of small Diptera and Homoptera.

^{*}The asymmetric distribution of the data was corrected, in order to permit the use of the t-test.

Spider species, and/or genus	Hunting manner	Mesh width (mm)	Web Ø cm	Web area cm ²
Nuctenea cornuta	orb-web	3-4	20-30	500
Araniella cucurbitina	н	2-3	6-8	40
Aculepeira ceropegia		1-3	20-30	500
Araneus diadematus	н	3	15-25	300
Mangora acalypha		1	14	150
Araneidae gen. sp. (imm.)	н	1-2	2-8	20
Tetragnatha spp.	u	3	8-15	100
<u>Pachygnatha</u> <u>degeeri</u> (imm.)	"		2.5	5
Theridion impressum	irregular web	-	-	-
<u>Achaearanea</u> riparia	tangled web	-	-	-
Linyphia spp.	sheet-web	-	-	-
Erigone spp.	н	-	-	-
Oedothorax spp.	u	-	-	-
<u>Xysticus</u> spp.	ambusher	-	-	-
<u>Pardosa</u> spp. ^a	runner	-	-	-

Table 78. The hunting strategies of the spiders living in cereal fields.

^a In the literature the <u>Pardosa</u> spp. are usually described as runners. However, FORD (1978) found that <u>Pardosa amentata</u> adopts a "sit-and-wait" strategy with periodic changes of site.

		1976		19	77
Prey	Rye %	Oats %	Maize %	Wheat %	Barley %
Heteroptera	0.2	0.4	1.7	0	0
Thysanoptera	0	0.9	5.8	10.2	0.8
Aphidae	17.5	5.6	12.7	14.8	4.0
Coleoptera	0.3	1.7	1.2	0.2	0.8
Hymenopte ra	0	1.3	0	1.0	0.4
Chrysopidae	3.9	1.3	0.6	0	0.8
Diptera	77.6	71.5	68.8	<u>68.4</u>	<u>92.1</u>
Number of prey items	375	231	144	412	529

Table 79. Prey composition of orb-weaving spiders in the vegetation zone of cereal fields near Zurich (years 1976-1977).

Table 80. Prey composition of <u>Theridion impressum</u> in the vegetation zone of wheat and oat fields near Zurich (years 1976-1977).

Prey	Wheat %	Oats %
Ephemeroptera	7.6	7.9
Thysanoptera	9.0	1.6
Aphidae	42.6	33.3
Coleoptera	3.1	11.1
Hymenoptera	0.4	9.5
Trichoptera	0	7.9
Diptera	27.8	20.6
Number of prey items	223	76

Hunting spiders - Thomisidae and other hunting spiders were only rarely observed feeding in the vegetation zone of cereal fields. Since foliagedwelling hunting spiders (Thomisidae, Philodromidae, Salticidae, Clubionidae, Pisauridae) appear to live in low densities in cereal fields and since only a small percentage of a hunting spider population is feeding at a given observation time, the probability of surprising a hunting spider with a prey is exceedingly low. Thomisidae could be observed capturing Diptera, spiders, and one aphid in cereal fields.

Ground surface

<u>Web-building spiders</u> - The prey composition of the Micryphantidae of wheat and maize fields is represented in Table 81. The table indicates that the food of the Micryphantidae exclusively consisted of small soft-bodied prey, aphids, Collembola, and Diptera being the most important components. The Collembola captured by the Micryphantidae, generally belong to the Sminthuridae.

<u>Hunting spiders</u> - The prey composition of the Lycosidae of wheat fields is represented in Tables 82-84. It also includes mainly small, softbodied prey organisms, especially aphids, Collembola, and Diptera. The Collembola for the most part belong to the Arthropleona-group (e.g. <u>Isotomidae</u> and <u>Orchesella villosa (</u>Geoffroy) of the family Entomobryidae).

The captured aphids were exclusively cereal aphids (<u>Metopolophium</u> <u>dirhodum</u> Walk., <u>Rhopalosiphum padi</u> L., <u>Sitobion</u> <u>avenae</u> F., as listed in Table 85.

<u>Spiders with special hunting strategies</u> - Adult Carabidae and Staphylinidae were missing in the food of the Lycosidae and Micryphantidae, as both, the Lycosidae and the Micryphantidae, are not capable of killing hardbodied beetles. There is, however, a spider species belonging to the family Theridiidae, <u>Achaearanea riparia</u> (Blackw.), which often captures adult Carabidae and Staphylinidae by means of tangled webs (Table 86). As Table 87 shows, several Carabidae-species (mainly of the genus <u>Amara</u>) were captured by <u>A. riparia</u>. It captured a rather typical selection of medium-sized Carabidae living in cereal fields of Western Europe (comp. THIELE, 1977, p. 27). (<u>A. riparia</u> has been observed killing Carabidae also in meadows, with slopes, where this spider lives, too).

3.3.5.3. Prey size

More than 90% of the food of spiders in cereal fields consisted of small, soft-bodied prey organisms of only 1-3 mm body length. Such prey organisms have a fresh weight of merely 1-2 mg.

3.3.5.4. Prey capture rates

Vegetation zone

In order to determine how many insects per day are killed by one web, continuous observations of orb-webs were conducted on a total of 7 days. The results of these observations are compiled in Table 88. The table Table 81. Prey composition of the Micryphantidae in cereal fields near Zurich (years 1977 and 1978).

Prey	Winter wheat 1977	Winter wheat 1978	Maize 1978	Ĕ	otal
Collembola	11	31	6	51	37.2 %
Aph i dae	18	25	13	56	40.9%
Small Diptera	9	6	2	17	12.4 %
Other small arthropods	-	£	-	5	3.6 %
Unidentified prey	2	5	-	ω	5.8%
Total of prey items	38	73	26	137	100 %

Table 82. Prey composition of wolf spiders (<u>P. agrestis</u> and <u>P. pa-lustris</u>) in a winter wheat field near Zurich (year 1978). Index: $+ = \le 10\%$; ++ = 10-20%; +++ = 20-35%; ++++ = > 35%.

	May	June	July/August	Total
No. observation days	6	7	21	34
No. spiders captured	263	242	1013	1518
Spiders with prey	9	10	40	59
Prey composition:			· · ·	
Collembola	++++	+++	++	40 %
Aphidae	++	+++	+++	24 %
Diptera		++	+	12 %
Lepidoptera (larvae)			+	4 %
Mites			+	4 %
Spiders		++	+++	16 %

Table 83. Prey composition of wolf spiders (Pardosa spp.) in a winter wheat field near Zurich-Reckenholz (June/July 1979).

Prey	Immature	Adult males	A dult A	fema with egg sac	l e s with young	Total
Dintera (small/medium-sized)	0	2	6	5	-	11
Diptera?	. 0	0	-	0	0	-
Diptera larvae	0	0	1	0	0	-
Aphidae (winged)	0	-	2	0	0	e
Aphidae (apterous)	0	_	4	-	-	7
Hymenoptera (small)	0	0	-	0	0	-
Ephemeroptera?	0	0	-	0	0	
Staphylinidae (small)	0	0	L	0	0	-
Carabidae larvae (small)	0	0	2	0	0	5
Collembola (Arthropleona)	0	0	-	0	0	-
Spiders (small)	-	0	0	0	0	-
Mites	0	0	-	0	0	-
Unidentified prey ^a	£	-	æ	7	0	61
Total	4	5	29	10	2	50
a Among them were possibly sev	veral Collemb	ola; they we	re so strongly	deformed	that they c	ould not b

determined unmistakably.

Table 84. Prey composition of three wolf spider species in a winter wheat field near Zurich-Reckenholz (June/July 1979) (same data as in Table 83 but other representation).

	Pardosa	Pardosa	Pardosa	Pardosa sp.		otal
rrey	agrestis	palustris	amentata	(immature)	Z	≫
Diptera	(21) + 2	2	e	0	13	26.0
Aphidae	9	2	2	0	10	20.0
Hymenoptera	-	0	0	0	-	2.0
Collembola	-	0	0	0	-	2.0
Ephemeroptera?	0	0		0	-	2.0
Staphylinidae	0	0	. —	0		2.0
Carabidae larvae	-	0	-	0	2	4.0
Spiders	0	0	0	-	-	2.0
Mites	0	0	-	0	-	2.0
Unidentified prey ^a	12	2	-	m	19	38.0
Total	29	و	10	4	20	100.0
^a Among them here ar	e possibly sev	eral collembo	lans, which	vere strongly	deformed a	nd there

fore could not be determined unmistakably

- 121 -

Table	85.	Aphid species in the food of wolf spiders. Observations in a	
		winter wheat field near Zurich-Reckenholz (June/July 1979).	
		a = apterous, w = winged, + = prey of wolf spiders.	

Aphid species		Wo	lfspide	ers
		P. agrestis	<u>P. palustris</u>	P. amentata
Metopolophium dirhodum	a	+ (June)	+ (June)	
Metopolophium dirhodum	w		+ (June)	+ (June)
Rhopalosiphum padi	a	+ (July)		
Sitobion avenae	a			+ (June)

Table 86. Prey composition of <u>Achaearanea</u> riparia in winter wheat fields near Zurich (years 1977-1979).

Prey	1977 %	1978 %	1979 %
Dermaptera	0	2.1	0
Orthoptera	1.3	0	0
Heteroptera	0	0	2.1
Cicadas	0	1.1	0.7
Aphidae	0	3.2	27.0
Carabidae (see Table 87)	26.7	2.1	5.7
Staphylinidae	13.3 50.6	3.2 6.4	5.0 14.2
Other Coleoptera	10.6	1.1	3.5
Diptera	2.6	8.4	7.1
Apterous ants	22.7 24.0	23.2] 59.0	17.0 26.2
Winged Hymenoptera	1.3	35.8	9.2
Spiders	0	5.4	0.7
Mites	0	7.4	4.3
Unidentified prey	22.7	7.4	17.7
No. prey items	76	95	141

- 122 -

Carabidae species	1977	1979	т	otal
	N	N	N	%
Loricera pilicornis	3	l	4	16.67
Clivina fossor	1	1	2	8.33
Acupalpus teutonus	1	-	1	4.17
Agonum dorsale	1	-	I	4.17
Agonum muelleri	-	1	T	4.17
Amara spec.	11	0	11	45.83
Amara spec. ? ^a	2	0	2	8.33
Carabidae gen. spec. ^a	2	0	2	8.33
Total	21	3	24	100.0

Table 87. Carabidae species in the prey of <u>Achaearanea riparia</u> in a winter wheat field near Zurich (years 1977 and 1979).

a Only fragments found

Table 88.	Number of prey items captured by Nuctenea cornuta
	per web and per day in a rye field near Zurich-
	Weiningen (summer 1976).

Date	No. webs	Prey/web/day
25.6.	7	12.6
26.6.	8	15.0
28.6.	5	9.2
1.7.	7	20.0
2.7.	8	8.1
5.7.	4	25.0
6.7.	4	10.3
x ± se		14.3 ± 2.3

shows that on days without rain, $14.3 \pm 2.3^*$ prey items/day on the average got caught in a web of about 500 cm² of <u>N. cornuta</u>. In a cereal field, more than 200 Diptera were found in a single web of <u>N. cornuta</u>. This indicates that spiders have a high killing potential.

Ground surface

As can be seen in Table 89, about 4% of the wolf spiders, observed in winter wheat fields in 1978 and 1979, held a prey between their chelicerae. Of the ground-dwelling web-building spiders also, only about 4% were actually feeding. Adult wolf spiders (<u>P. agrestis</u>) need about 45-60 min for the consumption of a small prey (Table 67). These data being known, the prey capture rate was calculated by means of the method of EDGAR (1969, 1970), and was found to be less than 1 prey item/spider/day for the Micryphantidae and Lycosidae.

3.3.5.5. Number of prey capture days per year

Vegetation zone

As rain destroys the spiders' webs and impairs the flying abilities of the prey insects, only days without rainfall offer optimal conditions for the spiders to catch prey. The spider webs not destroyed by wind and rain capture significantly less prey on rainy days than on rainless days, even when precipitations are restricted to part of the day (Mann-Whitney U-test, p < 0.01). In the year 1976, only 45 days of the period which the spiders stayed in the cereal fields were without rainfall, and in 1977 only 36 days. In maize fields, however, 78 and 64 days resp. were rainless during the time the spiders stayed there in 1976 and 1977. Spiders can thus actively capture prey on 40 days/year on the average under most favorable and on 30 days/year under less favorable conditions in cereal fields, but on 71 days/year or 59 days/year resp. in maize fields.

Ground surface

The ground-dwelling spider community is less influenced by combine harvesting. The ground surface can therefore be colonized by spiders during a longer period of time than the vegetation zone.

3.3.6. Niche breadth and niche overlap concerning the food of spiders

3.3.6.1. Vegetation zone

The coefficients $\hat{C}\lambda$ of the food overlaps of the web-building spiders coexisting in the vegetation zone of cereal fields are compiled in Table 90. The values show that 12 of the 21 tested overlap pairs are significant $(\hat{C}\lambda \ge 0.60)$ **. The food compositions of the Araneidae show a total overlap, although each species has a different web pattern $(\hat{C}\lambda \ge 0.95 \therefore$ prey compositions identical). Between the food compositions of Araneidae and Tetragnathidae there is also a significant overlap in every case $(\hat{C}\lambda = 0.68-0.76)$. The overlaps between Theridion impressum with a space web, on the one hand, and the orb-weaving spiders, on the other hand, are

Mean \pm standard error ($\bar{x} \pm SE$)

^{**}If the overlap had been calculated at species level of the prey instead of order level, lower overlap values would possibly have resulted.

Table 89. Percentage of fe Reckenholz.	eding	(f) w	olf spide	rs (Paı	dosa	spp.) caț	otured i	in two	winter .	wheat f	ields	near Zur	ich-
1978 No. observation days Air temperature ^O C (monthly mean)		May 6 10.90(0		June 7 14.30	ц U	וחנ	y/Aug 21 16.0º	ust C		Total 34 -		
Pardosa ở Pardosa ♀ with egg sac Pardosa ♀ with young Pardosa ⅰmmature Total	∑ 108 67 29 0 59 263		%f 5.56 4.48 3.45 0 3.80	∑ 1111 22 89 89 89 242	4 - 0 3 7 - 4	%f 0.90 9.09 3.37 6.25 6.25	232 232 331 333 333 333 34 23	f 6 6 6 1 1	%f 2.59 6.95 1.53 14.71 4.35 4.05	Σ 451 420 511 38 98 1518	f 13 28 28 7 7 2 2 2 55	%f 2.88 6.67 1.37 13.16 2.04	4.13
1979 No. observation days Air temperature ^O C (monthly mean)		May 1 12.4 ⁰ (June 12 16.10	U 0		July 8 17.20			Total 21 -		
Pardosa d Pardosa 9 Pardosa 9 with egg sac Pardosa 9 with young Pardosa 1 immature Total	20 ² 9 9 20 23	+ 0 0 0 0 0	¥00000	Σ 116 133 219 60 60 529	f 24 31 31	%f 3.45 18.05 0.46 3.33 0 5.86	E 61 69 8 8 1161 161 434		%f 1.64 4.35 2.96 0 2.48 2.76	∑ 186 211 383 68 68 1013	f 27 27 44 44	%f 2.69 12.80 1.31 2.94 2.94 4.24	5.14

.

- 125 -

building spiders in the vegetation zone of the cereal fields (calculated from Table 90. Niche breadth (B_{i}) and niche overlap $(\hat{C}\lambda)$ concerning food in coexisting webthe data of 1976-1977).

			Prey ov	erlap Ĉλ				
	<u>Araneus</u> diadematus	<u>Aculepeira</u> ceropegia	<u>Nuctenea</u> cornuta	<u>Mangora</u> acalypha	<u>Tetragnatha</u> sp.	Theridion impressum	١×	Niche breadth B _i
Araneus diadematus								1.40
Aculepeira ceropegia	1.0						1.0	1.61
Nuctenea cornuta	1.0	1.0					1.0	1.41
Mangora acalypha	1.0	1.0	1.0				1.0	2.03
Tetragnatha sp.	0.8	0.7	0.8	0.7			0.75	1.14
Theridion impressum	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.4		0.56	3.50
<u>Achaearanea</u> riparia	0.04	0.05	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.1	0.05	2.81

not significant for the most part ($\hat{C}\lambda = 0.35-0.72$) because, although T. impressum with its space web filters flying insects out of the aerial plankton, just as the orb-weaving spiders, it often happens that jumping insects and insects running on plants get caught in the space webs. The prey composition of T. impressum shows therefore a considerably wider range of prey types than the one of the orb-weaving spiders (niche breadth, see Table 80). A verification by means of the Mann-Whitney U-test confirms that the niche breadth (concerning food) of the Theridiidae is significantly larger than that of the orb-weaving spiders (p <0.05). It is interesting to note that also the food compositions of the two Theridiidae T. impressum and A. riparia overlap only little $(\tilde{C}\lambda = 0.1)$. This can be explained by the vertical isolation of the catching areas of the two species. Whereas T. impressum builds its webs mostly in the upper part of the vegetation zone of cereal fields and therefore capture only insects of the vegetation zone, A. riparia builds its species-characteristic retreats near the ground (about 15.7 ± 0.9 cm above ground) and constructs a tangle web down to the ground, in which mostly ground-dwelling arthropods get caught (Carabidae, Staphylinidae, ants, etc.).

As a consequence of the isolation of the catching areas, there are practically no overlaps between the food compositions of <u>A. riparia</u> and those of the orb-weaving spiders ($\hat{c}\lambda < 0.10$).

3.3.6.2. Ground surface

The wolf spiders and the ground-dwelling web-building spiders show large prey size overlaps, since both spider groups prey primarily on small, soft-bodied prey organisms.

3.3.7. Spiders as predators of pest insects and beneficial insects

As mentioned before, cereal aphids, which can be pests in cereal crops, have been recorded in the food of ground-dwelling spiders. Unfortunately, the aphids captured by foliage-dwelling spiders were not determined at species level. But doubtless there were cereal aphids, too, among the aphids captured by foliage-dwelling spiders.

On the other hand, as spiders are polyphagous predators who, to a certain extent, capture their prey at random out of the existing insect supply, they kill beneficial as well as neutral arthropods along with economically harmful insects.

Foremost of all, beneficial aphidivore insects are occasionally captured by spiders in cereal fields.

Adult stages of <u>Chrysopa carnea</u> Steph., whose larvae are well-known aphid predators, got often caught in the orb-webs of <u>N. cornuta</u> in cereal fields. In a rye field, for instance, a population of <u>N. cornuta</u> captured 1.0 \pm 0.2 <u>C. carnea/web/night</u> in the summer of 1976. The locally sometimes high proportion of Chrysopidae in the food of <u>N. cornuta</u> can probably be explained by the temporal as well as vertical coincidence between the flying space of <u>C. carnea</u> and the living space of <u>N. cornuta</u>, for both species are active at night or in twilight, and the flying height of <u>C. carnea</u> lies in the catching range of <u>N. cornuta</u> webs.

Other aphid predators such as Coccinellidae, Cantharidae and Syrphidae are also occasionally preyed upon by web-building spiders in cereal fields. On the average, the spiders caught one aphid predator per 6.6 aphids.

3.3.8. Prey killing rate

3.3.8.1. Prey killing rate in the vegetation zone

The prey killing rate of the foliage-dwelling spiders in cereal fields was calculated similarly as for the spiders in abandoned grasslands (see 3.1.11.1.), on the basis of the estimated total web area (A_p) . This web area exists on at least all lair-weather days, from the date of immigration into the field until harvest, and filters the aerial plankton in the vegetation zone. Hunting spiders, which amount to merely 2-5% of the total spider fauna, were not included in the calculation.

The yearly prey killing rate P can be calculated by means of the equation

$$P = A \left[(N_f \cdot T_f) + (N_r \cdot T_r) \right]$$

where A is the area of the spider's webs in m^2/ha ground area (A = 10-100 m² web area/ha ground area in wheat, rye, and oat fields; A <5 m² web area/ha ground area in maize fields); N_f and N_r are the numbers of captured insects/m² web area/day in respectively fair and rainy weather and T_f and T_r = time as numbers of prey capture days/year in respectively fair and rainy weather. N_f amounts to about 290 insects/m² web area/day in cereal fields (see 3.5.4.1.). Only a fraction of N_f was used for N_r, as less prey is captured on rainy days. The values for T_f and T_r were chosen on the basis of sections 2.1. (Table 5) and 3.3.5.5.

The computations produced the following values: A yearly number of insects in the order of 0.2-1.2 x 10^6 insects/ha (insect biomass: 0.2-1.2 kg fresh weight/ha/year) is filtered out of the aerial plankton by the foliage-dwelling spider community of wheat, rye, and oat fields.

The foliage-dwelling spider community of maize fields filters a yearly number of insects in the order of $<0.1 \times 10^6$ insects/ha out of the aerial plankton (insect biomass <0.1 kg fresh weight/ha/year).

It is probable that these values for cereal and maize fields range far lower in rainy summers.

3.3.8.2. Prey killing rate on the ground surface

In the wolf spiders, the prey killing rate P_W in a winter weat field was calculated after the following formula:

$$P_w = 10^4 \text{ D} \cdot \text{C} \cdot \text{T}$$

where the parameters are: D = density (number of wolf spiders/m²), C = prey capture rate (number of prey items/spider/day), T = time (number of activity days/year). The following estimate values were used in the On this basis it could be calculated, that approximately 0.5×10^6 prey organisms/ha/year are killed by wolf spiders in a winter wheat field. On the assumption that the prey items of the wolf spiders have an average fresh weight of about 1 mg, the biomass of the prey amounts to 0.5 kg fresh weight/ha/year. This is, however, a rough estimate, without consideration of the seasonal variations of density and age structure of the wolf spider populations.

The prey killing rate of the ground-dwelling web-building spiders in cereal fields was not investigated. However, since in cereal fields the density of the Micryphantidae is about 100 times higher than that of wolf spiders, the former will probably kill a far larger number of prey items/ ha/year.

3.3.9. Energy flow through the spider communities

3.3.9.1. Energy flow through the spider communities in the vegetation zone of cereal fields

A conversion of the prey biomass values (kg fresh weight/ha/year) of section 3.3.8.1. into energy flow values (MJ/ha/year) gave the following results: The energy flow (= prey killed) through the foliage-dwelling spider community ranges in the dimension of 1.1-6.5 MJ/ha/year in cereal fields.

3.3.9.2. Energy flow through the spider communities on the ground surface of cereal fields

The daily energy flow (= food consumed) through the ground-dwelling web-building spider guild was estimated by means of the method described in section 2.3.10.2.

The energy flow through the ground-dwelling web-building spider guild of winter wheat fields was calculated to be approximately 117-524 kJ/ha/day. This corresponds to 12-52 MJ/ha/100 days.

The computation of the energy flow through the ground-dwelling web-building spider guild of maize fields resulted in approximately 130-344 kJ/ ha/day. This corresponds to 13-34 MJ/ha/100 days.

The energy flow through the wolf spider guild of a winter wheat field was calculated to be approximately 2.4 MJ/ha/100 days.

3.4. New records of remarkable spider species in the region of Zurich

Within the frame of this thesis more than 15'000 spiders were collected. Because of lack of time, not all of these spiders could be identified. Among the determined spiders, some species were found which, so far, had exceedingly seldom been recorded in Switzerland (comp. MAURER, 1978; MAURER & WALTER, 1980)* The following are the most important discoveries:

Compare also NYFFELER & BENZ (1982b)

One adult & of <u>Theridion boesenbergi</u> Strand was found in an abandoned grassland biotope (A2), (det. THALER, Table 16). This species had previously very seldom been recorded in Switzerland (DE LESSERT, 1910; HOLZAPFEL, 1937; MAURER, 1978). <u>T. boesenbergi</u> is a rare species in general (WIEHLE, 1937; BRAUN, 1960; THALER, pers. comm.).

One adult σ of <u>Dictyna puella</u> Simon was found in cultivated meadow C4 (det. THALER, Table 50). As far as is known, this record of the species in Switzerland is the only for Central Europe (see also NYFFELER & BENZ, 1981d). It is a typically Mediterranean species (BONNET, 1956). <u>D. puella</u> is reported to have been found also in Western Europe as well as Southeastern Europe (LOCKET & MILLIDGE, 1951/53; BONNET, 1956).

One adult 9 of Porrhomma oblitum (0.P.-Cambr.) was found in cultivated meadow C5 (det. THALER, Table 51). This species had been recorded only once before in Switzerland (MULLER & SCHENKEL, 1895).

Adult specimen of <u>Oedothorax</u> <u>fuscus</u> (Blackw.) were collected in the cultivated meadows C3 and C4 (det. NYFFELER, Tables 50, 53). Adult ddof <u>0.</u> <u>fuscus</u> were also captured in winter wheat fields of the Swiss Federal Research Station for Agronomy Zurich-Reckenholz. <u>0.</u> <u>fuscus</u> had, so far, only very seldom been recorded in Switzerland (MAURER, 1980). This species is not rare, however, in Europe (LOCKET & MILLIDGE, 1951/53; WIEHLE, 1960). It has probably escaped notice in Switzerland before, because only few pitfall trap studies have been made in this country.

Adult 33 of <u>Oedothorax tuberosus</u> (Blackw.) were collected in a winter wheat field of the Swiss Federal Research Station for Agronomy, Zurich-Reckenholz (det. NYFFELER). This species was captured by means of pitfall traps. The species had seldom been found in Switzerland before (MAURER, 1980). It is not rare, however, in Europe (LOCKET & MILLIDGE, 1951/53; WIEHLE, 1960).

One adult J of <u>Araneus alsine</u> Walck. was found in a wheat field near Regensdorf (det. NYFFELER). It was captured with the sweep net in mid-August. This spider species had not been recorded in Switzerland in the last 40 years (MAURER, 1978).

Four juvenile <u>Heriaeus</u> spec. were collected in the "Chrähenriet" near Regensdorf (coordinates 679.05/254.35) (det. NYFFELER). The location is a moorland ecosystem complex in a nature preserve. As only immature stages were found, it was not possible to determine the species. Up to the present, only the species <u>Heriaeus oblongus</u> Simon had been found before in Switzerland (MAURER, 1978). North of the Alpes only one specimen of <u>H. oblongus</u> had been found so far on Swiss territory (VOGELSANGER, 1939). <u>Heriaeus</u> species are rare in Central Europe.

DISCUSSION

4.1. Colonization of grassland and cereal fields by spiders

The knowledge of population densities is one of the most important basic informations needed for the evaluation of the ecological importance of animals in ecosystems. It was therefore of great interest to compare the spider densities determined within the frame of this thesis near Zurich with the observations from other places stated in the literature. Table 91 is a comparative representation of the population densities of foliage-dwelling spiders in arable land and grassland ecosystems on the one hand and forest ecosystems on the other hand. The table can be interpreted in the following manner: Spiders living undisturbed in the vegetation zone of abandoned grasslands all year long can reproduce in accordance with their prey supply and can therefore build up rather large populations. Abandoned grasslands often constitute veritable "spider paradises".

Cultivated meadows, on the other hand, are periodically mown, whereby the living spaces and the egg sacs of many spiders are destroyed. For that reason, only small spider populations (about 1 spider/m²) live in the vegetation zone of cultivated meadows. Although there is a controversy in the literature still today, as to whether or not mowing is an ecological disaster for the foliage-dwelling fauna (see BONESS, 1953; KAJAK, 1962; CHAUVIN, 1967; SOUTHWOOD & VAN EMDEN, 1967; MORRIS, 1968; SCHAEFER, 1973; SCHAEFER & HAAS, 1979; NYFFELER & BENZ, 1979b), our data show that mowing, at least in the region of Zurich, is an "ecological disaster" for the spiders of the vegetation zone of meadows.

Also for the foliage-dwelling spiders of cereal fields, the harvest is an extreme stress (destruction of the living space and the egg sacs of many spiders). Therefore, a recolonization of the fields from the surroundings is necessary every year (see also TISCHLER, 1958; GEILER, 1963: LUCZAK, 1979). As cereal fields are annual monocultures, which allow only few different ecological niches, they can probably be colonized only by a few species, whose ecological demands are adapted to the microclimatic conditions and the vertical structure of cereal fields. The species composition of the spiders of cereal fields represents therefore a selection of the spiders living in the neighbouring undisturbed biotopes. The colonization of the fields, on the one hand, is dependent on the relation of the area of undisturbed biotopes (the so called ecological cells or "ökologische Zellen" of the German literature) to the area of cultivated land in the landscape and, on the other hand, on the species compositions, population densities, and reproduction rates of the spiders living in these ecological cells (i.e. less disturbed habitats and biotopes, like unmown stripes of grassland, woods, hedges, reeds, gardens, etc.). On the outskirts of Zurich, the fields are mostly surrounded by only few small undisturbed biotopes (unmown stripes of grassland, forest fringes, hedges), wherefrom the spiders can colonize the vegetation zone of the fields. As the area of these biotopes, untouched by agriculture, is probably too small to produce cereal-dwelling spiders in numbers so large that hundreds of thousands of them could emigrate, many fields are only thinly colonized. The colonization of annual crops

Table 91. Comparison of the densities of the foliage-dwelling spiders as reported in literature for agroecosystems, grassland ecosystems and forest ecosystems. The different data have been collected by means of different methods and under different circumstances. The table therefore can give only a rough comparison.

Crop	Country	Density N/m ²	Author
Intensively cultivat	ed:		
Cereals	Switzerland	0.1- 0.6	NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a)
Rye	Poland	0.6- 7.0	LUCZAK (1975)
Barley	Poland	2.2	LUCZAK (1975)
Oats	Finland	small	RAATIKAINEN & HUHTA (1968)
Maize	Switzerland	<0.1- 0.1	NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a)
Potato	Switzer1and	<1.0- 5.0	NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a)
Potato	Poland	0.6-29.6	LUCZAK (1975)
Rape	Switzerland	0.1- 0.5	NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a)
Cotton	U.S.A.	0.8	WHITCOMB et al. (1963b)
Coffee ^a	New Guinea	6.6	ROBINSON & ROBINSON (1974)
Alfalfa	Poland	2.2- 3.6	LUCZAK (1975)
Cultivated meadow	Poland	0.6- 4.4	KAJAK et al. (1971)
Extensively cultivate	ed/		
uncultivated:			
Grass1and ^b	Great Britain	842.0	DUFFEY (1962)
Grassland ^b	Great Britain	559.6	BRISTOWE (1939)
Grassland	Poland	52.0	KAJAK et al. (1971)
Overgrazed pasture ^b	Canada	44.0	TURNBULL (1966)
Grassland ^b	U.S.A.	56.0	VAN HOOK (1971)
Tulip poplar forest	U.S.A.	25.0	REICHLE & CROSSLEY (1967)
Deciduous forest	U.S.A.	51.0	PECK (1966)
Pine forest	Poland	18.8-33.0	LUCZAK (1975)
Mixed forest	Poland	22.0-31.2	LUCZAK (1975)

a Only web-building spiders

^b All strata including ground surface; in some grassland types a clear separation of the spider fauna of the vegetation zone and of the ground surface is not possible, as in such grasslands many ground-dwelling spiders hunt also in the vegetation zone

Table 92. Comparison of the densities of ground-dwelling spiders as reported in literature for agroecosystems, uncultivated grassland ecosystems and forest ecosystems. Otherways as Table 91.

Ecosystem	Country	Spiders/m ²	Author
Agroecosystems:			
Winter wheat field ^a	Switzerland	12- 53	NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a)
Maize field ^b	Switzerland	13- 35	NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a)
Winter wheat field ^C	Germany	19	BASEDOW (1973)
Cereal and beet fields ^d	Germany	250	HEYDEMANN (1962)
Cereal field	Great Britain	20- 30	FRASER (1982)
Cultivated meadow	Austria	54	THALER et al. (1978)
Cultivated meadow ^e	Great Britain	35	DUFFEY (1974)
Cultivated meadow	Poland	10- 14	KAJAK et al. (1971)
Cultivated meadow	Poland	74	KAJAK & JAKUBCZYK (1975)
Pasture ^f	Panama	37	BREYMEYER (1978)
Undisturbed grassland eco	systems:		
Uncult. grassland	Austria	37	THALER et al. (1978)
Uncult. grassland ^g	Great Britain	53- 62	DUFFEY (1974)
Uncult. grassland	Poland	45	KAJAK et al. (1971)
Overgrazed pasture ^h	Canada	44	TURNBULL (1966)
Forest ecosystems:			
Spruce forest	Germany	61	PFETTEN (1925)
Alder forest	Austria	51	THALER et al. (1978)
Chestnut forest	France	75	CHRISTOPHE & BLANDIN (1977)
Oak-beech forest	Great Britain	15-110	GABBUTT (1956)
Beech forest	Netherland	163-231	VAN DER DRIFT (1951)
Oak forest	Denmark	60	BORNEBUSCH (1930)
Pine-spruce forest	Sweden	240	FORSSLUND (1943, 1945)
Pine forest	Finland	183	HUHTA (1971)
Tulip poplar forest	U.S.A.	126	MOULDER & REICHLE (1972)

^a In May/June, without Lycosidae. ^b June/July, without Lycosidae. ^c In July.
^d Only <u>Oedothorax apicatus</u>. ^e Including spiders of the 12 cm high vegetation.
^f In August/September. ^g Including spiders of the 25 cm high vegetation.
^h Including spiders of the vegetation zone (comp. Table 91).

never trespasses the initial stage of a succession. According to RAATIKAINEN & HUHTA (1968), in Finland, too, only low spider densities were observed in the vegetation zone of oat fields.

If we consider the ground surface, however, we notice that there the spiders live in rather large populations, not only in natural ecosystems but also in agroecosystems (Table 92). In cultivated fields near Zurich, densities of up to 53 ground-dwelling spiders/m² were observed, and this number includes merely the spiders found on the ground surface. But in cultivated fields, there are also spiders which live in cracks of the soil. If soil extractions had been examined by means of Berlese funnels, even more ground-dwelling spiders/m² might have been found. In the German Democratic Republic, too, GEILER (1963) observed that the greater part of the spider in crop fields lived near the ground. The relatively high spider density near the ground can be explained by the fact that crop fields never get beyond the initial stage of a succession and that, therefore, the area near the ground is for the most part colonized by pioneer species which have a high reproductive potential (r-strategists, e.g. <u>Erigone atra</u>).

The influence of soil cultivation (e.g. tilling, fertilizing) on the ground-dwelling spider populations of agroecosystems could not be investigated within the framework of this thesis. Informations from literature indicate, however, that soil cultivations does influence the composition of ground-dwelling spider communities (TISCHLER, 1965; LUCZAK, 1975; KAJAK, 1978, 1980).

4.2. Family and species composition of the spiders

A multitude of spider species of the families Araneidae, Tetragnathidae, Theridiidae, Linyphiidae, Micryphantidae, Agelenidae, Dictynidae, Salticidae, Thomisidae, Pisauridae, and Clubionidae can be found in the vegetation zone of abandoned grasslands.

In contrast to this, only a limited number of predominant species of the first four families and the Thomisidae can be observed regularly in the vegetation zone of cultivated meadows and cereal fields.

Large orb-weaving spiders (<u>Argiope bruennichi, Araneus quadratus</u>) and funnel web spiders (<u>Agelena labyrinthica, Agelena similis</u>), which are found in high densities in abandoned grasslands, are almost entirely missing in cultivated fields. Also, jumping spiders (<u>Evarcha arcuata</u>, <u>Heliophanus flavipes</u>) and pisaurid spiders (<u>Pisaura mirabilis</u>), which predominate in the vegetation of abandoned grasslands, are found in exceedingly low densities in cultivated fields. These differences between the spider faunas of undisturbed and cultivated biotopes can be explained by the fact that by cultivating the land (tilling, mowing, single-crop farming, pesticides etc.) biotopes are created, wherein only those spiders can exist whose demands are met even in these "artificial environments".

Also the spider fauna of the vegetation zone of cereal fields in the region of Zurich is composed of mainly web-building spiders (95-98%) of the families Araneidae, Tetragnathidae, Theridiidae, and Linyphiidae. In contrast to meadows, however, hunting spiders of the family Thomisidae

A comparison of the species composition of the spiders in the vegetation zone of cultivated fields in Switzerland, the Federal Republic of Germany, Finland, The German Democratic Republic, Norway, and Poland shows a certain conformity (DINGLER, 1935; GEILER, 1963; TISCHLER, 1965; GALECKA, 1966; RAATIKAINEN & HUHTA, 1968; TAKSDAL, 1973; HUHTA & RAATIKAINEN, 1974; LUCZAK, 1974, 1975, 1976; CZAJKA & GOOS, 1976; CZAJKA & KANIA, 1976; NYFFELER & BENZ, 1979a). Theridiidae (Theridion <u>impressum, Enoplognatha ovata</u>), Linyphiidae (several species), Tetragnathidae (Tetragnatha extensa, Tetragnatha pinicola), Araneidae (<u>Araniella</u> spp., <u>Aculepeira ceropegia</u>, <u>Nuctenea cornuta</u>, <u>Mangora acalypha</u>) as well as Thomisidae (Xysticus spp.) predominated.

The ground-dwelling spider fauna of the investigated fields near Zurich was uniform and was dominated in 1977-1979 by the Lycosidae Pardosa palustris and Pardosa agrestis, as well as the Micryphantidae (Erigone atra, Erigone dentipalpis, and Oedothorax spp.). A little less frequent were the Tetragnathidae (Pachygnatha spp.) and Linyphildae (several species). This species composition in the investigated fields largely corresponds with the situation in field crops of Austria, England, the Federal Republic of Germany, the German Democratic Republic, and Poland (see TISCHLER, 1965; LUCZAK, 1974; VICKERMAN & SUNDERLAND, 1975, CZAJKA & GOOS, 1976; THALER et al., 1977).

With the exception of <u>Dictyna puella</u>, the spider species described in this study have all been previously recorded in Switzerland (see MAURER, 1978; MAURER & WALTER, 1980). Although agroecosystems are very monotonous systems with few different ecological niches, some rare spider species were discovered in them (e.g. <u>Porrhomma oblitum</u>). The term "rare spider species" is however relative, as, up to the present, only few arachnologists have conducted faunistic studies in Switzerland. These rare species probably are not true components of the spider communities of agroecosystems, but rather inhabitants by mistake.

4.3. Spatial distribution of spiders

4.3.1. Vertical distribution of spiders

In the vegetation zone of abandoned grassland near Zurich a vertical stratification in orb web-building spiders could be ascertained (see also NYFFELER & BENZ, 1978). Similar observations were reported by PASQUET & KRAFFT (1980) in an old prairie in France. American investigations in uncultivated grassland also have shown vertical stratification in orb web-building spiders (ENDERS, 1974; UETZ <u>et al.</u>, 1978; OLIVE, 1980; BROWN, 1981).

In cereal fields near Zurich spiders were found from the ground surface up to the ear zone, whereby some spider species life more near ground, other ones more in the middle or higher stratums of the vegetation. In other countries, too, it could be noticed that spiders in cultivated fields are present from the ground surface up to the ear zone, whereby in some cases vertical stratification of the spiders was observed (WHITCOMB et al., 1963b; BAILEY & CHADA, 1968; OKUMA & WONGSIRI, 1973; LESAR & UNZICKER, 1978a).

4.3.2. Horizontal distribution of spiders

In cultivated meadows and cereal fields near Zurich the horizontal distribution of the foliage-dwelling spiders corresponded with a random distribution, in abandoned grassland with a random or slightly aggre-gated distribution. The same is true for the horizontal distribution of the ground-dwelling spiders in cultivated meadows and cereal fields near Zurich.

A comparison with the data of literature shows, that also in other ecosystems the spiders are distributed at random and/or aggregated, whereby the aggregated distribution seems to dominate (see CHERRETT, 1964; TURNBULL, 1966; HUHTA, 1971; PIETERS & STERLING, 1974; SCHAEFER, 1974b; DIPPENAAR-SCHOEMANN, 1976; CHRISTOPHE & BLANDIN, 1977; BISHOP, 1981). Reports on a nearly regular distribution of spiders are rare (RIECHERT et al., 1973; SUZUKI & OKUMA, 1975; ES'KOV, 1981).

4.3.3. Distribution of spiders among the outer, middle and inner parts of a cultivated field (edge effect?)

In a winter wheat field near Zurich the ground-dwelling spiders were equally distributed in the outer, middle and inner parts. The same has been reported from an Australian cotton field, where dominant spider species were equally distributed, too (BISHOP, 1981). On the other hand, an investigation of DOANE & DONDALE (1979) in Canada showed that significant fewer spiders were captured per pitfall trap in a wheat field than in its grassy borders.

4.4. Prey compositions

If we consider the food composition of the spiders relating to the number of captured prey items in the vegetation zone of grassland, cereal fields and other biotopes, it is evident that small Diptera form the main part in the food of orb-weaving spiders (Table 93). Moreover, winged aphids are also an important component of the food of these spiders. Diptera and aphids also predominate in the food of many space web spiders in the vegetation of grasslands and cereal fields.

Numerous other authors have also observed that Diptera predominate in number in the prey of most foliage-dwelling web spiders of cultivated and uncultivated areas (DINGLER, 1935; TURNBULL, 1960; WHITCOMB et al., 1963b; RUPPERTSHOFEN, 1964; PUTMAN, 1967; HARRISON, 1968; WHEELER, 1973; MUMA, 1975; SUZUKI & OKUMA, 1975; ROGERS & HORNER, 1977; NENTWIG, 1980, 1981). That small Diptera constitute such an essential part in the food of the foliage-dwelling spiders, is due to the fact that - in number -Diptera form the main part of the insects in the vegetation zone of grasslands (BONESS, 1953; PERTERER & THALER, 1976), field crops (DINGLER, 1935; PRILOP, 1957; KARG & DABROWSKA, 1974), and the aerial plankton in general (GEILER, 1975). As the web-building spiders, to a certain extent, filter their prey out of the aerial plankton, the small Diptera which are the first in frequency fall victims first. The same is true for winged aphids at certain times of the year (see KAJAK, 1965a, b; NYFFELER & BENZ, 1979a).

If one considers the spiders' prey composition with respect to biomass, one sees that here, too, the food of the spiders living in the vegetation

(Ara-	
spiders	
orb-weaving	
Ъ	
food	
the	
i,	
aphi ds	es.
and	iotop
dipterans	fferent bi
of	÷
ercentage	ynathidae) ir
ţ	traç
of	Ч,
Comparison	neidae and
Table 93.	

Biotope	Author	Country	Species	Percent Diptera	tage Aphidae
Wheat field	NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a)	Switzerland	diverse	71.0	13.7
Barley field	=	=	=	91.19	4.0
Rye field	=	=	=	76.5	16.0
Oat field	=	=	=	70.6	5.6
Maize field	=	=	z	68.8	9.4
Rape field	=	=	=	82.2	1.9
Cultivated meadow	=	-	N. cornuta	84.3	6.0
Cultivated meadow	н	=	A. diadematus	85.9	3.1
Uncult. grassland	NYFFELER & BENZ (1978)	Switzerland	A. quadratus	76.8	8.1
Uncult. grassland	=	=	A. bruennichi	76.7	4.9
Forest meadow	KAJAK (1965a,b)	Poland	N. cornuta	66-79	7-14
			A. quadratus		
Vineyard	NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a)	Switzerland	di verse	79.0	9.1
House garden	=	=	N. umbratica	74.7	17.1
House garden	BILSING (1920)	U.S.A.	N. foliata	85.0	5.0
Forest	DABROWSKA & LUCZAK (1968)	Poland	T. montana	79-88	0-2
Mean value				78.7	7.7

zone of cultivated meadows and cereal fields consists of Diptera mainly.

For the large web-building spiders of abandoned grasslands, on the other hand, the situation is different. The food of A. bruennichi, for instance, consists mostly of large, heavy honey-bees and grasshoppers. Up to the present, this spider species was considered to be primarily a predator of grasshoppers in Europe (WIEHLE, 1931: MARPLES, 1935: FISCHER, 1943: CROME & CROME, 1961; PÖTZSCH, 1963; CANARD & CHAUVIN, 1979; LOHMEYER & PRETSCHER, 1979; GILLANDT & MARTENS, 1980). In the region of Zurich, this feeding behaviour was observed mainly in abandoned grasslands with a high percentage of grasses and few flowering plants (NYFFELER & BENZ, 1978). Besides grasshoppers, also dragonflies, Megaloptera, Lepidoptera and ants were described in the literature as primary prey of A. bruennichi (FISCHER, 1943; CROME & CROME, 1961; PÖTZSCH, 1963). In contrast to these former studies, several locations near Zurich were found, where grasshoppers were almost entirely missing in the food of A. bruennichi (Tables 27-28). In abandoned grasslands with a high percentage of Cirsium arvense and/or Rubus sp., A. bruennichi was observed to perform as an outright bee-killer (NYFFELER & BENZ, 1978).

The prey composition of this spider species seems to be largely genusspecific; for, in abandoned grasslands, grasshoppers (Acrididae) and also bees are mentioned as main food of the mediterranean <u>Argiope lobata</u> (Pallas) and the American <u>A. trifasciata</u> (Forskal), <u>A. aurantia Lucas</u>, and <u>A. argentata</u> (Fab.) (BILSING, 1920; RICHTER, 1960; ROBINSON & ROBINSON, 1970).

With respect to biomass, the prey of <u>A. quadratus</u> of abandoned grassland biotopes near Zurich also consisted mostly of bees (NYFFELER & BENZ, 1978). The same was noticed by BILSING (1920) in abandoned grasslands in Ohio for the closely related species Araneus trifolium (Hentz).

The food of the funnel web spider <u>A. labyrinthica</u> in abandoned grasslands near Zurich is very rich and mainly composed of grasshoppers, honey-bees, ants, Lepidoptera, Coleoptera, and Diptera, both with regard to the number of captured prey as well as biomass. According to BILSING (1920) and RIECHERT & TRACY (1975), the same is true for the American funnel web spiders Agelena naevia Walckenaer and Agelenopsis aperta (Gertsch).

The quite different prey compositions of the three large web-building spiders A. bruennichi, A. quadratus, and A. labyrinthica even within the same biotope shows that the vertical isolation of the webs and their construction has a great influence on which insects are captured. Fig. 19 shows the vertical distribution of the webs of the three spider species and the selection of prey types resulting from it (NYFFELER & BENZ, 1978). The two Araneidae A. bruennichi and A. quadratus build orb-webs, but are vertically isolated from each other. A. quadratus builds its webs in the higher strata of the vegetation (orb hub >0.5 m above ground, on the average) and captures almost exclusively flying insects, mostly Diptera and bees. A. bruennichi, on the other hand, builds its webs near the ground (orb hub on the average <0.35 m above ground) and captures for that reason also jumping insects such as grasshoppers. Its prey composition is therefore wider than the one of A. quadratus. The funnel web spider A. labyrinthica, uses an entirely different hunting strategy, since the funnel webs serve to catch both, flying insects as



Fig. 20. Vertical distribution of the webs of the three spider species <u>Argiope</u> bruennichi, <u>Araneus quadratus</u> and <u>Agelena labyrinthica</u> and the <u>selec-</u> tion of prey groups resulting from it. <u>Observations in</u> undisturbed grassland biotopes (see also NYFFELER & BENZ, 1978).
well as jumping and running arthropods. Its prey composition is therefore significantly wider than that of the two orb-weaving spiders.

The food of the ground-dwelling spiders in cultivated meadows and cereal fields near Zurich was primarily composed of small, soft-bodied insects (mostly Collembola, aphids, Diptera). Up to the present, ground-dwelling spiders have generally been known from literature to be predators of Collembola (BUCHE, 1966; SIMON, 1967; CLARKE & GRANT, 1968; EDGAR, 1970; HALLANDER, 1970; HAGVAR, 1973; WINGERDEN, 1973; SCHAEFER, 1974a; SALINAS & RAROS, 1975; MANLEY et al., 1976; GETTMANN, 1978; NYFFLER & BENZ, 1979b). However, their role as predators of Diptera and aphids has also been recognized earlier (BASEDOW, 1973; DE CLERCQ, 1977).

Further discussions of the feeding ecology of spiders in agroecosystems can be found in NYFFELER & BENZ (1978, 1979a, 1981a,c).

4.5. The spiders' effectiveness as predators of agricultural pests

Insects belonging to the agriculturally important families Pentatomidae (Heteroptera), Elateridae, Chrysomelidae, Scarabaeidae, Curculionidae, Nitidulidae (Coleoptera), Noctuidae, Pyralidae (Lepidoptera), and Tipulidae (Diptera) are also found in the prey of the spiders living in cereal fields, but amount to such a low percentage of the entire spider food (Tables 79-80) that the spiders are probably ineffective as predators of the cereal pests belonging to these families.

According to NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a), the populations of the nitidulid beetle <u>Meligethes</u> aeneus Fbr. were only little influenced by the spiders in the vegetation zone of rape fields.

The same conclusion has been drawn by the Polish ecologist KAJAK (1971) who found that spiders exert merely a negligible influence on the mortality of the insect populations in the vegetation zone of cultivated meadows.

Whether spiders are effective as predators of aphids on cultivated land in Europe cannot be answered conclusively yet; for in spite of repeated investigations on spiders as aphid predators, there are still no quantitative informations on the influence of the spiders on aphid mortality (DUNN, 1949; GALECKA, 1966; SUTER & KELLER, 1977).

Investigations in the U.S.A. have also shown that spiders are predators of pest insects in cultivated land (SCHLINGER & DIETRICK, 1960; CLARK & GLICK, 1961; WHITCOMB et al., 1963b; DORRIS, 1970; McDANIEL & STERLING, 1979). WHITCOMB (1974) considers the spiders of North American agroecosystems as highly beneficial. In a personal communication he stresses especially the effectiveness of the cursorial spiders (oxyopids, salticids, gnaphosids, and lycosids). However, there are no quantitative data published as yet on how far spiders influence the population dynamics of pests in the U.S.A.

4.6. Spiders as predators of beneficial insects

A certain percentage of economically beneficial insects was regularly found in the prey compositions of the foliage-dwelling spiders of cereal fields. Aphidivore insects (Chrysopidae, Coccinellidae, Syrphidae), and pollinating insects (bees) are rather frequently captured by spiders. Spiders have been repeatedly reported in literature to capture beneficial insects (LOVELL, 1915; BILSING, 1920; DINGLER, 1935; KIRCHNER, 1964; WHITCOMB, 1974; MORSE, 1978, 1979; TEMERAK, 1981).

DINGLER (1935) observed in a German asparagus field that the most important asparagus-dwelling spider species, <u>Theridion impressum</u>, captured mainly economically beneficial insects (Asilidae, Tachinidae, Apidae, Ichneumonidae, Sphegidae, Coccinellidae, Chrysopidae). He therefore assumed that the most frequent spider of the asparagus field was not at all useful, but rather harmful.

As mentioned before WHITCOMB (1974) discussing the importance of spiders as regulators of insect populations in American agroecosystems, considers spiders on the whole as highly beneficial, but came, among others, also to the conclusion: "Since spiders tend to be general feeders, they are natural enemies of most beneficial insects. The orb-weavers, theridiids, and other spiders destroy large numbers of parasitoids and predators".

To sum up, one can note that spiders as polyphagous predators destroy "pests", "neutral", and "beneficial" insects likewise. As with many other predators (e.g. birds), whose prey compositions are composed both of "beneficial" and "pest" species, it is sometimes very difficult with spiders to determine quantitatively whether in the end the beneficial effects (destruction of pest insects) or the detrimental effects (destruction of beneficial arthropods) prevail.

4.7. Energy flow through the spider communities

The energy flow through the foliage-dwelling spider communities of different ecosystems is compared in Table 94. The table shows the following: Because the fields are colonized only during a short period of time and because the spider densities are low, the energy flow through the foliage-dwelling spider communities of European cultivated land (cultivated meadows and cereal, rape, and potato fields) is very low (prey killing rate: 0.1-2.0 kg fresh weight/ha/year). In comparison the production of Diptera alone amounts to about 15 kg fresh weight/ha/year in rye fields, and to about 20 kg fresh weight/ha/year in potato fields in Poland (DABROWSKA-PROT & KARG, 1974).

In contrast to cultivated fields, spiders can colonize uncultivated grassland and forest ecosystems all year long in high densities. The energy flow through the foliage-dwelling spider communities of such ecosystems is therefore high. The prey killing rate is 50-200 kg fresh weight/ha/year. The energy flow reaches similar values in these biotopes as the energy flow through the foliage-dwelling web-building spider community of a tropical coffee plantation, where ROBINSON & ROBINSON (1974) have observed a prey killing rate of 160 kg fresh weight/ha/year.

An intermediate system between cultivated fields and uncultivated grassland may be represented by the <u>Phragmites</u> belt of some European lakes. Since these reeds are mown once in a year, their spider populations are reduced, though less than in cultivated fields. As Table 94 shows, the energy flow through the spider community in the reed belt of an European lake corresponded to 5 kg fresh weight/ha/year on the average, with a maximum of 12 kg/ha/year.

Biotope	Country	Authors	Prey kil	ling rate
			kg ha''year''	MJ ha''year''
Intensively cultivated:				
Maize fields	Switzerland	NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a)	<0.1- 0.1	<0.5- 0.5
Cereal and rape fields	Switzerland	NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a)	0.1- 1.2	0.5- 6.5
Rye fields ^a	Poland	LUCZAK (1975)	0.2- 1.1	1.3-5.7
Potato fields ^a	Poland	LUCZAK (1975)	0.5- 2.1	2.6-11.6
Cultivated meadow	Poland	KAJAK et al. (1971)	2	10.9
Extensively cultivated/		·		
uncultivated:				
Reed belt of lake	Austria	PÜHRINGER (1979)	5 -12	26-65
Grassland ^b	U.S.A.	VAN HOOK (1971)	52	282.8
Grassland	Switzerland	this thesis	>150	>900
Grassland	Poland	KAJAK et al. (1971)	120	652.7
Forest ^{bc}	Germany	KIRCHNER (1964)	100	543.9
Spartina swamp ^{bc}	U.S.A.	TEAL (1962)	215	0.0711
Tropical crops:				
Coffee plantation	New Guinea	ROBINSON & ROBINSON (1974)	160-320	870.3-1740.6

prey killing rates in the Polish Tields are a little higher than the Values given in this ^b All strata incl. ground surface. ^c Rough estimate.

- 142 -

Table	95.	Energy	flow	(=	food	ingested)	through	the	ground-dwelling	spider
		communi	ties	of	diffe	erent ecos	ystems.			

Ecosystem	Country	Energy flow kJ·ha ⁻¹ ·day-1	Authors
Winter wheat field ^{ab}	Switzerland	117- 524	this thesis
Maize field ^a	Switzerland	130- 344	this thesis
Winter wheat field ^C	Switzerland	24 ^d	this thesis
Rye field ^C	Poland	40	LUCZAK (1975)
Cultivated meadow ^b	Switzerland	155- 419	this thesis
Cultivated meadow ^e	Poland	1070	KAJAK et al. (1971)
Uncult. grassland ^e	Poland	3360	KAJAK et al. (1971)
Tulip poplar forest ^f	U.S.A.	140- 330	MOULDER & REICHLE (1972)

^a In June

^b Without Lycosidae

^C Only Lycosidae

^d This value has been calculated by dividing the prey killing rate of section 3.3.9.2. by 1.25 (see method 2.3.11.2.)

 $^{\rm e}~{\rm Mg/m^2/year}$ were converted into approximate values of kJ/ha/day, by dividing the annual energy flow by 180 days

^f Minimum in winter, maximum in spring

The energy flow through the ground-dwelling spider communities of different ecosystems is compared in Table 95. The table shows that the energy flow through the ground-dwelling spider communities of Central European wheat and maize fields corresponds, in the order of magnitude, to the energy flow through the spider community on the floor of an American tulip tree forest. In contrast to this, the energy flows through the ground-dwelling spider communities of Polish meadows showed significantly higher values.

4.8. Numerical and functional responses of the spiders to changes in prey density

To evaluate the role of spiders as regulators of insect populations in the agricultural biocenose, it is important to know whether spiders react to fluctuations in density of their prey populations (RIECHERT, 1974; LUCZAK, 1979). In our case, we have predator-prey systems with the spiders as predators. According to HOLLING (1961, 1966) there are two different possibilities for a predator to demonstrate a density-dependent response to changes in prey abundance:

- (1) The predator reacts to an increase in the prey density by capturing more prey (functional response).
- (2) The predator follows an increase in the prey density by increasing its own reproduction (numerical response).

Under laboratory conditions, both a "functional response" of spiders (HAYNES & SISOJEVIC, 1966; HARDMAN & TURNBULL, 1974; MANSOUR <u>et al.</u>, 1980a; a.o.) as well as a "numerical response" of spiders (WISE, 1979; a.o.) has been demonstrated. Laboratory ecosystems, however, are greatly simplified systems. One cannot positively conclude from laboratory experiments that spiders will show the same behaviour in open-field ecosystems, which are essentially more complex in structure.

The question is, whether functional and numerical responses of the spiders to density changes of their prey populations are possible in abandoned grasslands. As these areas are not cultivated, the spider populations and their egg sacs are not destroyed by agricultural treatments, as is regularly the case in cultivated meadows and cereal fields. Functional and numerical responses of the spiders to density changes of the prey populations should therefore be possible in such biotopes. One can thus assume that the spiders in abandoned grasslands reproduce in accordance with the prey supply, i.e. that they adapt themselves to the prey density numerically. However, although a regulatory activity of the spiders in abandoned grasslands is conceivable, it has to be proven yet.

What about functional and numerical responses of the spiders to density changes of the prey populations in cultivated meadows and cereal fields? A functional response by the spiders in cultivated meadows and cereal fields is possible according to KAJAK (1965a) and NYFFELER & BENZ (1979a). A numerical response, however, is probably severely handicaped in cultivated meadows and cereal fields, because by the mowing and harvesting of the vegetation zone many egg sacs are destroyed. A regulatory activity by the spiders in the vegetation zone of such agroecosystems is therefore highly improbable. Whether or not a regulatory activity of spiders on the ground surface is taking place, has not yet been examined.

4.9. Ecological importance of the spiders in grassland and cereal ecosystems

Spiders can be of ecological importance in diverse respects. For example they can be food for other predators (WHITCOMB, 1974). Or the spider webs can be food sources for kleptoparasites (THORNHILL, 1975; NYFFELER & BENZ, 1980b). In this section, only the role of spiders as insect predators will be discussed.

An ecological importance of spiders is to be expected in abandoned grasslands foremost, where they can feed and reproduce in the vegetation without human interference. As already mentioned, such biotopes often represent veritable "spider paradises". Large funnel web spiders and orb-weaving spiders often live in high densities in abandoned grasslands. With their strong webs they capture large amounts of insects. <u>A. bruennichi</u>, e.g. may capture up to 7 grasshoppers/web/day. LOHMEYER <u>& PRETSCHER (1979)</u> found on the average 6 webs of <u>A. bruennichi</u> per m² in an abandoned grassland in the Federal Republic of Germany. This corresponds to a web area of 3000 m²/ha ground area. It is evident that such a gigantic web area exerts an enormous predatory pressure on insect

Polish studies have also shown that the orb-weaving spiders can exert a strong predatory pressure on the insect populations in the vegetation zone of abandoned grasslands (KAJAK et al., 1968; KAJAK & OLECHOWICZ, 1970; KAJAK, 1971). Thus web-building spiders eliminated 25-40% of the adult Diptera in undisturbed grasslands (KAJAK & OLECHOWICZ, 1970).

Funnel web spiders (<u>A. labyrinthica</u>) can also occur in high densities in undisturbed grasslands. Near Zurich, more than 3 funnel web spiders/m² on the average were counted in some abandoned grassland biotopes. At certain points of aggregation within such a biotope, up to 12 funnel web spiders/m² were found. The food of these spiders was composed of up to 23% of bees (NYFFELER & BENZ, 1978). In other countries, too, it has been observed that funnel web spiders can be predators of bees. OLBERG (1960) wrote on this subject: "Sometimes, 20 to 30 captured honey-bees on the average can be found in each web; thus with a spider that frequent, a considerable damage can result. This is why flocks of sheep are driven through the dangered areas. The fleecy animals destroy the webs, which cannot be replaced immediately, as is the case in orb weaving-spiders". This example demonstrates that spiders can have a noticeable effect on insect populations.

Hunting spiders, too, can play an important ecological role in abandoned grasslands (VAN HOOK, 1971; SCHAEFER, 1974a).

In contrast to the conditions in uncultivated biotopes, the present results show that the energy flow through the foliage-dwelling spider communities of cultivated meadows and annual crops is low (see also KAJAK, 1971; LUCZAK, 1975). Moreover, spiders are ineffective as predators of many agriculturally important pest insects (see also DINGLER, 1935; KAJAK, 1971). Therefore, the spiders of the vegetation zone of Central European cultivated fields probably play no important role as predators or regulators of pest insects.

The agroecosystems in Southern Europe are to some extent cultivated in a considerably more extensive way than in Central Europe. It is there-

fore conceivable that the spiders still have a greater ecological importance in cultivated fields of Southern Europe than in the region of Zurich. Thus, near Florence (Italy), rather high spider densities were found in the vegetation zone of a weedy cereal field (STREULI, pers. comm.).

In contrast to the vegetation zone, the spiders living on the ground surface of cultivated meadows and cereal fields showed relatively high population densities (r-strategists, see 4.1.). Together with the carnivorous beetles (Carabidae and Staphylinidae), they belong to the most frequent ground-dwelling predators of insects in cereal fields near Zurich. German studies had also established that spiders form an important component within the ground-dwelling predator-complex (TISCHLER, 1958, 1965, GEILER, 1963; BASEDOW, 1973; BRASSE, 1975; BASEDOW & MIELKE, 1977). In the German Democratic Republic, one has even recorded that spiders and harvestmen can form up to one third of all invertebrates captured in pitfall traps (GEILER, 1963). The prey compositions of the ground-dwelling spiders overlap to some extent with those of the predatory Carabidae and Staphylinidae, which also feed on Collembola, aphids, and Diptera. Further investigations will be necessary to establish whether this ground-dwelling predator-complex has a significant influence on pest insects (e.g. aphids). First studies already indicate that the ground-dwelling predator potential actually exerts a strong predatory pressure on insect populations (BASEDOW, 1973; KAJAK & JAKUBCZIK, 1975; DE CLERCQ, 1979). In any event, this ground-dwelling predator-complex probably has a stabilizing effect on insect populations, as assumed by the American ecologist RIECHERT (1974).

Studies from Japan, India, China, Taiwan, Korea, Thailand, and the Philippines indicate that such ground-dwelling spiders, because of their high density in rice fields*, have a damping influence on the population of pest insects, mainly cicadas (ITO et al., 1962; OKUMA, 1968; IRRI Annual Report, 1973; CHIU et al., 1974; GAVARRA & RAROS, 1975; KIRITANI & KAKIYA, 1975; SAMAL & MISRA, 1975; HOKYO et al., 1976; NAKASUJI, 1976; KANG & KIRITANI, 1978; KIRITANI, 1979). Rice fields are swamp ecosystems. In European swamp ecosystems, spiders can also be an important group of predators (MILLER & OBRTEL, 1975). The same is assumed concerning the ecological role of spiders in American swamp ecosystems (GARCIA & SCHLINGER, 1972).

4.10. Ecological importance of spiders in forest ecosystems and orchards

As a comparison to the studied gramineae biotopes, some tree ecosystems will be briefly discussed.** With regard to forest ecosystems, the German ecologist WEIDEMANN (1978) attributes an important role to the grounddwelling spiders as insect predators, together with the other litterdwelling predators. American scientists, too, concluded that the grounddwelling spiders can be of great importance as insect predators in forests (CLARKE & GRANT, 1968; MOULDER & REICHLE, 1972; MANLEY et al., 1976). In contrast to this, the ecological importance of the foliage-dwelling spiders of forest ecosystems is still controversial (VITÉ, 1953;

This is valid for rice fields, which were not or little treated with pesticides.

^{**}Compare also NYFFELER (1982).

KIRCHNER, 1964). Some field studies had shown that certain spider species in the vegetation were ineffective against lepidopteran pests (POINTING, 1966; KIRCHNER, 1967; FURUTA, 1977). According to data by the last mentioned authors, some spider species could reduce butterfly populations by 5% at the most. A slightly higher mortality was recorded by ENGFL (1942), who estimated that during a pine moth calamity, 12-23% of the moth population was destroyed by spiders; but at the same time he also observed that significantly less moths were killed by spiders than by bugs. The ineffectiveness of certain spider species as predators of butterflies might be connected with the butterflies' ability to escape from these spiders' webs (KIRCHNER, 1967; NYFFELER & BENZ, 1981b). However, this negative effect may not be very important, since other insects seem not to be killed at a higher rate by forest spiders. Thus, for a comparison, the mortality of chestnut gall wasp populations as a result of predation by spiders was of the same magnitude in normal years (7-20%) as that recorded by ENGEL for the pine moth (NAKAMURA & NAKAMURA, 1977). Contrary to what has been said so far, some other authors have assumed that spiders can be important predators of Lepidoptera, aphids, and mosquitos in the vegetation zone of forest ecosystems (SUBKLEW, 1939: JUILLET, 1961: DABROWSKA-PROT et al., 1968a. b: LUCZAK, 1968: FOX & GRIFFITH, 1976).

Like the forests, orchards are also tree ecosystems. Field studies have shown that spiders form a frequent predator group in pesticide-free orchards (HARRISON, 1968; MacLELLAN, 1973; CARROL, 1980). Several authors have therefore supposed that spiders play an important role as insect predators in pesticide-free orchards (CHANT, 1956; KAYASHIMA, 1972; MacLELLAN, 1973; MANSOUR et al., 1980a), though precise results do not exist. However, it has been demonstrated that the treatment of orchards with pesticides leads to a significant reduction of the density of spiders (CHANT, 1956; SPECHT & DONDALE, 1960; DONDALE et al., 1979; MANSOUR et al., 1980b; McCAFFREY & HORSBURGH, 1980). This indicates that pesticide treatments reduce the effectiveness of spiders as insect predators in orchards.

4.11. Using spiders in "biological pest control"

Ground-dwelling spiders, together with the ground-dwelling raptorial Carabidae and Staphylinidae, form an important predator potential in cereal fields. This predator potential can be utilized within "programs for integrated pest control" (BASEDOW & MIELKE, 1977; KIRITANI, 1979). Thus, attempts have been made in Japan to raise the spider density in rice fields artificially by releasing <u>Drosophila</u> flies. This additional food then caused an increased fertility in the spiders (KOBAYASHI, 1975). According to a report of the Chinese News Agency Xinhua of August 15, 1979, in the Peoples Republic of China spiders are introduced into rice fields as biological control agents of rice pests.

As most spiders are cannibals, it would probably be difficult to breed large numbers of spiders in the laboratory. RUPPERTSHOFEN (1976) and KAYASHIMA (1967) have looked for an alternative. They have proposed that egg sacs of spiders could be gathered somewhere and placed in forests or mulberry plantations respectively to raise the population density of spiders. Another example on the use of spiders for biological pest control is reported from South Africa. There, spiders were settled in houses. STEYN (1959) recorded a reduction of the fly populations by 99% within 2^{V_2} months and, at the same time, a pronounced decrease of gastro-intestinal infections of men in that region, because the vectors of disease were destroyed.

What about the possibility of utilizing spiders for biological pest control in Switzerland? Here, spiders could only become of greater importance, if it were possible to increase the spider density in cultivated fields. This would be possible if the area of the "ecological cells" (abandoned grasslands, hedges, wet areas, etc.), which serve as predatorreservoirs for agroecosystems, could be enlarged. However, uncultivated lands of that kind may serve as reservoirs for predators and pest organisms as well. The expansion of the area of the "ecological cells" could therefore also bring about an increase of pest incidence. With present day knowledge it is difficult to estimate, whether the useful effect (reservoirs of predators) or the detrimental effect (reservoirs of pests) would ultimately prevail. Intensive research on the complex functions of such "ecological cells" in the agricultural landscape would be necessary, before the expansion of their area with the intentions of increasing the predator density in the cultivated areas could be recommended.

5. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Von 1976-1979 wurde die Oekologie von Spinnen in unbewirtschafteten Graslandbiotopen, Mähwiesen und Getreidefeldern bei Zürich (Schweiz) untersucht. In solchen Oekosystemen leben Spinnen in zwei Straten, 1) auf der Bodenoberfläche, 2) in der Vegetationsschicht. Wir finden in den beiden Straten verschiedene Spinnengemeinschaften.

In unbewirtschaftetem Grasland leben die Spinnen während des ganzen Jahres ungestört. Sie können daher in solchen Biotopen in der Vegetationsschicht relativ grosse Populationen aufbauen (bei Zürich: ca. 10 Spinnen/m², in Literatur wesentlich höhere Werte). Demgegenüber werden Kulturfelder periodisch gemäht, wobei die Lebensräume und Eikokons vieler Spinnen zerstört werden. In der Vegetationsschicht von Kulturfeldern leben daher nur kleine Spinnenpopulationen (ca. 1 Spinne/m² in Mähwiesen, 0.1-0.6 Spinnen/m² in Getreidefeldern). Die Bodenoberfläche von Kulturfeldern ist relativ dicht besiedelt (15-42 Spinnen/m² in Mähwiesen, 10-50 Spinnen/m² in Getreidefeldern).

Die Spinnen in der Vegetationsschicht von Wiesen und Getreidefeldern sind primär Prädatoren von Dipteren und Homopteren. In der Vegetationsschicht unbewirtschafteter Wiesen können zusätzlich Bienen und/oder Heuschrecken einen essentiellen Anteil an der Beutebiomasse grosser Netzspinnen ausmachen. Auf der Bodenoberfläche von Mähwiesen und Getreidefeldern sind die dominanten Spinnen hauptsächlich Prädatoren von kleinen, weichhäutigen Insekten (Collembolen, Blattläuse, Dipteren etc.). Aus den Nahrungsanalysen geht hervor, dass die Spinnen Prädatoren sowohl von Schadinsekten (z.B. Getreideblattläuse) als auch von Nutzarthropoden (Honigbienen, Chrysopiden, Coccinelliden etc.) sind.

Der Energiefluss (= prey killed) durch die Spinnengemeinschaften der Vegetationsschicht von Brachlandbiotopen kann hoch sein (z.B. in einem Hochstaudenried: >900 MJ/ha/Jahr). Demgegenüber ist der Energiefluss durch die Spinnengemeinschaften von Kulturfeldern signifikant niedriger (in Getreidefeldern: 1.1-6.5 MJ/ha/Jahr, in Maisfeldern: <0.5 MJ/ha/Jahr). Der Energiefluss durch die bodenbewohnenden Spinnengemeinschaften der Kulturfelder dürfte in der Grössenordnung von 10-50 MJ/ha/Jahr liegen.

Unbewirtschaftete Grasland-Oekosysteme stellen oft wahre "Spinnenparadiese" dar. In solchen Oekosystemen stellen die Spinnen der Vegetationsschicht eine wichtige Prädatorengruppe dar. Im Gegensatz dazu scheinen Spinnen in der Vegetationsschicht von Getreidefeldern keine ökologische Rolle zu spielen. Inwieweit in den Mähwiesen und Getreidefeldern die epigäischen Spinnen eine ökologische Bedeutung haben, werden erst künftige Studien zeigen. REFERENCES

- AGUILAR, P.G. 1965. Notas sobre las aranas en el campo cultivado. -Revista Peruana de Entomologia 8: 81-83.
- AGUILAR, P.G. 1974. Aranas del campo cultivado 1: poblacion de araneidos en algodonales de Canete, Huaura y Rimac. (Spiders of crop fields - 1: population of araneids in cotton plantations in Canete, Huaura and Rimac.). - Revista Peruana de Entomologia <u>17</u>: 21-27.
- ALMQUIST, S. 1981. Spiders and harvestmen in strawberry fields in southern Sweden. - Ent. Tidskr. 102: 159-162.
- ANONYMOUS. 1979. Trials on the protection and use of the spiders in large paddy fields. - Biology Department, Hunan Teachers' College, Changsha, Hunan, People's Republic of China (in Chinese). (Report sent to the Dept. of Entomology of the Swiss Fed. Inst. Technology)
- ASHIKBAYEV, N.Z. 1973. The life forms of spiders (Araneae) inhabiting wheat fields in the Kustanay region. - Entomol. Rev. 52: 335-341.
- BAILEY, C.L. & H.L. CHADA. 1968. Spider populations in grain sorghums. -Ann. Ent. Soc. Am. 61: 567-571.
- BALOGH, J. & J. LOKSA. 1956. Untersuchungen über die Zoozönose des Luzernefeldes. – Acta zool. acad. sci. Hung. 2: 17-114.
- BARBOSA, J.T., G.M. RISCADO & M.L. FILHO. 1979. Population fluctuation of sugarcane froghopper, <u>Mahanarva posticata</u> Stal, 1855 and its natural enemies in Campos, R.J., in 1977. - An. Soc. Entomol. Bras. 8: 39-46.
- BASEDOW, T. 1973. Der Einfluss epigäischer Raubarthropoden auf die Abundanz phytophager Insekten in der Agrarlandschaft. - Pedobiologia (Jena) 13: 410-422.
- BASEDOW, T. & H. MIELKE. 1977. Aspekte der Parathion-Anwendung in Weizenfeldern. - Nachrichtenbl.Deut. Pflanzenschutzd. (Braunschweig) 29: 65-69.
- BATTU, G.S. & B. SINGH. 1975. A note on spiders predatory on the insect pests of cotton. - Sci. and Cult. <u>41</u>: 212-214.
- BENZ, G. & M. NYFFELER. 1980. Ecology of spiders in meadows near Zurich (Switzerland). - Proc. Int. Arachnol. Congr., 8th, Vienna, pp. 121-125.
- BEYER, R. 1981. Zur Dynamik der Spinnen- und Weberknechtfauna auf einer Kulturfläche mit wechselndem Pflanzenbestand im Verlaufe von 5 Jahren im Raum Leipzig. - Faun. Abh. Mus. Tierk. Dresden 8: 119-130.
- BILSING, S.W. 1920. Quantitative studies in the food of spiders. Ohio J. Sci. 20: 215-260.
- BISHOP, A.L. 1979. The role of spiders as predators in a cotton ecosystem. - M.Sc. thesis, University of Queensland.
- BISHOP, A.L. 1980. The composition and abundance of the spider fauna in south-east Queensland cotton. Aust. J. Zool. <u>28</u>: 699-708.

- BISHOP, A.L. 1981. The spatial dispersion of spiders in a cotton ecosystem. - Aust. J. Zool. 29: 15-24.
- BISHOP, A.L. & P.R.B. BLOOD. 1980. Arthropod ground strata composition of the cotton ecosystem in south-eastern Queensland, and the effect of some control strategies. - Aust. J. Zool. 28: 693-697.
- BLANKE, R. 1976. Morphologisch-ethologische Divergenzen und Anwendung des Biospecies-Konzepts bei Angehörigen der Kreuzspinnen-Gattung <u>Araneus</u> (Arachnida: Araneae: Araneidae). - Ent. Germ. <u>3</u>: 77-82.
- BLICKENSTAFF, C.C. & J.L. HUGGANS. 1962. Soybean insects and related arthropods in Missouri. - Univ. Missouri Agric. Exp. Stn. Res. Bull. 803: 51 pp. Cit. WHEELER, A.G. 1973.
- BONESS, M. 1953. Die Fauna der Wiesen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Mahd. - Z. Morph. Oekol. Tiere 42: 225-277.
- BONESS, M. 1958. Biocönotische Untersuchungen über die Tierwelt von Klee- und Luzernefeldern. - Z. Morph. Oekol. Tiere 47: 309-373.
- BONNET, P. 1955-1959. Bibliographia Araneorum. Vol. 2. Toulouse. 5058 pp.
- BORNEBUSCH, C.H. 1930. The fauna of forest soil. Forstl. Forsøgskomm. (Copenhagen) 11: 1-224.
- BOSMANS, R. & M.P. COTTENIE. 1977. Araignées rares ou nouvelles pour la faune belge des cultures. - Bull. Ann. Soc. r. belge Ent. 113: 100.
- BRAUN, R. 1960. Neues zur Spinnenfauna des Rhein-Main-Gebietes und der Rheinpfalz (mit einer Revision der Sammlung BÖSENBERGs, der Nachlassammlung ZIMMERMANNs und der Geisenheim-Sammlung JACOBIs). -Jb. nass. Ver. Naturk. 95: 28-89.
- BRAUN, R. 1976. Zur Autökologie und Phänologie einiger für das Rhein-Main-Gebiet und die Rheinpfalz neuer Spinnenarten (Arachnida: Araneida). - Jb. nass. Ver. Naturk. 103: 24-68.
- BRASSE, D. 1975. Die Arthropodenfauna von Getreidefeldern auf verschiedenen Böden im Braunschweiger Raum. - Pedobiologia (Jena) <u>15</u>: 405-414.
- BREYMEYER, A. 1967. Preliminary data for estimating the biological production of wandering spiders. - Secondary productivity of terrestrial ecosystems (ed. K. PETRUSEWICZ). pp. 821-834. -Warszawa, Krakow.
- BREYMEYER, A. 1978. Analysis of the trophic structure of some grassland ecosystems. - Pol. Ecol. Stud. 4: 55-128.
- BREYMEYER, A. & J. JÓŹWIK. 1975. Consumption of wandering spiders (Lycosidae, Araneae) estimated in laboratory conditions. - Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci., Cl. II, 23: 93-99.
- BRISTOWE, W.S. 1939. The Comity of Spiders. I. London: Ray Society. 228 pp.
- BRISTOWE, W.S. 1958. The World of Spiders. London: Collins. 304 pp.
- BROWN, K.M. 1981. Foraging ecology and niche partitioning in orb-weaving spiders. - Oecologia (Berl.) <u>50</u>: 380-385.

- BUCHE, W. 1966. Beiträge zur Oekologie und Biologie winterreifer Kleinspinnen mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der Linyphiiden <u>Macrargus rufus</u> <u>rufus</u> (Wider), <u>Macrargus rufus carpentieri</u> (Cambridge) und <u>Centromerus</u> <u>silvaticus</u> (Blackwall). - Z. Morph. Oekol. Tiere <u>57</u>: 329-448.
- BURLEIGH, J.G., J.H. YOUNG & R.D. MORRISON. 1973. Strip-cropping's effect on beneficial insects and spiders associated with cotton in Oklahoma. - Environ. Entomol. 2: 281-285.
- CANARD, A. & G. CHAUVIN. 1979. Une araignée orbitèle commune en Bretagne, l'Argiope fasciée: <u>Argiope bruennichi</u> (Scop). - Informations en Sciences Naturelles. C.R.D.P. Rennes 8: 19-67.
- CARROLL, D.P. 1980. Biological notes on the spiders of some citrus groves in central and southern California. - Ent. News 91: 147-154.
- CHANT, D.A. 1956. Predaceous spiders in orchards in south-eastern England. - J. Hort. Sci. 31: 35-46.
- CHAUVIN, R. 1960. La faune du champs cultivé et surtout du champ de luzerne. Revue Zool. agric. 59: 14-37.
- CHAUVIN, R. 1967. Die Welt der Insekten. München: Kindler Verlag. 256 pp.
- CHERRETT, J.M. 1964. The distribution of spiders on the Moor House National Nature Reserve, Westmorland. - J. Anim. Ecol. 33: 27-48.
- CHIU, S.C., Y.I. CHU & Y.H. LUNG. 1974. The life history and some bionomic notes on a spider, <u>Oedothorax insecticeps</u> Boes. et St. (Micryphantidae: Araneae). - Plant Prot. Bull. (Taiwan) 16: 153-161.
- CHOI, S.Y., H.R. LEE & J.K. RYU. 1978. Effects of carbofuran root-zone placement on the spider populations in the paddy fields. - Korean J. Plant Prot. 17: 99-103.
- CHRISTOPHE, T. & P. BLANDIN. 1977. The spider community in the litter of a coppiced chestnut woodland (Forêt de Montmorency, Val d'Oise, France). - Bull. Brit. Arachnol. Soc. 4: 132-140.
- CHU, Y. & C. OKUMA. 1970. Preliminary survey on the spider fauna of the paddy fields in Taiwan. Mushi (Fukuoka) 44: 65-88.
- CHU, Y.I. & C.T. WANG. 1972. Studies on the Lycosa pseudoannulata (Boes. et Str.) (Araneae: Lycosidae) (I) External features and habits. -Plant Prot. Bull. (Taiwan) 14: 169-174.
- CHU, Y.I. & S.T. WANG. 1973. Studies on the feeding habits of <u>Lycosa</u> <u>pseudoannulata</u> (Boes. et Str.). - Plant Prot. Bull. (Taiwan) <u>15</u>: 13-20.
- CHU, Y.I., C.C. HO & B.J. CHEN. 1975. Relative toxicity of some insecticides to green rice leafhopper, brown planthopper and their predator <u>Lycosa pseudoannulata</u>. - Plant Prot. Bull. (Taiwan) <u>17</u>: 424-430.
- CHU, Y.I., C.C. HO & B.J. CHEN. 1976a. The effect of BPMC and Unden on the predation of <u>Lycosa</u> spider (<u>Lycosa</u> <u>pseudoannulata</u>). - Plant Prot. Bull. (Taiwan) 18: 42-57.
- CHU, Y.I., D.S. LIN & T. MU. 1976b. Relative toxicity of 9 insecticides against rice insect pests and their predators. - Plant Prot. Bull. (Taiwan) 18: 369-376.

- CHU, Y.I., D.S. LIN & T. MU. 1976c. The effect of Padan, Ofunack and Sumithion on the feeding amount of Lycosa pseudoannulata (Boes. et Str.) and <u>Oedothorax insecticeps</u> Boes. et Str. (Lycosidae and Micryphantidae, Arachnida). - Plant Prot. Bull. (Taiwan) 18: 377-390.
- CHU, Y.I., D.S. LIN & T. MU. 1977. Relative toxicity of 5 insecticides against insect pests of rice and their predators, with the effect of Bidrin on the extent of feeding by Lycosa pseudoannulata and Oedothorax insecticeps. - Plant Prot. Bull. (Taiwan) 19: 1-12.
- CLARK, E.W. & P.A. GLICK. 1961. Some predators and scavengers feeding upon pink bollworm moths. - J. Econ. Ent. 54: 815-816.
- CLARKE, R.D. & P.R. GRANT. 1967. An experimental study of the role of spiders as predators in a forest litter community. Part 1. -Ecology 49: 1152-1154.
- COTTENIE, P. & R. DE CLERCQ. 1977. Study of the arachnofauna in fields of winter wheat. - Parasitica 33: 138-147.
- CROME, W. & I. CROME. 1961. Paarung und Eiablage bei <u>Argiope bruennichi</u> (Scop.) auf Grund von Freilandbeobachtungen an zwei Populationen im Spreewald/Mark Brandenburg (Araneae: Araneidae). - Mitt. Zool. Mus. Berlin 37: 189-250.
- CULIN, J.D. & R.W. RUST. 1980. Comparison of the ground surface and foliage dwelling spider communities in a soybean habitat. -Environ. Entomol. 9: 577-582.
- CURTIS, D.J. 1978. Community parameters of the ground layer araneidopilionid taxocene of a Scottish island. - Symp. zool. Soc. Lond. 42: 149-159.
- CZAJKA, M. & M. GOOS. 1976. The spiders (Aranei) of sugar-beet fields in Pawlowice Wielkie near Wroclaw. - Pol. Pismo Ent. 46: 179-185.
- CZAJKA, M. & C. KANIA. 1976. Spiders (Aranei) in potato agrocoenosis in Pawlowice Wielkie near Wroclaw in 1971-1974. - Pol. Pismo Ent. <u>46</u>: 623-629.
- DABROWSKA-PROT, E. & J. KARG. 1974. Preliminary analysis of Diptera of rye and potato fields. - Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci., Cl. II, 22: 385-391.
- DABROWSKA-PROT, E. & J. LUCZAK. 1968. Studies on the incidence of mosquitoes in the food of <u>Tetragnatha montana</u> Simon and its food activity in the natural habitat. - Ekol. Pol. A <u>16</u>: 843-853.
- DABROWSKA-PROT, E., J. LUCZAK & K. TARWID. 1968a. The role of prey and predator density in the process of mosquito reduction by spiders in field experiments. - Ekol. Pol. A 16: 1-81.
- DABROWSKA-PROT, E., J. LUCZAK & K. TARWID. 1968b. The predation of spiders on forest mosquitoes in field experiments. - J. Med. Ent. 5: 252-256.
- DAHL, M. 1931. Agelenidae. Tierwelt Deutschlands 23: 1-46. Jena: G. Fischer.
- DAHL, F. & M. DAHL. 1927. Lycosidae. Tierwelt Deutschlands <u>5</u>: 1-80. Jena: G. Fischer.

- DE CLERCQ, R. 1979. On the influence of the soil fauna on the aphid population in winter wheat. - Int. Symposium on "Integrated Control in Agriculture and Forestry", Vienna, 8-12 October. Summaries of main lectures and discussion papers. p. 79.
- DEITZ, L.L., J.W. VAN DUYN, J.R. BRADLEY, R.L. RABB, W.M. BROOKS & R.E. STINNER. 1976. A guide to the identification and biology of soybean arthropods in North Carolina. - Technical Bulletin, North Carolina, Agricultural Experiment Station No. 238. 264 pp.
- DELCHEV, K. & A. KAJAK. 1974. Analysis of a sheep pasture ecosystem in the Pieniny Mountains (the Carpathians). XVI. Effect of pasture management on the number and biomass of spiders (Araneae) in two climatic regions (the Pieniny and the Sredna Gora Mountains). -Ekol. Pol. 22: 693-710.
- DIETRICH, W. & R. GÖTZE. 1974. Oekologische Untersuchungen der Spinnenfauna einer Agrobiozönose (unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Araneae). - Unpublizierte Diplomarbeit, Sektion Biowissenschaften, Fachbereich Zoologie, Martin-Luther-Universität Halle.

DINGLER, M. 1935. Die Tierwelt des Spargelfeldes. - Z. ang. Ent. 21: 291-327.

- DIPPENAAR-SCHOEMAN, A.S. 1976. An ecological study of a spider population in strawberries with special reference to the role of <u>Pardosa</u> <u>crassipalpis</u> Purcell (Araneae: Lycosidae) in the control of <u>Tetranychus cinnabarinus</u> (Boisduval). - M.Sc. thesis, Rand Afrikaans University. 119 pp.
- DIPPENAAR-SCHOEMAN, A.S. 1979a. Spider communities in strawberry beds: seasonal changes in numbers and species composition. - Phytophylactica <u>11</u>: 1-4.
- DIPPENAAR-SCHOEMAN, A.S. 1979b. A simple technique for studying feeding behaviour of spiders on mites. - Bull. Brit. Arachnol. Soc. 4: 349.
- DOANE, J.F. & C.D. DONDALE. 1979. Seasonal captures of spiders (Araneae) in a wheat field and its grassy borders in central Saskatchewan. -Can. Ent. 111: 439-445.
- DONDALE, C.D. 1956. Annotated list of spiders (Araneae) from apple trees in Nova Scotia. - Can. Ent. 88: 697-700.
- DONDALE, C.D. 1958. Note on population densities of spiders (Araneae) in Nova Scotia apple orchards. - Can. Ent. <u>90</u>: 111-113.
- DONDALE, C.D. 1966. The spider fauna (Araneida) of deciduous orchards in the Australian capital territory. - Austr. J. Zool. 14: 1157-1192.
- DONDALE, C.D. 1971. Spiders of Heasman's field, a mown meadow near Belleville, Ontario. - Proc. Ent. Soc. Ontario 101: 62-69.
- DONDALE, C.D. 1977. Life histories and distribution patterns of hunting spiders (Araneida) in an Ontario meadow. - J. Arachnol. <u>4</u>: 73-93.
- DONDALE, C.D. & M.R. BINNS. 1977. Effect of weather factors on spiders (Araneida) in an Ontario meadow. - Can. J. Zool. <u>55</u>: 1336-1341.
- DONDALE, C.D., J.H. REDNER & R.B. SEMPLE. 1972. Diel activity periodicities in meadow arthropods. - Can. J. Zool. <u>50</u>: 1155-1163.

- DONDALE, C.D., B. PARENT & D. PITRE. 1979. A 6-year study of spiders (Araneae) in a Quebec apple orchard. - Can. Ent. 111: 377-380.
- DONDALE, C.D., J.H. REDNER, E. FARRELL, R.B. SEMPLE & A.L. TURNBULL. 1970. Wandering of hunting spiders in a meadow. - Bull. Mus. Hist. nat., Paris, 2^e sér., 41 (suppl. 1): 61-64.
- DORRIS, P.R. 1970. Observations on the impact of certain insecticides on spider populations in a cotton field. - Proc. Ark. Acad. Sci. 24: 53-54.
- DUFFEY, E. 1962. A population study of spiders in limestone grassland. -J. Anim. Ecol. 31: 571-599.
- DUFFEY, E. 1974. Comparative sampling methods for grassland spiders. -Bull. Brit. Arachnol. Soc. 3: 34-37.
- DUNN, J.A. 1949. The parasites and predators of potato aphids. Bull. Ent. Res. 40: 97-122.
- EDGAR, W.D. 1969. Prey and predators of the wolf spider Lycosa lugubris. -J. Zool. (London) 159: 405-411.
- EDGAR, W.D. 1970. Prey and feeding behaviour of adult females of the wolf spider Pardosa amentata (Clerck). - Neth. J. Zool. <u>20</u>: 487-491.
- EDGAR, W.D. 1971. Aspects of the ecological energetics of the wolf spider <u>Pardosa</u> (<u>Lycosa</u>) <u>lugubris</u> (Walckenaer). - Oecologia (Berl.) <u>7</u>: 136-154.
- EDWARDS, C.A., C.G. BUTLER & J.R. LOFTY. 1976. The invertebrate fauna of the park grass plots. II. Surface fauna. - Rep. Rothamst. exp. Stn. 1975, Part. 2: 63-89.
- EDWARDS, N.T., B.S. AUSMUS, G.J. DODSON, C.R. MALONE, J.F. McBRAGER, D.E. REICHLE, M.H. SHANKS, H.H. SHUGART & P. SOLLINS. 1972. Decomposition processes in Oak Ridge National Laboratory. - Annual Progress Report (Eds. AUERBACH, S.I., and D.J. NELSON). ORNL -4759: 74-85.
- EISNER, T., R. ALSOP & P. ETTERSHANK. 1964. Adhesiveness of spider silk. - Science 146: 1058-1061.
- ENDERS, F. 1974. Vertical stratification in orb-web spiders (Araneidae, Araneae) and a consideration of other methods of coexistence. -Ecology <u>55</u>: 317-328.
- ENGEL, H. 1942. Ueber die Populationsbewegung des Kiefernspanners (<u>Bupalus piniarius</u> L.) in verschiedenen Bestandestypen. - Z. ang. Ent. 29: 116-163.
- ES'KOV, K.YU. 1981. (Analysis of spatial distribution of spiders in the Enisei taiga) (in Russ.). - Zool. Zhurn. (Moskva) <u>60</u>: 353-362.
- EVERLY, R.T. 1938. Spiders and insects found associated with sweet corn with notes on the food habits of some species. I. Arachnida and Coleoptera. - Ohio J. Sci. 38: 134-140.
- FISCHER, H. 1943. Beobachtungen an der Wespenspinne (Argiope bruennichi Scop.). - Natur und Volk 73: 150-155.
- FOELIX, R.F. 1979. Biologie der Spinnen. Stuttgart: Thieme. 258 pp.

- FORD, M.J. 1978. Locomotory activity and the predation strategy of the wolf spider <u>Pardosa</u> <u>amentata</u> (Clerck) (Lycosidae). - Anim. Behav. <u>26</u>: 31-35.
- FORSSLUND, K.H. 1943. Studien über die Tierwelt des nordschwedischen Waldbodens. - Meddel. fr. Statens Skoksförsöksanst. Cit. Vité, J.P. 1953.
- FORSSLUND, K.H. 1945. Zusammenfassende Uebersicht über bei Waldbodenfauna-Untersuchungen in Västerbotten (Nordschweden) angetroffene Tiere. -Meddel.fr. Statens Skoksförsöksanst. Cit. Vité, J.P. 1953.
- FOX, C.J.S. & C.D. DONDALE. 1972. Annotated list of spiders (Araneae) from hayfields and their margins in Nova Scotia. - Can. Ent. <u>104</u>: 1911-1915.
- FOX, R.C. & K.H. GRIFFITH. 1976. Predation of pine cinaran aphids by spiders. - J. Georgia Entomol. Soc. 11: 241-243.
- FRASER, A.M. 1982. The role of spiders in checking cereal aphid numbers. -Ph.D. thesis, University of East Anglia (in prep.).
- FURUTA, K. 1977. Evaluation of spiders, <u>Oxyopes</u> sertatus and <u>O. badius</u> (Oxyopidae) as a mortality factor of gypsy moth, <u>Lymantria dispar</u> (Lepidoptera: Lymantriidae) and pine moth, <u>Dendrolimus spectabilis</u> (Lepidoptera: Lasiocampidae). - Appl. Ent. Zool. <u>12</u>: 313-324.
- GABBUTT, P.D. 1956. The spiders of an oak wood in south-east Devon. -Ent. Mon. Mag. 92: 351-358.
- GALECKA, B. 1966. The role of predators in the reduction of two species of potato aphids, <u>Aphis nasturtii</u> Kalt. and <u>A. frangulae</u> Kalt. -Ekol. Pol. A 14: 245-274.
- GARCIA, R. & E.I. SCHLINGER. 1972. Studies of spider predation on <u>Aedes</u> <u>dorsalis</u> (Meigen) in a salt marsh. - Proceedings and Papers of the Fortieth Annual Conference of the California Mosquito Control Association, Inc., January 31-February 1-2, 1972. pp. 117-118.
- GAVARRA, M.R. & R.S. RAROS. 1975. Studies on the biology of the predatory wolf spider Lycosa pseudoannulata Boes. et Str. (Araneae: Lycosidae). - Philipp. Ent. 2: 427-444.
- GEILER, H. 1963. Die Spinnen- und Weberknechtfauna nordwestsächsischer Felder (Die Evertebratenfauna mitteldeutscher Feldkulturen V). -Z. ang. Zool. 50: 257-272.
- GEILER, H. 1975. Oekologie der Land- und Süsswassertiere. Hamburg: Rowohlt Taschenbuchverlag. 183 pp.
- GETTMANN, W.W. 1978. Untersuchungen zum Nahrungsspektrum von Wolfspinnen (Lycosidae) der Gattung <u>Pirata</u>. - Mitt. dtsch. Ges. allg. angew. Ent. <u>1</u>: 63-66.
- GILLANDT, L. & J.M. MARTENS. 1980. Verbreitung und Biotop-Bindung der Wespenspinne <u>Argiope bruennichi</u> im Landkreis Lüchow-Dannenberg (Arach.: Araneae). - Verh. naturwiss. Ver. Hamburg (NF) 23: 309-318.
- GOOS, M. 1973. Influence of aphicides used in sugar-beet plantations on arthropods. II. Studies on arachnids - Arachnoidea. - Pol. Pismo Ent. 43: 851-859.

- HAGSTRUM, D.W. 1970. Ecological energetics of the spider <u>Tarentula kochi</u> (Araneae: Lycosidae). - Ann. Ent. Soc. Am. <u>63</u>: 1297-1304.
- HÅGVAR, S. 1973. Ecological studies on a winter-active spider, <u>Bolyphantes index</u> (Thorell) (Araneida, Linyphiidae). - Norsk. Ent. Tidsskr. 20: 309-314.
- HALLANDER, H. 1970. Prey, cannibalism and microhabitat selection in the wolf spiders Pardosa chelata (O.E. Müller) and <u>P. pullata</u> (Clerck). -Dikos 21: 337-340.
- HAMAMURA, T. 1969. Seasonal fluctuation of spider population in paddy fields. - Acta Arachnol. 22: 40-50.
- HAMAMURA, T. 1971. Ecological studies of <u>Pirata subpiraticus</u> (Boes. and Strand) (Araneae, Lycosidae). I. - Acta Arachnol. 23: 11-18.
- HARDMAN, J.M. & A.L. TURNBULL. 1974. The interaction of spatial heterogeneity, predator competition and the functional response to prey density in a laboratory system of wolf spiders (Araneae, Lycosidae) and fruit flies (Diptera, Drosophilidae). - J. Anim. Ecol. 43: 71-86.
- HARM, M. 1971. Revision der Gattung <u>Heliophanus</u> C.L. Koch. -Senckenbergiana biol. 52: 53-79.
- HARRISON, J.O. 1968. Some spiders associated with banana plants in Panama. - Ann. Ent. Soc. Am. 61: 878-884.
- HASHIMOTO, R. 1974. Some spiders of the paddy field and their seasonal fluctuation. Agric. Chem. <u>21</u>: 22-26.
- HAYNES, D.L. & P. SISOJEVIC. 1966. Predatory behavior of <u>Philodromus</u> rufus Walckenaer (Araneae: Thomisidae). - Can. Ent. <u>98</u>: 113-133.
- HENSLEY, S.D., W.H. LONG, L.R. RODDY, W.J. McCORMICK & E.J. CONCIENNE. 1961. Effects of insecticides on the predaceous arthropod fauna of Louisiana sugarcane fields. - J. Econ. Ent. <u>54</u>: 146-149.
- HEYDEMANN, B. 1953. Agrarökologische Problematik, dargetan an Untersuchungen über die Tierwelt der Oberfläche der Kulturfelder. -Doktorarbeit, Universität Kiel (unveröffentl.). Cit. Geiler, H. 1963.
- HEYDEMANN, B. 1962. Untersuchungen über die Aktivitäts- und Besiedlungsdichte bei epigäischen Spinnen. - Zool. Anz. Suppl. 25: 538-556.
- HIRANO, C. & K. KIRITANI. 1976. Paddy ecosystem affected by nitrogenous fertilizer and insecticides. In: Science for better environment (Proc. of the Intern. Congr. on the Human Environment, Kyoto, 1975). - Tokyo: Asahi Evening News. 992 pp.
- HOKYO, N., M.H. LEE & J.S. PARK. 1976. Some aspects of population dynamics of rice leafhoppers in Korea. - Korean J. Plant Prot. <u>15</u>: 111-126.
- HOLLING, C.S. 1961. Principles of insect predation. Ann. Rev. Ent. <u>6</u>: 163-182.
- HOLLING, C.S. 1966. The functional response of invertebrate predators to prey density. - Mem. Ent. Soc. Can. <u>48</u>: 1-86.

- HOLZAPFEL, M. 1937. Die Spinnenfauna des Löhrmooses bei Bern. Rev. suisse Zool. 44: 41-70.
- HORN, H.S. 1966. Measurement of overlap in comparative ecological studies. Am. Nat. 100: 419-424.
- HORNER, N.V. 1972. <u>Metaphidippus galathea</u> as a possible biological control agent. J. Kans. Ent. Soc. 45: 324-327.
- HOWARD, F.W. & A.D. OLIVER. 1978. Arthropod populations in permanent pastures treated and untreated for red imported fire and control. -Environ. Entomol. 6: 901-903.
- HOWELL, J.O. & R.L. PIENKOWSKI. 1971. Spider populations in alfalfa, with notes on spider prey and effect of harvest. - J. Econ. Ent. <u>64</u>: 163-168.
- HUHTA, V. 1971. Succession in the spider communities of the forest floor after clear-cutting and prescribed burning. - Ann. Zool. Fenn. <u>8</u>: 483-542.
- HUHTA, V. & M. RAATIKAINEN. 1974. Spider communities of leys and winter cereal fields in Finland. - Ann. Zool. Fenn. 11: 97-104.
- HUKUSIMA, S. 1961. Studies on the insect association in crop field. XXI. Notes on spiders in apple orchards. - Jap. J. appl. Ent. Zool. 5: 270-272.
- HUKUSIMA, S. & K. KONDO. 1962. Further evaluation in the feeding potential of the predaceous insects and spiders in association with aphids harmful to apple and pear growing and the effect of pesticides on predators. - Jap. J. appl. Ent. Zool. 6: 274-280.
- INTERNATIONAL RICE RESEARCH INSTITUTE. 1973. Ann. Report for 1972. -Los Baños, Philippines.
- INTERNATIONAL RICE RESEARCH INSTITUTE. 1974. Ann. Report for 1973. -Los Baños, Philippines.
- INTERNATIONAL RICE RESEARCH INSTITUTE. 1976. Ann. Report for 1975. -Los Baños, Philippines.
- INTERNATIONAL RICE RESEARCH INSTITUTE. 1977. Ann. Report for 1976. -Los Baños, Philippines.
- INTERNATIONAL RICE RESEARCH INSTITUTE. 1978. Ann. Report for 1977. -Los Baños, Philippines.
- ITÔ, J., K. MIYASHITA & K. SEKIGUCHI. 1962. Studies on the predators of rice crop insect pests, using the insecticidal check method. - Jap. J. Ecol. 12: 1-11.
- JOHNSON, E.K., J.H. YOUNG, D.R. MOLNAR & R. MORRISON. 1976. Effects of three insect control schemes on populations of cotton insects and spiders, fruit damage, and yield of Westburn 70 cotton. - Environ. Entomol. 5: 508-510.
- JUILLET, J.A. 1961. Observations on arthropod predators of the European pine shoot moth, <u>Rhyacionia buoliana</u> (Schiff.) (Lepidoptera: Olethreutidae), in Ontario. - Can. Ent. <u>93</u>: 195-198.

- KAGAN, M. 1943. The Araneidae found on cotton in Central Texas. Ann. Ent. Soc. Am. <u>36</u>: 257-258.
- KAIHOTSU, K. 1979. Spiders and their seasonal fluctuation in a citrus orchard and a tea field in Mie Prefecture. - Atypus 74: 29-39.
- KAJAK, A. 1960. Changes in the abundance of spiders in several meadows. -Ekol. Pol. A 8: 199-228.
- KAJAK, A. 1962. Comparison of spider fauna in artificial and natural meadows. - Ekol. Pol. A 10: 1-20.
- KAJAK, A. 1965a. An analysis of food relations between the spiders -<u>Araneus</u> cornutus Clerck and <u>Araneus</u> quadratus Clerck - and their prey in meadows. - Ekol. Pol. A 13: 717-764.
- KAJAK, A. 1965b. Quantitative analysis of relations between spiders (Araneus cornutus Clerck, and Araneus quadratus Clerck) and their prey. - Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci., Cl. II, 13: 515-522.
- KAJAK, A. 1971. Productivity investigation of two types of meadows in the Vistula Valley. IX. Production and consumption of field layer spiders. - Ekol. Pol. A 19: 197-211.
- KAJAK, A. 1978. The effect of fertilizers on number and biomass of spiders in a meadow. - Symp. zool. Soc. London 42: 125-129.
- KAJAK, A. 1980. Do the changes caused in spider communities by the application of fertilizers advance with time? - Proc. Int. Arachnol. Congr., 8th, Vienna, pp. 115-119.
- KAJAK, A. & H. JAKUBCZYK. 1975. Experimental studies on spider predation. - Proc. Int. Arachnol. Congr., 6th, Amsterdam, 1974, pp. 82-85.
- KAJAK, A. & E. OLECHOWICZ. 1969 (1970). The role of web spiders in elimination of Diptera in the meadow ecosystem. - Bull. Mus. Hist. nat., Paris, 2^e sér., 41 (suppl. 1): 233-236.
- KAJAK, A., L. ANDRZEJEWSKA & Z. WÓJCIK. 1968. The role of spiders in the decrease of damages caused by Acridoidea on meadows experimental investigations. - Ekol. Pol. A 16: 755-764.
- KAJAK, A., A. BREYMEYER & J. PETAL. 1971. Productivity investigation of two types of meadows in the Vistula Valley. Predatory arthropods. - Ekol. Pol. A 19: 223-233.
- KAKIYA, N. & K. KIRITANI. 1976. Comparison of sampling techniques to estimate the population density of <u>Lycosa pseudoannulata</u> in a paddy field. - Jap. J. appl. Ent. Zool. 20: 21-25.
- KALODE, M.B. 1976. Brown planthopper in rice and its control. Indian Farming 27: 3-5.
- KANG, J. & K. KIRITANI. 1978. Winter mortality of the green rice leafhopper (<u>Nephotettix cincticeps</u> Uhler) caused by predation. - Jap. J. appl. Ent. Zool. <u>22</u>: 243-249.
- KARG, J. & E. DABROWSKA-Prot. 1974. Ecological analysis of entomofauna hatching and living in rye and potato fields. - Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci., Cl. II, 22: 393-398.

- KAWAHARA, S. 1975. Population dynamics of micryphantid spiders in the paddy field. - Bull. Kochi Inst. Agr. & Forest Sci., No. 7: 53-64.
- KAWAHARA, S. & K. KIRITANI. 1975. Survival and eggsac formation rates of adult females of <u>Lycosa pseudoannulata</u> (Boes. and Str.) (Araneae, Lycosidae) in the paddy field. - Appl. Ent. Zool. 10: 232-234.
- KAWAHARA, S., K. KIRITANI & T. SASABA. 1971. The selective activity of rice-pest insecticides against the green rice leafhopper and spiders. - Bôtyu-Kagaku 36: 121-128. Cit. KIRITANI. 1977.
- KAWAHARA, S., K. KIRITANI, T. SASABA, F. NAKASUJI & C. OKUMA. 1969. Seasonal changes in abundance and the faunal composition of spiders in the paddy field, with special reference to their relation to the seasonal prevalence of the green rice leafhopper, <u>Nephotettix</u> cincticeps Uhler. - Proc. Assoc. Pl. Prot. Sikoku 4: 33-44.
- KAYASHIMA, I. 1960. Studies on spiders as natural enemies of crop pests (I). Daily activities of spiders in the cabbage fields, establishment of spiders liberated in the fields and evaluation of the effectiveness of spiders against crop pests. - The Science Bull. Faculty of Agric. Kyushu Univ. 18: 1-24.
- KAYASHIMA, I. 1967. Study on spiders (particularly referring to grassspiders) to prey upon fall-web worms (<u>Hyphantrya cunea</u> Drury). -Acta Arachnol. 21: 1-30.
- KAYASHIMA, I. 1972. Study on grass spider as a predator to <u>Hyphantria</u> <u>cunea</u> Drury (Experiment on effectiveness as a predator of <u>Agelena</u> opulenta L. Koch). - Acta Arachnol. 24: 60-72.
- KESSLER, A. 1973. A comparative study of the production of eggs in eight Pardosa species in the field (Araneida, Lycosidae). - Tijdschr. Entom. 116: 23-41.
- KIRCHNER, W. 1964. Bisher Bekanntes über die forstliche Bedeutung der Spinnen - Versuch einer Literaturanalyse. - Waldhygiene 5: 161-198.
- KIRCHNER, W. 1967. In welchem Masse beeinflussen Spinnen die Mortalitätsrate des Eichenwicklers (Tortrix viridana L.)? - Waldhygiene 7: 23-31.
- KIRITANI, K. 1977. Systems approach for management of rice pests. In: J.S. PACKER and D. WHITE (Eds.). - Proc. XV Int. Congr. Entomol., Washington, D.C., August 19-27, 1976, Entomol. Soc.Am., Md., pp. 591-598.
- KIRITANI, K. 1979. Pest management in rice. Ann. Rev. Ent. 24: 279-312.
- KIRITANI, K. & N. KAKIYA. 1975. An analysis of the predator-prey system in the paddy field. - Res. Popul. Ecol. 17: 29-38.
- KIRITANI, K. & S. KAWAHARA. 1973. Food-chain toxicity of granular formulations of insecticides to a predator, <u>Lycosa pseudoannulata</u>, of <u>Nephotettix cincticeps</u>. - Bôtyu-Kagaku <u>38</u>: 69-75. Cit. Kiritani. 1977.
- KIRITANI, K., S. KAWAHARA, T. SASABA & F. NAKASUJI. 1972. Quantitative evaluation of predation by spiders on the green rice leafhopper, <u>Nephotettix cincticeps</u> Uhler, by a sight-count method. - Res. Popul. Ecol. 13: 187-200.

- KIRN, B. 1978. Untersuchung der epigäischen Spinnenfauna (Araneae) in Rebkulturen. - Staatsexamensarbeit in Zoologie, Universität Freiburg i.Br.
- KOBAYASHI, S. 1975. The effect of <u>Drosophila</u> release on the spider population in a paddy field. - Appl. Appl. Ent. Zool. <u>10</u>: 268-274.
- KOBAYASHI, S. 1977. Change in population density of spiders in paddy field during winter. - Acta Arachnol. 27 (special n^o): 247-251.
- KOBAYASHI, S. & H. SHIBATA. 1973. Seasonal changes in population density of spiders in paddy fields, with reference to the ecological control of the rice insect pests. - Jap. J. appl. Ent. Zool. 17: 193-202.
- KOVAL, G. 1976. Biologische Bekämpfung des Kartoffelkäfers. Zascita Rastenij (Moskau) 21: 29.
- KOYAMA, J. 1972. Spiders in paddy fields in Akita Prefecture. Ann. Plant Prot. North Japan 23: 127.
- KOYAMA, J. 1975. Studies on the diminution of insecticide application to the rice stem borer, <u>Chilo suppressalis</u> Walker. III. The effect of insecticide application on the density of larvae of the rice stem borer and spiders. - Jap. J. appl. Ent. Zool. 19: 125-132.
- KOYAMA, J. 1976. The effects of low concentration of chlorphenamidine on the rice stem borer, <u>Chilo suppressalis</u> Walker, and on spiders. -The Rice Entomology Newsletter. IRRI. 4: 29-30.
- KRAEMER, P. 1961. Einfluss einiger Arthropoden auf Raubmilben (Acari). -Z. ang. Zool. 48: 257-311.
- LEGNER, E.F. & E.R. OATMAN. 1964. Spiders on apple in Wisconsin and their abundance in a natural and two artificial environments. -Can. Ent. 96: 1202-1207.
- LEIGH, T.F. & R.E. HUNTER. 1969. Predaceous spiders in California cotton. - Calif. Agric. 23: 4-5.
- LESAR, C.D. & J.D. UNZICKER. 1978a. Soybean spiders: species composition, population densities and vertical distribution. - Ill. Nat. Hist. Surv. Biological Notes <u>107</u>. 14 pp.
- LESAR, C.D. & J.D. UNZICKER. 1978b. Life history, habits, and prey preferences of <u>Tetragnatha laboriosa</u> (Araneae: Tetragnathidae). -Environ. Entomol. 7: 879-884.
- LESSERT, R. DE. 1910. Catalogue des Invertébrés de la Suisse, Fasc. <u>3</u>: Araignées. - Mus. Hist. Nat. Genève.
- LEVINS, R. 1968. Evolution in Changing Environments: Some Theoretical Explorations. - Monographs in Population Biology. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- LOCKET, G.H. 1978. The Leckford survey spiders progress report. January 1978. Mimeo. 23 pp.
- LOCKET, G.H. & A.F. MILLIDGE. 1951/53. British Spiders, I/II. -London: Ray Society. 310 pp., 449 pp.

- LOCKET, G.H., A.F. MILLIDGE & P. MERRETT. 1974. British Spiders, III. -London: Ray Society, 314 pp.
- LOCKLEY, T.C., J.W. SMITH, W.P. SCOTT & C.R. PARENCIA. 1979. Population fluctuations of two groups of spiders from selected cotton fields in Panola and Pontotoc Counties, Mississippi, 1977. - Southwest. Entomol. 4: 20-24.
- LOHMEYER, W. & P. PRETSCHER. 1979. Ueber das Zustandekommen halbruderaler Wildstauden-Quecken-Fluren auf Brachland in Bonn und ihre Bedeutung als Lebensraum für die Wespenspinne. - Natur und Landschaft <u>54</u>: 253-259.
- LOVELL, J.H. 1915. Insects captured by the Thomisidae. Can. Ent. <u>47</u>: 115-116.
- LUCERO, R.M. & R.S. RAROS. 1975. Toxicity of Carbofuran and Gamma-BHC to the spiderlings of the wolf spider, Lycosa pseudoannulata Boes. et Str. (Araneae: Lycosidae). - Philipp. Ent. 3: 69-75.
- LUCZAK, J. 1968. An attempt at quantitative estimation of some factors on the predator-prey system, on the example of spiders and mosquitoes. - Ekol. Pol. B 14: 343-350.
- LUCZAK, J. 1974. Ecological groups of spiders of potato and rye fields. -Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci., Cl. II, Sér. Sci. biol., 22: 377-383.
- LUCZAK, J. 1975. Spider communities of the crop-fields. Pol. Ecol. Stud. 1: 93-110.
- LUCZAK, J. 1976. (A decrease of arachnofauna in agrocenoses as a result of agrotechnical treatments) (In: Entomologia a ochrona środowiska. Ed. H. SANDNER) - PWN, Warszawa. pp. 99-103.
- LUCZAK, J. 1979. Spiders in agrocoenoses. Pol. Ecol. Stud. 5: 151-200.
- LUHAN, U. 1979. Tagesrhythmik und Jahresrhythmik epigäischer Arthropoden (insbesond. Aranei, Carabidae) einer mesophilen Wiese des Innsbrucker Mittelgebirges (Rinn 900 m NN, Oesterreich). - Unveröffentlichte LA-Hausarbeit in Zoologie, Universität Innsbruck. 87 pp.
- MacLELLAN, C.R. 1973. Natural enemies of the light brown apple moth, <u>Epiphyas postvittana</u>, in the Australian capital territory. - Can. 105: 681-700.
- MANLEY, G.V., J.W. BUTCHER & M. ZABIK. 1976. DDT transfer and metabolism in a forest litter macro-arthropod food chain. - Pedobiologia (Jena) 16: 81-98.
- MANSOUR, F., D. ROSEN & A. SHULOV. 1980a. Functional response of the spider <u>Chiracanthium mildei</u> (Arachnida: Clubionidae) to prey density. - Entomophaga <u>25</u>: 313-316.
- MANSOUR, F., D. ROSEN & A. SHULOV. 1980b. A survey of spider populations (Araneae) in sprayed and unsprayed apple orchards. - Acta Oecologica, Oecol. Applic. 1: 189-197.
- MANSOUR, F., D. ROSEN, A. SHULOV & H.N. PLAUT. 1980c. Evaluation of spiders as biological control agents of <u>Spodoptera littoralis</u> larvae on apple in Israel. - Acta Oecologica, Oecol. <u>Applic. 1</u>: 225-232.

- MANSOUR, F., D. ROSEN & A. SHULOV. 1981. Disturbing effect of a spider on larval aggregations of <u>Spodoptera littoralis</u>. - Ent. exp. & appl. 29: 234-237.
- MARPLES, M.J. 1935. Notes on <u>Argiope bruennichi</u> and other Pyrenean spiders. - J. Linn. Soc. 39: 195-202.
- MAURER, R. 1974. Die Vielfalt der K\u00e4fer und Spinnenfauna des Wiesenbodens im Einflussbereich von Verkehrsimmissionen. - Oecologia (Berl.) 14: 327-351.
- MAURER, R. 1975. Epigäische Spinnen der Nordschweiz I. Mitt. Schweiz. Ent. Ges. <u>48</u>: 357-376.
- MAURER, R. 1978. Katalog der schweizerischen Spinnen (Araneae) bis 1977. -Zoologisches Museum, Universität Zürich. 113 pp.
- MAURER, R. 1980. Beitrag zur Tiergeographie und Gefährdungsproblematik schweizerischer Spinnen. – Revue suisse Zool. 87: 279–299.
- MAURER, R. & J.E. WALTER. 1980. Für die Schweiz neue und bemerkenswerte Spinnen (Araneae). - Mitt. Schweiz. Ent. Ges. <u>53</u>: 157-162.
- McCAFFREY, J.P. & R.L. HORSBURGH. 1978. Laboratory feeding studies with selected spiders (Arachnida: Araneae) from Virginia apple orchards. - J. New York Entomol. Soc. <u>86</u>: 308.
- McCAFFREY, J.P. & R.L. HORSBURGH. 1980. The spider fauna of apple trees in central Virginia. - Environ. Entomol. <u>9</u>: 247-252.
- McDANIEL, S.G. & W.L. STERLING. 1979. Predator determination and efficiency on <u>Heliothis virescens</u> eggs in cotton using ³² P. -Environ. Entomol. 8: 1083-1087.
- MILLER, F. 1974. Pavouči fauna řepnych poli v okoli Chválkovic a Nákla na Hané - Sb. Praci přir. Fak. palack. – Univ. Olomouci, 47, Biologica 1<u>5</u>: 175-181. Cit. LUCZAK, J. 1979.
- MILLER, F. Unpublished results. Cit. LUCZAK, J. 1979.
- MILLER, F. & R. OBRTEL. 1975. Soil surface spiders (Araneidea) in a terrestrial reed swamp in southern Moravia (Czechoslovakia). -Acta Ent. Bohemoslov. 72: 272-285.
- MIYAI, S., K. KIRITANI & T. SASABA. 1978. An empirical model of Lycosa hoppers interaction system in the paddy field. - Protection Ecology 1: 9-21.
- MIYASHITA, K. 1968a. Quantitative feeding biology of <u>Lycosa T-insignita</u> Boes. et Str. (Araneae: Lycosidae). - Bull. Nat. Inst. Agric. Sci. (Japan) C, <u>22</u>: 329-344.
- MIYASHITA, K. 1968b. Growth and development of <u>Lycosa T-insignita</u> Boes. et Str. (Araneae: Lycosidae) under different feeding conditions. -Appl. Ent. Zool. 3: 81-88.
- MORRIS, M.C. 1968. Differences between the invertebrate faunas of grazed and ungrazed chalk grassland. II. The faunas of sample turves. -J. appl. Ecol. 5: 601-611.

- MORISITA, M. 1962. $\rm I_{\delta}\text{-}index,$ a measure of dispersion of individuals. Res. Popul. Ecol. Kyoto Univ. 4: 1-7.
- MORSE, D.H. 1979. Prey capture by the crab spider <u>Misumena calycina</u> (Araneae: Thomisidae). - Oecologia (Berlin) <u>39: 309-319</u>.
- MORSE, R.A. (Editor) 1978. Honey bee pests, predators, and diseases. -Ithaca & London: Cornell University Press. 430 pp.
- MOULDER, B.C. & D.E. REICHLE. 1972. Significance of spider predation in the energy dynamics of forest-floor arthropod communities. - Ecol. Monogr. 42: 473-498.
- MÜHLENBERG, M. 1976. Freilandökologie. Heidelberg: Quelle & Meyer. 214 pp.
- MÜLLER, F. & E. SCHENKEL. 1985. Verzeichnis der Spinnen von Basel und Umgebung. - Verh. Naturforsch. Ges. Basel 10: 691-824.
- MÜLLER, H.J., R. BÄHRMANN, W. HEINRICH, R. MARSTALLER, G. SCHÄLLER & W. WITSACK. 1978. Zur Strukturanalyse der epigäischen Arthropodenfauna einer Rasen-Katena durch Kescherfänge. - Zool. Jb. Syst. <u>105</u>: 131-184.
- MUMA, M.H. 1973. Comparison of ground-surface spiders in four central Florida ecosystems. - Florida Ent. 56: 173-196.
- MUMA, M.H. 1975. Spiders in Florida citrus groves. Florida Ent. <u>58</u>: 83-90.
- MUNIAPPAN, R. & H.L. CHADA. 1970a. Biological control of the greenbug by the spider Phidippus audax. - J. Econ. Ent. <u>63</u>: 1712.
- MUNIAPPAN, R. & H.L. CHADA. 1970b. Biology of the crab spider <u>Misumenops</u> celer. - Ann. Ent. Soc. Am. 63: 1718-1722.
- NAKAMURA, M. & K. NAKAMURA. 1977. Population dynamics of the chestnut gall wasp, <u>Dryocosmus kuriphilus</u> Yasumatsu (Hymenoptera: Cynipidae). V. Estimation of the effect of predation by spiders on the mortality of imaginal wasps based on the precipitin test. - Oecologia (Berlin) 27: 97-116.
- NAKASUJI, F. 1976. Factors responsible for the change in the pest status of the tobacco cutworm <u>Spodoptera litura</u> (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). -Physiol. Ecol. Japan 17: 527-533.
- NATON, E. 1976. Die Spinnen. In: Einführung in den Integrierten Pflanzenschutz. Nützlinge in Apfelanlagen. - OILB. Internationale Organisation für biologische Bekämpfung schädlicher Tiere und Pflanzen. Sektion Westpalaearktische Region. Arbeitsgruppe für Integrierten Pflanzenschutz im Obstbau. Broschüre Nr. 3: pp. 221-225.
- NEGM, A.A. & S.D. HENSLEY. 1969. A list of spiders in sugarcane fields in Louisiana. Proc. Louisiana Acad. Sci. 32: 50-52.
- NEGM, A.A., M.F. ABOU-GHADIR & A.G.A. SALMAN. 1975. Zur Populationsdynamik und Aktivitätszeit der echten Spinnen (Araneida) auf Kleefeldern in Aegypten. - Anz. Schädlingskde. Pflanzenschutz, Umweltschutz <u>48</u>: 161-163.

- NENTWIG, W. 1980. The selective prey of Linyphiid-like spiders and of their space webs. - Oecologia (Berl.) 45: 236-243.
- NENTWIG, W. 1981. Insekten, Spinnennetze und Netzspinnen. Doktorarbeit, Universität Marburg/Lahn. In: Marburger Ent. Publ. 1: (5): 1-139.
- NOHARA, K. & K. YASUMATSU. 1965. Observation on the activity of spiders and effect of insecticides on their populations in the citrus groves around Hagi City, Honshu, Japan. - The Science Bull. Faculty of Agric. Kyushu Univ. 23: 151-167.
- NYFFELER, M. 1981. Juvenile Kreuzspinne als Nahrungsdieb im Netz einer adulten Kreuzspinne <u>Araneus quadratus</u> Cl. - Mitt. Ent. Ges. Basel 31: 90.
- NYFFELER, M. 1982. Die ökologische Bedeutung der Spinnen in Forst-Dekosystemen, eine Literaturzusammenstellung. - Anz. Schädlingskde., Pflanzenschutz, Umweltschutz 55: 134-137.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ. 1978. Die Beutespektren der Netzspinnen <u>Argiope</u> <u>bruennichi</u> (Scop.), <u>Araneus</u> <u>quadratus</u> Cl. und <u>Agelena</u> <u>labyrinthica</u> (Cl.) in Oedlandwiesen bei Zürich. - Revue suisse Zool. 85: 747-757.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ. 1979a. Zur ökologischen Bedeutung der Spinnen der Vegetationsschicht von Getreide- und Rapsfeldern bei Zürich (Schweiz). - Z. ang. Ent. 87: 348-376.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ. 1979b. Nischenüberlappung bezüglich der Raum- und Nahrungskomponenten bei Krabbenspinnen (Araneae: Thomisidae) und Wolfspinnen (Araneae: Lycosidae) in Mähwiesen. - Revue suisse Zool. 86: 855-865.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ. 1980a. The role of spiders as insect predators in cereal fields near Zurich (Switzerland). - Proc. Int. Arachnol. Congr., 8th, Vienna, pp. 127-131.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ. 1980b. Kleptoparasitismus von juvenilen Kreuzspinnen und Skorpionsfliegen in den Netzen adulter Spinnen. - Revue suisse Zool. 87: 907-918.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ. 1981a. Freilanduntersuchungen zur Nahrungsökologie der Spinnen: Beobachtungen aus der Region Zürich. - Anz. Schädlingskde., Pflanzenschutz, Umweltschutz 54: 33-39.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ. 1981b. Einige Beobachtungen über die Flucht von adulten Lepidopteren aus den Netzen orbiteler Spinnen. - Anz. Schädlingskde., Pflanzenschutz, Umweltschutz 54: 113-114.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ. 1981c. Einige Beobachtungen zur Nahrungsökologie der Wolfspinne Pardosa lugubris (Walck.). - Dtsch. Ent. Z. 28: 297-300.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ, 1981d. <u>Dictyna puella</u> Simon 1870, neu für die Schweiz (Araneae, Dictynidae). - Mitt. Schweiz. Ent. Ges. 54: 269-270.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ. 1981e. Oekologische Bedeutung der Spinnen als Insektenprädatoren in Wiesen und Getreidefeldern. - Mitt. dtsch. Ges. allg. angew. Ent. 3: 33-35.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ. 1982a. Eine Notiz zum Beutefangverhalten der Radnetzspinne Argiope bruennichi (Scopoli) (Araneae, Araneidae). -Revue suisse Zool. 89: 23-25.

- OBRTEL, R. & V. HOLISOVA. 1976. Trophic diversity and dietary overlap of two sympatric rodents. - Zool. Listy 25: 217-227.
- OKUMA, C. 1968. Preliminary survey on the spider-fauna of the paddy fields in Thailand. - Mushi (Fukuoka) 42: 89-118.
- OKUMA, C. 1973. Spiders of orchards. Shokubutsu-bôeki 27: 207-212.
- OKUMA, C. 1974. Aeronautic spiders caught by the trap net above paddy fields. - Sci. Bull. Fac. Agr., Kyushu Univ. 29: 79-85.
- OKUMA, C. 1977. Studies on the seasonal fluctuation of the spiders in the paddy field ecosystem at Tsuya, Fukuoka City. - Sci. Bull. Fac. Agr., Kyushu Univ. 31: 133-144.
- OKUMA, C. & T. WONGSIRI. 1973. Second report on the spider fauna of the paddy fields in Thailand. - Mushi (Fukuoka) 47: 1-17.
- OKUMA, C., M.H. LEE & N. HOKYO. 1978. Fauna of spiders in a paddy field in Suweon, Korea. - Esakia 11: 81-88.
- OLBERG, G. 1960. Spinnen als Feinde der Honigbiene. Imkerfreund 15: 9-11.
- OLIVE, C.W. 1980. Foraging specializations in orb-weaving spiders. -Ecology 61: 1133-1144.
- ORI, M. 1974. Studies on spiders as natural enemies of insect pests. 2. Observations on the spiders in a garden in Nagasaki City. - Japan J. Janit. Zool. 25: 259-266.
- PAIK, K.Y. & J.S. KIM. 1973. Survey on the spider fauna and their seasonal fluctuation in paddy fields of Taegu, Korea. - Korean J. Plant Prot. 12: 125-130.
- PAIK, W.H., J. NAMKOONG & H.K. KIM. 1974. A list of spiders collected in the rice paddy at Milyang. - Korean J. Plant Prot. <u>13</u>: 24.
- PAIK, W.H., J. NAMKUNG & H.J. PAIK. 1973. Spider fauna of the mulberry fields at Suwon, Korea. - Korean J. Plant Prot. 12: 57-62.
- PASQUET, A. & B. KRAFFT. 1980. Relations entre la vegetation, la répartition des proies poentielles et les sites de construction des toiles par les araignées. - Verh. 8. Int. Arachnologen-Kongress, Wien 1980, 145-149.
- PEARSE, A. 1946. Observations on the microfauna of the Duke forest. -Ecol. Monogr. 16: 127-150.
- PECK, W.B. 1966. The population composition of a spider community in west central Missouri. Am. Midl. Nat. 76: 151-168.
- PECK, W.B. & W.H. WHITCOMB. 1978. The phenology and populations of ground surface, cursorial spiders in a forest and a pasture in the south central United States. - Symp. zool. Soc. London 42: 131-138.
- PERTERER, J. & K. THALER. 1976. Makroarthropoden im Grünland des Innsbrucker Mittelgebirges. - Anz. Schädlingskde., Pflanzenschutz, Umweltschutz 49: 102-106.

- PFETTEN, J. von. 1925. Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Fauna der Waldstreu. Kiefernstreu-Untersuchungen. - Z. ang. Ent. 11: 35-54.
- PFRIMMER, T.R. 1964. Populations of certain insects and spiders on cotton plants following insecticide applications. - J. Econ. Ent. <u>57</u>: 640-644.
- PIELOU, E.C. 1966. The measurement of diversity in different types of biological collections. - J. Theor. Biol. <u>13</u>: 131-144.
- PIETERS, E.P. & W.L. STERLING. 1974. Aggregation indices of cotton arthropods in Texas. - Environ. Entomol. 3: 598-600.
- PIMENTEL, D. 1961. Competition and species-per-genus structure of communities. - Ann. Ent. Soc. Am. <u>54</u>: 323-333.
- POINTING, P.J. 1966. A quantitative field study of predation by the sheet-web spider, <u>Frontinella communis</u>, on European pine shoot moth adults. - Canad. J. Zool. 44: 265-273.
- POLENEC, A. 1968. Untersuchungen der terrestrischen Arachnidenfauna im slowenischen Karstgebirge. Die Weiden innerhalb der <u>Seslerio</u> <u>autumnalis-Ostryetum</u>-Association bei Divaca. - Biol. Vestn. <u>16</u>: 77-84.
- POOLE, R.W. 1974. An Introduction to Quantitative Ecology. New York: McGraw-Hill Inc. 532 pp.
- PÖTZSCH, J. 1963. Von der Brutfürsorge heimischer Spinnen. Brehm-Bücherei 324. Wittenberg-Lutherstadt: Ziemsen Verlag. 104 pp.
- PRILOP, H. 1957. Untersuchungen über die Insektenfauna von Zuckerrübenfeldern in der Umgebung von Göttingen. - Z. ang. Zool. <u>44</u>: 447-509.
- PÜHRINGER, G. 1979. Produktionsbiologie der Schilfspinnen des Neusiedler Sees. - Zool. Jb. Syst. 106: 500-528.
- PÜHRINGER, G. 1982. Bedeutung räuberischer Arthropoden in landwirtschaftlichen Kulturen. (Untersuchungen in unterschiedlich bewirtschafteten Obstgärten unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Spinnen). -Forschungsprojekt-Schlussbericht an das Bundesministerium für Landund Forstwirtschaft in Wien, 1980 (in prep.).
- PUTMAN, W.L. 1967. Prevalence of spiders and their importance as predators in Ontario peach orchards. - Can. Ent. <u>99</u>: 160-170.
- PUTMAN, W.L. & D.H.C. HERNE. 1966. The role of predators and other biotic agents in regulating the population density of phytophagous mites in Ontario peach orchards. - Can. Ent. 98: 808-821.
- RAATIKAINEN, M. & V. HUHTA. 1968. On the spider fauna of Finnish oat fields. - Ann. Zool. Fenn. 5: 254-261.
- REICHLE, D.E. & D.A. CROSSLEY. 1967. Investigations on heterotrophic productivity in forest insect communities. In: PETRUSEWICZ, K. (ed.) Secondary productivity of terrestrial ecosystems (principles and methods) II. pp. 563-587. - Warsaw: Polish Academy of Sciences.
- REIMOSER, E. 1937. Clubionidae oder Röhrenspinnen. Tierwelt Deutschlands 33: 45-99. Jena: G. Fischer.

- RICHTER, G. 1960. Beobachtungen über den Beutefang der Radnetzspinne Argiope lobata. – Natur und Volk 90: 273-281.
- RIECHERT, S.E. 1974. Thoughts on the ecological significance of spiders. - BioScience 24: 352-356.
- RIECHERT, S. & C.R. TRACY. 1975. Thermal balance and prey availability: bases for a model relating web-site characteristics to spider reproductive success. - Ecology 56: 265-284.
- RIECHERT, S.E., W.G. REEDER & T.A. ALLEN. 1973. Patterns of spider distribution (<u>Agelenopsis aperta</u> (Gertsch)) in desert grassland and recent lava bed habitats, south-central New Mexico. -J. Anim. Ecol. 42: 19-35.
- ROBINSON, M.H. & B. ROBINSON. 1970. Prey caught by a sample population of the spider <u>Argiope</u> argentata (Araneae: Araneidae) in Panama: a year's census data. - J. Linn. Soc. Zool. <u>49</u>: 345-358.
- ROBINSON, M.H. & B. ROBINSON. 1974. A census of web-building spiders in a coffee plantation at Wau, New Guinea, and an assessment of their insecticidal effect. - Trop. Ecol. 15: 95-107.
- ROEWER, C.F. 1928. Araneae, in: Die Tierwelt Mitteleuropas, Bd. 3. -Leipzig: Quelle & Meyer.
- ROGERS, C.E. & N.V. HORNER. 1977. Spiders of guar in Texas and Oklahoma. - Environ. Ent. 6: 523-524.
- ROOM, P.M. 1979. Parasites and predators of <u>Heliothis</u> spp. (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) in cotton in the Namoi Valley, New South Wales. -J. Aust. Entomol. Soc. 18: 223-228.
- RUPPERTSHOFEN, H. 1964. Ueber den Einsatz von Decken- und Radnetzspinnen im Forstschutz. - Waldhygiene 5: 147-153.
- SACHS, L. 1974. Angewandte Statistik. Planung und Auswertung, Methoden und Modelle. - Vierte Auflage. Berlin-Heidelberg-New York: Springer. 548 pp.
- SADANA, G.L. & M. KAUR. 1974. Spiders and their prey in citrus orchards. - Proc. 61st Indian Sci. Congr. <u>63</u>.
- SADANA, G.L. & D. SANDHU. 1977. Feeding intensity of developmental instars of the spider <u>Marpissa ludhianaensis</u> on the fulgorid pest of grapevines. - Sci. and Cult. 43: 550-551.
- SALINAS, G.D. & R.S. RAROS. 1975. Importance of first prey to spiderling survival in Lycosa sp. (Araneae: Lycosidae). - Philipp. Ent. <u>3</u>: 22-29.
- SAMAL, P. & B.C. MISRA. 1975. Spiders: the most effective natural enemies of the brown planthopper in rice. - Rice Entomol. Newsl. 3: 31.
- SASABA, T. & K. KIRITANI. 1974. Simulations of the population changes of Lycosa in a paddy field. - Appl. Ent. Zool. <u>9</u>: 273-275.
- SASABA, T., K. KIRITANI & S. KAWAHARA. 1970. Assessment of the predatory ability of spiders for comparative purposes. - Jap. J. Ent. Zool. <u>14</u>: 144-146.

- SASABA, T., K. KIRITANI & S. KAWAHARA. 1973a. Food preference of Lycosa in paddy fields. - Bull. Kochi Inst. Agr. Forest. Sci. <u>5</u>: 61-64.
- SASABA, T., K. KIRITANI & T. URABE. 1973b. A preliminary model to simulate the effect of insecticides on a spider-leafhopper system in the paddy field. - Res. Popul. Ecol. 15: 9-22.
- SCHAEFER, M. 1973. Welche Faktoren beeinflussen die Existenzmöglichkeit von Arthropoden eines Stadtparks - untersucht am Beispiel der Spinnen (Araneida) und Weberknechte (Opilionida)? - Faun.-ökol. Mitt. 4: 305-318.
- SCHAEFER, M. 1974a. Experimentelle Untersuchungen zur Bedeutung der interspezifischen Konkurrenz bei 3 Wolfspinnen-Arten (Araneida: Lycosidae) einer Salzwiese. - Zool. Jb. Syst. 101: 213-235.
- SCHAEFER, M. 1974b. Experimentelle Untersuchungen zum Jahrescyclus und zur Ueberwinterung von Spinnen (Araneida). - Habilitationsschrift, Universität Kiel. 223 pp.
- SCHAEFER, M. & L. HAAS. 1979. Untersuchungen zum Einfluss der Mahd auf die Arthropodenfauna einer Bergwiese. - Drosera (Oldenburg) '79 (1-): 17-40.
- SCHAEFER, M. & K. KOCK. 1979. Zur Oekologie der Arthropodenfauna einer Stadtlandschaft und ihrer Umgebung. I. Laufkäfer (Carabidae) und Spinnen (Araneida). - Anz. Schädlingskde., Pflanzenschutz, Umweltschutz 52: 85-90.
- SCHLINGER, E.I. & E.J. DIETRICK. 1960. Strip-farming alfalfa. Calif. Agric. 14: 8-9, 15.
- SCHOENER, T.W. 1970. Nonsynchronous spatial overlap of lizards in patchy habitats. Ecology 51: 408-418.
- SHARMA, V.K. & P. SARUP. 1979. Predatory role of spiders in the integrated control of the maize stalk borer, <u>Chilo partellus</u> (Swinhoe). - J. Entomol. Res. 3: 229-231.
- SHEPARD, B.M. & W.L. STERLING. 1972. Effects of early season applications of insecticides on beneficial insects and spiders in cotton. - Tex. Agric. Exp. Stn. Misc. Publ. No. 1045. 14 pp.
- SHULOV, A. 1938. (Observations on citrus spiders.) (in Hebrew). Hadar 11: 1-6.
- SIMON, H.R. 1967. Zur Stellung der Collembolen (Apterygota) im Nahrungssystem terrestrischer Lebensräume. - Z. Pflanzenkrankh. u. Pflanzensch. 24: 354-366.
- SINGH, G. & G.S. SANDHU. 1976. New records of spiders as predators of maize borer and maize jassid. - Current Science <u>45</u>: 642.
- SOUTHWOOD, T.R.E. &. H.F. VAN EMDEN. 1967. A comparison of the fauna of cut and uncut grassland. - Z. ang. Ent. 60: 188-198.
- SPECHT, H.B. & C.D. DONDALE. 1960. Spider populations in New Jersey apple orchards. - J. Econ. Ent. 53: 810-814.
- STAM, P.A., D.F. CLOWER, J.B. GRAVES & P.E. SCHILLING. 1978. Effects of certain herbicides on some insects and spiders found in Louisiana cotton fields. - J. Econ. Ent. <u>71</u>: 477-480.

- STEYN, J.J. 1959. Use of social spiders against gastrointestinal infections spread by house flies. - South African Medical J. <u>33</u>: 730-731.
- SUBKLEW, W. 1939. Untersuchungen über die Bevölkerungsbewegung des Kiefernspanners (<u>Bupalus piniarius</u> L.). - Mitt. Forstwirtsch. u. Forstwissensch. 10: 10-51.
- SUTER, H. &. S. KELLER. 1977. Oekologische Untersuchungen an feldbaulich wichtigen Blattlausarten als Grundlage für eine Befallsprognose. -Z. ang. Ent. 83: 371-393.
- SUZUKI, Y. &. K. KIRITANI. 1974. Reproduction of <u>Lycosa pseudoannulata</u> (Boesenberg and Strand) (Araneae, Lycosidae) under different feeding conditions. - Jap. J. appl. Ent. Zool. 18: 166-170.
- SUZUKI, Y. & C. OKUMA. 1975. Spiders inhabiting the cabbage field. -Acta Arachnol. 26: 58-63.
- TAKSDAL, S. 1973. Spiders (Araneida) collected in strawberry fields. -Norsk. Entomol. Tidsskr. 20: 305-307.
- TANAKA, H. 1973. Ecological studies of spiders in paddy fields in Kinki (I). Studies on the lifecycle of spiders, <u>Oedothorax insecticeps</u> Boes. et Str. and <u>Enoplognatha japonica</u> Boes. et Str. - Acta Arachnol. 25: 10-15.
- TANAKA, H. 1975. Ecological studies of spiders in paddy fields in Kinki (II). Studies on the seasonal fluctuations of the two spiders, <u>Oedothorax insecticeps</u> Boes. et Str. and <u>Enoplognatha japonica</u> Boes. et Str. - Acta Arachnol. <u>26</u>: 15-57.
- TANAKA, T. & T. HAMAMURA. 1968. Population density of spiders in paddy field during winter. - Bull. College of Agr. Utsunomiya Univ. <u>7</u>: 73-79.
- TEAL, J.M. 1962. Energy flow in the salt marsh ecosystem of Georgia. -Ecology 43: 614-624.
- TEMERAK, S.A. 1981. Nützliche und schädliche Insekten als Beute der Netzspinne <u>Dictyna</u> sp. (Arachnida, Dictynidae) auf Granatapfelbäumen in Aegypten. - Anz. Schädlingskde., Pflanzenschutz, Umweltschutz <u>54</u>: 90-93.
- TERADA, T. 1977. Studies on spider fauna in a tea field (Part 1). Yearround change of numbers of spiders and their name list from Nara Prefecture. - Atypus 69: 16-20.
- TERADA, T., K. YOSHIMURA & M. IMANISHI. 1978. Studies on a spider fauna in a tea field (Part III). Comparative studies on spider fauna of a tea field and the adjacent forests. - Atypus <u>72</u>: 25-30.
- THALER, K. & H.M. STEINER. 1975. Winteraktive Spinnen auf einem Acker bei Grossenzersdorf (Niederösterreich). - Anz. Schädlingskde., Pflanzenschutz, Umweltschutz 48: 184-187.
- THALER, K., J. AUSSERLECHNER & F. MUNGENAST. 1977. Vergleichende Fallenfänge von Spinnen und Käfern auf Acker- und Grünlandparzellen bei Innsbruck, Oesterreich. - Pedobiologia (Jena) 17: 389-399.

- THALER, K., I. DE ZORDO, E. MEYER, H. SCHATZ & H. TROGER. 1978. Arthropoden auf Almflächen im Raum Badgastein (Zentralalpen, Salzburg, Oesterreich). - Veröff. d. Oesterr. Mab-Hochgebirgsprogr. Hohe Tauern Bd. 2: 196-233. Innsbruck: Univ. Verlag Wagner.
- THIELE, H.U. 1977. Carabid Beetles in their Environments. A Study on Habitat Selection by Adaptations in Physiology and Behaviour. -Zoophysiology and Ecology 10. Berlin-Heidelberg-New York: Springer. 369 pp.
- THORNHILL, R. 1975. Scorpionflies as kleptoparasites of web-building spiders. Nature 258: 709-711.
- TISCHLER, W. 1958. Synökologische Untersuchungen an der Fauna der Felder und Feldgehölze (Ein Beitrag zur Oekologie der Kulturlandschaft). -Z. Morph. Oekol. Tiere 47: 54-114.

TISCHLER, W. 1965. Agrarökologie. - Jena: G. Fischer. 499 pp.

- TONGIORGI, P. 1966. Wolf spiders of the <u>Pardosa monticola</u> group. (Araneae, Lycosidae). - Bull. Mus. Comp. Zool. (Harvard) 134: 335-359.
- TOTHILL, J.D., T.H.C. TAYLOR & R.W. PAINE. 1930. The coconut palm moth in Fiji. - Imp. Bur. Ent., London (Spiders p. 153). Cit. TURNBULL, A.L. 1960.
- TOYODA, K. & S. YOSHIMURA. 1966. A study on the natural enemies of insect pests in paddy field I. Effect of insecticides upon the spiders in paddy field. - Kyushu Agric. Res. 28: 122-124.
- TURNBULL, A.L. 1960. The prey of the spider Linyphia triangularis (Clerck) (Araneidae, Linyphiidae). - Can. J. Zool. 38: 859-873.
- TURNBULL, A.L. 1966. A population of spiders and their potential prey in an overgrazed pasture in eastern Ontario. - Can. J. Zool. 44: 557-583.
- TURNBULL, A.L. 1973. Ecology of the true spiders (Araneomorphae). -Ann. Rev. Ent. <u>18</u>: 305-348.
- TURNER, M. 1979. Diet and feeding phenology of the green lynx spider, Peucetia viridans (Araneae: Oxyopidae). - J. Arachnol. 7: 149-154.
- TURNIPSEED, S.G., J.W. TODD & W.V. CAMPBELL. 1975. Field activity of selected foliar insecticides against Geocorids, Nabids and spiders on soybeans. - J. Georgia Entomol. Soc. 10: 272-277.
- UETZ, G.W., A.D. JOHNSON & D.W. SCHEMSKE. 1978. Web placement, web structure, and prey capture in orb-weaving spiders. - Bull. Brit. Arachnol. Soc. 4: 141-148.
- VAN DER DRIFT, J. 1951. Analysis of the animal community in a beech forest floor. Tijdschr. Ent. 94: 1-168.
- VAN HOOK, R.I. 1971. Energy and nutrient dynamics of spider and orthopteran populations in a grassland ecosystem. - Ecol. Monogr. <u>41</u>: 1-26.
- VICKERMAN, G.P. & K.D. SUNDERLAND. 1975. Arthropods in cereal crops: Nocturnal activity, vertical distribution and aphid predation. -J. appl. Ecol. 12: 755-766.

- VILBASTE, A. 1965. Suveaspekti ämblikefaunast kultuurniitudel. (Ueber den Sommeraspekt der Spinnenfauna auf den Kulturwiesen.) - Eesti NSV Teaduste Akad. Toimetised (Biol.) 14: 329-337.
- VITÉ, J.P. 1953. Untersuchungen über die ökologische und forstliche Bedeutung der Spinnen im Walde. - Z. ang. Ent. 34: 311-334.
- VOGELSANGER, T. 1939. Verzeichnis der Spinnen von Schaffhausen und Umgebung. - Mitt. Naturforsch. Ges. Schaffhausen 15: 1-35.
- WEIDEMANN, G. 1978. Ueber die Bedeutung von Insekten im Oekosystem Laubwald. - Mitt. dtsch. Ges. allg. angew. Ent. 1: 196-204.
- WHEELER, A.G. 1973. Studies on the arthropod fauna of alfalfa. V. Spiders (Araneida). - Can. Ent. 105: 425-432.
- WHITCOMB, W.H. 1974. Natural populations of entomophagous arthropods and their effect on the agroecosystem. In: MAXWELL, F.G., and F.A. HARRIS (Eds.). Proc. Summer Inst. Biol. Control Plant Insects and Diseases. - Jackson: University Press of Mississippi. pp. 150-169.
- WHITCOMB, W.H. 1975. Ecological role of cursorial spiders in agroecosystems. - Proc. Int. Arachnol. Congr., 6th, Amsterdam, 1974, p. 95.

WHITCOMB, W.H. 1980. Sampling Spiders in Soybean Fields. - In: KOGAN, M. and D.C. HERZOG (eds.), Sampling Methods in Soybean Entomology. New York-Heidelberg-Berlin: Springer. pp. 544-558.

- WHITCOMB, W.H. & K. BELL. 1964. Predaceous insects, spiders and mites of Arkansas cotton fields. - Bull. Ark. Univ. 690: 1-83.
- WHITCOMB, W.H. & M. TADIC. 1963. Araneida as predators of the fall webworm. - J. Kans. Ent. Soc. 36: 186-190.

WHITCOMB, W.H., H. EXLINE & M. HITE. 1963a. Comparison of spider populations of ground stratum in Arkansas pasture and adjacent cultivated field. - Proc. Ark. Acad. Sci. 17: 6 pp.

WHITCOMB. W.H., H. EXLINE & R.C. HUNTER. 1963b. Spiders of the Arkansas cotton field. - Ann. Ent. Soc. Am. <u>56</u>: 653-660.

- WIEHLE, H. 1931. Araneidae. Tierwelt Deutschlands 23: 11-136. Jena: G. Fischer.
- WIEHLE, H. 1937. Theridiidae oder Haubennetzspinnen (Kugelspinnen). -Tierwelt Deutschlands 33: 119-222. Jena: G. Fischer.
- WIEHLE, H. 1953. Orthognatha Cribellatae Haplogynae Entelegynae. -Tierwelt Deutschlands 42: 1-150. Jena: G. Fischer.
- WIEHLE, H. 1956. Linyphiidae Baldachinspinnen. Tierwelt Deutschlands 44: 1-337. Jena: G. Fischer.
- WIEHLE, H. 1960. Micryphantidae Zwergspinnen. Tierwelt Deutschlands 47: 1-620. Jena: G. Fischer.
- WIEHLE, H. 1963. Tetragnathidae Streckspinnen und Dickkiefer. Tierwelt Deutschlands 49: 1-76. Jena: G. Fischer.
- WIESMANN, R. 1955. Untersuchungen an den Prädatoren der Baummwollschadinsekten in Aegypten im Jahr 1951/52. - Acta Tropica 12: 222-239.

- WINGERDEN, W.K.R.E. VAN. 1973. Dynamik einer Population von <u>Erigone</u> <u>arctica</u> (White) (Araneae, Micryphantidae). Prozesse der Natalität. - Faun.-ökol. Mitt. <u>4</u>: 207-222.
- WISE, D.H. 1979. Effects of an experimental increase in prey abundance upon the reproductive rates of two orb-weaving spider species (Araneae: Araneidae). - Oecologia (Berl.) 41: 289-300.
- WOLCOTT, G.N. 1937. An animal census of two pastures and a meadow in northern New York. Ecol. Monogr. 7: 1-90.
- WOODS, M.W. & R.C. HARREL. 1976. Spider populations of a southeast Texas rice field. Southw. Nat. 21: 37-48.
- WORKMAN, C. 1978. Individual energy budget of <u>Trochosa terricola</u> Thorell (Araneae: Lycosidae) under constant and fluctuating temperature conditions. - Symp. zool. Soc. London 42: 223-233.
- YAGINUMA, T. 1965. Spiders found in the paddy field. Plant protection 19: 361-368.
- YAMANO, T. 1977. Seasonal fluctuation of population density of spiders in paddy field in Kyoto City. - Acta Arachnol. <u>27</u> (special n⁰): 253-260.
- YEARGAN, K.V. 1975a. Prey and periodicity of <u>Pardosa ramulosa</u> (McCook) in alfalfa. Environ. Entomol. 4: 137-141.
- YEARGAN, K.V. 1975b. Factors influencing the aerial dispersal of spiders (Arachnida, Araneida). - J. Kans. Ent. Soc. 48: 403-408.
- YEARGAN, K.V. & W.R. COTHRAN. 1974a. An escape barrier for improved suction sampling of <u>Pardosa ramulosa</u> and <u>Nabis</u> spp. populations in alfalfa. - Environ. Entomol. 3: 189-191.
- YEARGAN, K.V. & W.R. COTHRAN. 1974b. Population studies of <u>Pardosa</u> <u>ramulosa</u> (McCook) and other common spiders in alfalfa. - Environ. Entomol. <u>3</u>: 989-993.
- YEARGAN, K.V. & C.D. DONDALE. 1974. The spider fauna of alfalfa fields in northern California. - Ann. Ent. Soc. Am. 67: 681-682.
- ZARET, T.M. & A.S. RAND. 1971. Competition in tropical stream fishes: support for the competitive exclusion principle. Ecology 52: 336-342.

Curriculum vitae

Educational Background:

March 25th, 1950	Born in Zurich, as son of Hans Nyffeler, teacher, and of Irma Nyffeler-Brunnhofer
1970-1976	Studies at the Faculty of Agronomy of the ETH Zurich. Specialisation in Crop Science and Entomology. During this time practical experience at the Natural History Museum Basel in winter 1971 (supervision: Prof. Dr. Stefan Graeser), the Swiss Federal Research Station for Agronomy Zurich-Reckenholz in summer 1972 (supervision: Dr. Ferdinand Weilenmann), and the Entomological Laboratory of the Swiss Federal Research Station Wadenswil in summer 1973 (supervision: Drs. Th. Wildbolz and E. Mani). Graduation with the Diploma degree of "Engineer in Agronomy"
1976-1982	Scientific assistant at the Department of Entomology where I prepared the present thesis under the super- vision of Prof. Dr. Georg Benz. Teaching assistant in Biology-courses for undergraduate students.
	Explorations in Natural Sciences:
1972-1973	In the Tessin Alpes I discovered an Ag-Pb-Bi-Sulfosalt, which was identified by Prof. Dr. Stefan Graeser, University of Basel, to be probably a new mineral (publication in prep.)
	Prizes:
1968	Second prize at the 2nd Swiss Science Fair (Schweizer Jugend forscht) for a field study in Natural Sciences (Contest-President: Prof. Dr. Adolf Portmann)
1971	Second prize at the 5th Swiss Science Fair (Schweizer Jugend forscht) for a field study in Natural Sciences (Contest-President: Prof. Dr. Adolf Portmann)